DOPING STUDIES OF CADMIUM TELLURIDE, CADMIUM MAGNESIUM TELLURIDE, AND CDTE/CDMGTE DOUBLE HETEROSTRUCTURES GROWN USING MOLECULAR BEAM EPITAXY

by

Olanrewaju S. Ogedengbe, M.S.

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Council of Texas State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy with a Major in Material Science, Engineering & Commercialization August 2017

Committee Members:

Thomas H. Myers, Chair

Mark W. Holtz

Edwin L. Piner

Nikoleta Theodoropoulou

Claudia Roeschmann

Jian V. Li

COPYRIGHT

by

Olanrewaju S. Ogedengbe

2017

FAIR USE AND AUTHOR'S PERMISSION STATEMENT

Fair Use

This work is protected by the Copyright Laws of the United States (Public Law 94-553, section 107). Consistent with fair use as defined in the Copyright Laws, brief quotations from this material are allowed with proper acknowledgement. Use of this material for financial gain without the author's express written permission is not allowed.

Duplication Permission

As the copyright holder of this work I, Olanrewaju S. Ogedengbe, authorize duplication of this work, in whole or in part for educational or scholarly purposes only.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. Thomas H. Myers for providing me the opportunity to learn and grow under his guidance. I would like to thank my committee for their contribution. I would also like to thank Dr. Craig H. Swartz, Dr. Madhavie Edirisooriya, Dr. Odile Myers, Dr. Dilhani Jayathilaka, Elizabeth G. LeBlanc, and Sadia R. Rab, for their contributions to substrate preparation, molecular beam epitaxy growth, material characterization and useful discussions during the course of this research.

Funding from the Alliance for Sustainable Energy, LLC, the manager and operator of the National Renewable Energy Laboratory for the U.S. Department of Energy. Contract No. DEAC36-08GO28308 FPACE II: Approaching the S-Q Limit with Epitaxial CdTe, Subcontract No. ZEJ-4-42007-0.

I would like to thank my parents Samson and Eunice Ogedengbe, my wife Ayoola, my son Ayomide, my daughter Erioluwa, Mr. Ajibola Ogedengbe and his family, Atinuke Ilori and her family, Mobolaji Ogedengbe and his family, Motunrayo Arowoolu and her family, Deaconess Abolanle Ogundola, Olajide Akinola and his family, Henry Ochije, Babatunde Adebiyi, my church family and my friends, for their love, prayers, and support. I give all glory to God Almighty for everything.

•

iv

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	viii x viii
LIST OF FIGURES	x viii 1
ABSTRACTxv CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	viii 1
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
1. INTRODUCTION	1
 II-VI photovoltaic systems Basic CdTe Properties Challenges of Doping in CdTe N-type doping in CdTe P-type Doping in CdTe Technical Approach 	3 5 6 8 11 14
2. EXPERIMENTAL EQUIPMENT	17
 2.1 MBE System 2.1.1 Growth chamber 2.1.2 Sources 2.1.3 Ion gauge beam flux monitor 	17 18 20 21
 2.2 Reflection High-Energy Electron Diffraction 2.3 Atomic-Force Microscopy 2.4 Hall Effect 	24 26 27
 2.5 Capacitance-Voltage Measurements 2.6 Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry 2.7 Confocal Photoluminescence Microscopy 2.8 Photoluminescence Intensity measurements 	31 32 36 38

	2.9	Time-Resolved photoluminescence	
	2.10	X-Ray Diffraction	
	2.11	Scanning Electron Microscopy	
	2.12	Spectral Ellipsometry	
	2.13	Atom Probe Tomography	
	2.14	Annealing Station	
3.	MBE (GROWTH OF CDTE AND CDTE ALLOYS FOR	
	PHOT	OVOLTAIC APPLICATION	
	3.1	Introduction	
	3.2	Substrate Preparation	
		3.2.1 InSb substrate	
		3.2.2 CdTe and CdZnTe substrates	57
	3.3	Growth Process	60
		3.3.1 Growth rate calibration	61
		3.3.2 Migration enhanced epitaxy	69
		3.3.3 MBE growth of CdTe	70
		3.3.4 MBE growth of CdTe alloys	71
	3.4	Post-Growth Characterization	74
		3.4.1 Structural characterization – cPL and AFM	75
		3.4.2 Optical characterization – photoluminescence and	
		TRPL	
	3.5	Summary	
4.	DOPI	NG OF CDTE	101
	4.1	Introduction	101
	4.2	CdTe:I and CdMgTe:I	
		4.2.1 Experimental details	
		4.2.2 Results	108
	4.3	CdTe:As	118
		4.3.1 Experimental details	119
		4.3.2 Results	
	4.4	Diffusion studies in CdTe	
		4.4.1 Magnesium in CdTe	
		4.4.2 Iodine-Doped CdTe	153

	4.5	Summary	157
		4.5.1 Iodine doping	157
		4.5.2 Arsenic doping	158
5	. DEVI	CE FABRICATION	159
	5.1	Device structures	159
	5.2	Summary	164
6	. CONC	CLUSIONS	165
	6.1	Conclusion	165
	6.2	Limitations and future Work	170
REFERE	ENCES		173

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1. Properties of zinc blende CdTe	6
2. Maximum dopant density reported in literature	9
3. Activation energies reported in literature	9
4. Maximum dopant density reported in literature	
5. Activation energies reported in literature	
6. SIMS detection limits of selected elements in CdTe under normal depth profiling conditions	
7. Comparison of real temperature to substrate dial temperature for CdTe film grown on CdTe (100) that was mounted with an In-free mask	68
8. Comparison of polishing time, RMS values, and defect densities in samples that were polished prior to CdTe growth	
9. Comparison of samples with different flux exposure conditions during pre-growth annealing	
10. Comparison of samples with different Cd/CdTe ratios	
11. Activation energies of iodine in $Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe$ at different Mg compositions	111
12. Concentration and lifetime of iodine-doped samples	116
13. Carrier concentration of As-doped structures measured by Hall effect technique after activation annealing	141

14. Modeling parameters for Mg diffusion simulation	146
15. Basic solar cell parameters for device structures made with samples	
z-611(CdSeTe emitter), z-612 (CdSeTe:I), and z-615 (CdMgTe:I)	
with different emitters, which were annealed with RTP prior to device	
fabrication	163
16. Comparison between CdTe and GaAs parameters	170

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1. Energy conversion process in a photovoltaic device	2
 Plot of ideal efficiency against band-gap energy for a single-junction cell for AM 1.5 illumination 	
3. Vapor pressure curves for Cd, ZnI ₂ , Cd ₃ As ₂ , and Zn	10
4. MBE growth and characterization system at Texas State University showing the II-VI MBE, Sb-based MBE, and hydrogen-cleaning chamber that were used for this project	
5. Schematic diagram of a typical MBE growth chamber	
6. Schematic drawing of the RHEED measurement showing the electron gun, the sample, the phosphor screen, and the CCD camera	
7. Schematic of an AFM tip scanning over the surface of a sample	
8. Van der Pauw configuration for a arbitrarily shaped conductor	
9. The PPMS setup at Texas State University	
10. A schematic representation of a SIMS instrument	
11. A SIMS depth profile showing the concentration of impurities in a CdTe sample	
12. Image formation optical system and confocal optical system for optical microscopes	37

13. Confocal PL setup with Olympus FluoView [™] FV1000 Laser Scanning Confocal Microscope at Texas State University	38
14. Block diagram for the PLI setup at Texas State University	39
15. The schematic diagram of a typical TCSPC TRPL system	41
16. Schematic of diffraction of X-rays by a crystal	43
17. Spectral ellipsometry measurement showing the incident light that is linear with both p- and s- components and the reflected light whose p- and s- polarized light has gone through amplitude and phase changes	44
18. Flowchart of VASE data analysis procedure	45
19. Schematic diagram showing the principles of APT with the detector	46
20. Ampoule seal station setup at Texas State University	47
21. I-V characteristics of a typical solar cell showing the maximum power (P_{max}) and theoretical power (P_T), which are used to determine fill factor (FF)	50
22. Voltage dependence on lifetime and back-electron barrier	52
23. A diagram of experimentally measured band gaps vs. lattice constants of common semiconductors	53
24. Band alignment of CdTe/CdMgTe (Type I) and CdTe/CdZnTe (Type II) heterojunctions	54
25. Composition dependence of energy band gap of $Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe$ and $Cd_{1-x}Zn_xTe$	55
26. Schematic of how deionized water impinges on sample surface to remove surface contaminants	58

27. Schematic diagram showing some of the surface processes in MBE epitaxial growth	61
28. Typical RHEED oscillations for CdTe growth on CdTe (100)	63
29. CdTe growth rate as a function of Cd flux at ~290 °C substrate temperature	64
30. Growth rate vs. temperature of CdTe growth on InSb (100) and CdTe (100) substrates	65
31. Real temperature vs Substrate dial temperature	68
32. CdTe/MgCdTe single heterostructure	71
33. CdTe/MgCdTe double heterostructure	72
34. Schematic band-edge diagram for the CdTe/MgCdTe DH structure	73
35. Confocal PL micrograph of a 2 μm thick CdTe/CdMgTe DH grown on (100)-oriented InSb substrate	75
36. Confocal PL micrograph of a 3 μm thick CdTe/CdMgTe DH grown on (100)-oriented InSb substrate	76
37. Confocal PL micrograph of a 6.5 μm CdSeTe/CdMgTe double heterostructure grown on (100)-oriented InSb substrate	77
38. cPL images showing defect density > $3x10^7$ cm ⁻²	78
39. (a) Substrate was etched prior CdTe growth	79
40. Sample z-240 has $3x10^6$ cm ⁻² defect density	80
41. Sample z-243 has 1.5x10 ⁶ cm ⁻² defect density	81

42. Confocal PL micrograph of a CdTe layer grown on (100)-oriented CdTe substrate with a dislocation density of mid-10 ⁵ cm ⁻²	82
43. AFM and cPL images of sample z-274	83
44. AFM and cPL images of sample z-275	83
45. AFM and cPL images of sample z-276	84
46. AFM and cPL images of sample z-243	85
47. AFM and cPL images of sample z-246	85
48. AFM and cPL images of sample z-247	86
49. AFM and cPL images of sample z-269	87
50. AFM and cPL images of sample z-270	87
51. AFM images of CdTe samples grown at different Cd overpressure rates	89
52. The normalized PL efficiency of single-sided barriers (SH), two-sided CdMgTe barriers (DH) on CdTe substrates, and DH growth on InSb substrates.	91
53. PLI for CdTe/CdMgTe DHs and SHs grown on InSb and CdTe substrates with various Mg concentration	92
54. PLI for CdTe/CdMgTe DH grown on (100)-oriented InSb substrates with various Mg concentration	94
55. TRPL data representation showing lifetimes increasing with CdMgTe passivation and improving substrate interface quality	95
56. TRPL of undoped CdTe/CdMgTe and CdSeTe/CdMgTe DHs	96

57. SIMS profile of z396 showing different cell temperature growth for doping concentration calibration	105
58. Temperature-dependent Iodine concentration for Iodine doping calibration	106
 59. Electron carrier concentration at 300K vs. calibrated SIMS iodine concentration for iodine-doped CdTe and Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe, illustrating the high level of activation and wide range of electron concentration	109
60. Temperature dependence of carrier concentration with I concentrations at $\sim 1.1 \pm 0.5 \text{ x} 10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ in CdTe and Cd _{1-x} Mg _x Te 1	110
61. Temperature dependence of mobility with I concentrations at $\sim 1.1 \pm 0.5 \text{ x} 10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ in CdTe and Cd _{1-x} Mg _x Te1	110
 62. PLI of iodine-doped DH samples, z-401 (1.5 um CdTeSe buffer, 2 um absorber CdTeSe:I, I-doping of 1E15) and z-403 (1.5 um CdTeSe buffer, 2 um absorber CdTeSe:I, Idoping of 1E16), and four undoped samples, z-400 (1.5 um CdTeSe buffer, 2 um absorber CdTeSe, high-twin defect), z-371 (1.5 um CdTeSe buffer, 2.5 um absorber CdTeSe), z-373 (1.5 um CdTeSe buffer, 2.5 um absorber CdTeSe), and z-374 (1.5 um CdTeSe buffer, 2.5 um absorber CdTeSe)	113
63. cPL images of z-371, z-373, z-374, z-400, z-401, and z-403 1	114
64. PLI of DH samples with various iodine concentration at various absorber layer thicknesses	115
65. TRPL lifetimes measured for three doping concentrations at various absorber thicknesses in CdTe/Cd _{0.65} Mg _{0.35} Te DHs 1	117
66. PL intensity vs. iodine concentration in iodine-doped CdTe/CdMgTe DHs at various doping concentrations 1	118
67. Typical VCOR showing its external features 1	120

 68. As₄ craking efficiency as a function of cracker temperature using Pt (■), Re (□), Ta (▲), Mo (△), Graphite (▼), PBN (◇), W-Re+C (▽), and W-Re+PBN (^O) catalysts
69. VCOR cracker insert built with rhenium wire to achieve high-efficiency cracking of As ₄
 70. SIMS profile of two As-doped CdTe samples grown on InSb (100) at different temperatures with varying Cd₃As₂/CdTe flux, and the linear relationship between incorporated As atoms and the Cd₃As₂/CdTe flux ratio
 71. SIMS profile showing the effect of changing growth temperature in As-doped CdTe structures grown on (a) InSb (100) substrates and (b) CdTe (100) substrates
 72. SIMS profile showing the effect of varying Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio in As-doped CdTe structure grown on InSb (100) substrate at 205 °C substrate temperature
73. SIMS profile showing the effect of varying Cd/CdTe BEP ratio in As-doped CdTe structure grown on CdTe (100) substrate with Cd ₃ As ₂ /CdTe BEP ratio of 0.25 at target temperature of 230 °C and 240 °C 129
74. As concentration profile and nearest-neighbor distribution of an APT specimen prepared from sample z-399 by Colorado School of Mines
75. (a) APT reconstruction of a specimen with As concentration of 5×10^{17} atoms/cm ³ (As is shown in purple with Te in green)
 76. SIMS profile of As-doped Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te sample grown on Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te (100) substrate with varying Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio, and the linear relationship between incorporated As atoms and the Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio

 77. CdTe samples, z-553, z-554, and z-555, were grown at 250 °C, 240 °C, and 230 °C respectively with a Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio of 1.0 using CdTe (100) substrate	.38
 78. Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te samples, z-553, z-554, and z-555, were grown at 250 °C, 240 °C, and 230 °C, respectively, with Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio of 1 using Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te (100) substrate	.39
 79. One-dimensional step-function initial conditions for one-dimensional diffusion along <i>x</i>	44
80. Superposition method for constructing confined source for one-dimensional diffusion along <i>x</i>	45
81. Modeling of Mg diffusion in 30 nm-thick CdMgTe when annealed at 300 °C, 400 °C, and 500 °C for 10 minutes	47
 82. Modeling of Mg diffusion in 100 nm-thick CdMgTe when annealed at 300 °C, 400 °C, and 500 °C for 10 minutes	47
 83. Comparison of Mg concentration depth profile in CdMgTe/CdTe single heterostructures for an as-grown sample, and samples annealed at 350°C for 36 h, 400°C for 3.5 h, and 500°C for 10 min	.49
84. Diffusion model fit for determination of diffusion coefficient for a CdMgTe/CdTe single heterostructure annealed at 500 °C for 10 min 1:	50
85. Comparison of Mg diffusivity in CdTe for various conditions	52
86. SIMS profile of CdTe/Cd _{0.65} Mg _{0.35} Te/Cd _{0.96} Zn _{0.4} Te structure after a 500°C annealing for 10 min showing two diffusion components into the CdZnTe 1:	53
87. SIMS profile of an as-grown and an annealed iodine step-doped CdTe sample 1	55
88. SIMS profile of an as-grown and an annealed iodine step-doped CdTe:As sample	56

89. Device structure used in these studies	159
90. J-V characteristics for devices made with samples z-498, z-499, z-500, z-501, z-502, z-503, and z-504 with different emitters, which were annealed with ampoule annealing process prior to device fabrication	160
91. J-V characteristics for devices made with samples z-611(green line),z-612 (red line), and z-615 (blue line) with different emitters, which were annealed with RTP prior to device fabrication	161
92. C-V-measured activated hole concentration vs. calibrated SIMS iodine concentration for arsenic-doped CdTe	162
93. C-V profile of device structures for sample set comprising z-611, z-612, z-613, z-614, and z-615 using different emitters	163

ABSTRACT

CdTe is one of the leading materials used in thin-film photovoltaic (PV) devices due to some of its basic properties such as its ability to permit both *n*- and *p*-type doping, its relatively high absorption coefficient for photons in the visible range, and its direct band gap of 1.514 eV at room temperature, which is near the optimal band gap for solar energy conversion. Despite the near optimal band gap, the highest power conversion efficiency in a CdTe solar cell to date, achieved using polycrystalline CdTe, stands at 21%. This is far less than the Shockley–Queisser limit, which is about 32% for a singlejunction cell under AM 1.5 illumination condition. Research efforts have shown that short circuit current (J_{sc}) is near its theoretical limit, implying that strategies to improve cell efficiency will have to be contingent on improving open-circuit voltage (V_{oc}) and fill factor. Heavy doping has the potential to improve V_{oc} . There is also evidence that inclusion of a Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe barrier in a solar cell structure may improve open circuit voltage, and, ultimately, cell efficiency.

Doped and undoped CdTe layers were grown by molecular beam epitaxy (MBE). Secondary ion mass spectrometry (SIMS) characterization was used to measure dopant concentration, while Hall measurement and the capacitance-voltage technique were used for determining carrier concentration. Photoluminescence intensity (PL-I) and timeresolved photoluminescence (TRPL) techniques were used for optical characterization.

The incorporation and limits of iodine and arsenic dopants in CdTe were studied. Maximum *n*-type carrier concentrations of 7.4×10^{18} cm⁻³ for iodine-doped CdTe and 3×10^{17} cm⁻³ for iodine-doped Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te were achieved. Studies suggest that electrically active doping with iodine is limited with dopant concentration much above these values. Dopant activation of about 80% was observed in most of the iodine-doped CdTe samples. The estimated activation energy is about 6 meV for CdTe and the value for Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te is about 58 meV. Iodine-doped CdTe samples exhibit long lifetimes with no evidence of photoluminescence degradation with doping as high as $2x10^{18}$ cm⁻³ while indium shows substantial non-radiative recombination at carrier concentrations above 5×10^{16} cm⁻³. Also, maximum *p*-type carrier concentration of 2×10^{16} cm⁻³ for arsenic-doped CdTe was achieved. Dopant activation greater than 20% was observed in most of the arsenic-doped CdTe samples. The process compatibility of iodine and magnesium in CdTe was evaluated for the solar cell device. Iodine was shown to be thermally stable in CdTe at temperatures up to 600 °C and magnesium showed a slow diffusion at 500 °C. Doped CdTe structures were used to make solar cell device structures, where open circuit voltage up to 880 mV and fill factor up to $\sim 60\%$ were measured.

1. INTRODUCTION

Doping studies of cadmium telluride (CdTe), cadmium magnesium telluride (CdMgTe), and CdTe/CdMgTe double heterostructures grown using molecular beam epitaxy is a venture that is part of a bigger project, entitled "Approaching the Shockley-Queisser limit with epitaxial CdTe." This project was awarded to the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) by the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) under the Foundational Program to Advance Cell Efficiency (FPACE). This FPACE project involves partnership from NREL, First Solar, Colorado State University, the Colorado School of Mines, Washington State University, and Texas State University. Texas State University was tasked with the molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) growth of CdTe-based structures and their material characterization. The goal of this FPACE project is to use MBE-grown epitaxial CdTe structures to explore the fundamental limits of doping, surface passivation, carrier lifetime, and carrier mobility in CdTe in order to increase CdTe solar cell efficiency from 18.7% to 24% in three years. This project is part of the ongoing effort by DOE towards making alternative energy affordable and secure as concerns grow about the depletion and environmental impact of retrieving non-renewable energy. The photovoltaic solar cell technology, which converts sunlight into electricity, is one of the major technologies for achieving alternative energy.

Figure 1 illustrates the structure and energy conversion process of a photovoltaic device. The device is composed of a junction between an n-type and p-type semiconductor and electrodes. Photons absorbed by the solar cell excite electrons from the valence to the conduction band where the applied electric field separates them. Separation of negative electrons and positive holes at the p-n junction creates a voltage difference and allows the

current to flow through a connected load.¹



Figure 1. Energy conversion process in a photovoltaic device.¹

Although photovoltaics have been made using many semiconductors, CdTe—a II-VI compound semiconductor—provides many advantages for this application. Some of the considerations in choosing photovoltaic materials are: the band gap of the absorbing material, diffusion length of minority carriers, junction properties, and stability for long term operation.² CdTe is an excellent material for solar cell application due to its high optical absorption coefficient for photons and its direct band gap, which is close to ideal for single-layer solar cell conversion efficiency^{1, 3} as shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Plot of ideal efficiency against band-gap energy for a single-junction cell for AM 1.5 illumination.

1.1 II-VI photovoltaic systems

The early stage of II-VI thin-film photovoltaics was dominated by copper sulfide (CuS), a semiconductor with a band gap of 1.55 eV that serves as a p-type material, and cadmium sulfide (CdS), a direct band gap semiconductor with a band gap of 2.42 eV that serves as an n-type material. The diffusion of Cu into CdS can cause CuS to have different phases at room temperature allowing it to exhibit different photovoltaic properties and change from one phase to another during cell operation, which gives rise to complexity in the CuS/CdS photovoltaic system.²

The effects of Cu diffusion in CuS/CdS systems resulting in degradation issues necessitated the search for an alternative material that could be used as a p-type material to form an adequate heterojunction with CdS. CdTe became a candidate to replace CuS because polycrystalline thin-film deposition can be achieved in ways similar to those of CdS. Also, CdTe can be made into either p-type or n-type materials.²

Thin-film heterojunctions continue to be attractive because of their ease of fabrication and potential for low-cost devices. The CdS/CdTe heterojunction device remains attractive to the photovoltaic industry because of its band gap alignment and cost-effective production, but there are still drawbacks to its use: Kirkendall void formation caused by sulphur out-diffusion,⁴ CdS optical absorption losses, impurity diffusion and grain-boundary effects, interdiffusion between CdTe and CdS, and large-lattice mismatch between CdTe and CdS.⁵ Studies have shown that S out-diffusion can lead to significant degradation in the performance of the CdS/CdTe heterojuction device.⁴

The degradation problem associated with the CdS/CdTe heterojuction has led to the search for an alternative junction that is chemically stable. One such alternative is the CdTe/CdMgTe heterostructure, which is actively studied for its ability to overcome some of the challenges associated with the CdS/CdTe heterostructure. The wide band-gap CdMgTe barrier confines photocarriers and prevents rapid recombination at the CdTe surface. The heterostructure formed by CdTe and CdMgTe possesses a type-I band edge alignment.

In addition, the power conversion efficiency CdTe solar cell has been reported to be limited by grain boundaries in polycrystalline CdTe, low dopability, low minority carrier lifetime, energy barriers at contacts, and compensation from impurities.⁶⁻⁹ One of the major strategies for improving solar cell efficiency is ensuring high open-circuit voltage. Open-circuit voltage depends on excess carrier density,¹⁰ hence improving the dopability of CdTe will positively impact the efficiency of CdTe solar cells. In addition, another

4

strategy for improving efficiency is ensuring high minority-carrier lifetime. The bigpicture purpose of this research endeavor is to improve the efficiency of CdTe solar cells by carefully choosing dopants and obtaining a deep understanding of the related doping mechanism.

1.2 Basic CdTe Properties

CdTe possesses electrical and optical properties that are useful for solar energy absorption and conversion. CdTe is a compound semiconductor consisting of Cd, a group IIB element that is also a transition metal, and Te, a group VIA element that is a semimetal. The atomic number of Cd is 48 while that of Te is 52. Both elements are located on row four of the periodic table. The average atomic number of CdTe is 50. CdTe, when compared with other IIB-VIA compounds, has a low melting temperature and a large lattice parameter. Some of the important properties of CdTe are displayed in Table 1.

CdTe has a direct band gap of 1.514 eV at room temperature,¹¹ and a high absorption coefficient for photons.¹² CdTe's direct optimum band gap and high absorption coefficient allow photons with energy greater than its band gap to be absorbed within a few micrometers of CdTe's absorber layer, so less material is needed for the absorber layer design, leading to cost-effective savings.

In addition to its material cost savings and high efficiency, this compound semiconductor permits both n- and p-type doping, but it has been challenging to achieve doped CdTe with high carrier concentration. The difficulty of doping in II-VI compound semiconductors is due to the semiconductors' self-compensation behavior.¹³

Property description	Properties of CdTe
Stable phase(s) at 300K	Zinc Blende (ZB)
Melting point (K)	1370
Energy gap E_g at 300 K (eV)	1.514
$dE_g/dT(\times 10^{-4} \text{ eV/K})$	5.4
Bond length (um)	2.806
Lattice constant (a _o) at 300K (nm)	0.6481
ZB nearest-neighbor dist. at 300K (nm)	0.281
ZB density at 300K (g/cm ³)	5.86
Electron affinity χ (eV)	4.28
Specific heat capacity (J/gK)	0.21
Thermal conductivity (W $cm^{-1}K^{-1}$)	0.01
Thermal linear expansion coefficient (10^{-6} K^{-1})	5.1
Electron effective mass (m^*/m_0)	0.11
Hole effective mass (m_{dos}^*/m_0)	0.35
Electron Hall mobility (300) K for $n = $ lowish (cm ² /Vs)	1050
Hole Hall mobility at 300K for $p = \text{lowish}$ (cm ² /Vs)	100
Exciton binding energy (meV)	12
Average phonon energy (meV)	5.8
Molecular weight (amu)	240.01
Dielectric constant	$E_{o} = 2.27$
Refractive index (ZB)	2.72

Table 1. Properties of zinc blende CdTe.¹

Increasing and controlling the conductivity of any semiconductor material remains a key issue for achieving desirable electrical properties. In photovoltaic cells' design, having good electrical transport properties is useful to achieving reasonable efficiency, which means that overcoming the issue of doping in CdTe materials becomes important in harnessing the potential of this material for photovoltaic application.

1.3 Challenges of Doping in CdTe

Although CdTe is an amphoteric II-VI semiconductor that allows both *n*- and *p*type doping, producing CdTe with the sufficient values of minority carriers needed for photovoltaic application has been challenging, especially for p-type doping. It is easier to achieve n-type doping of CdTe. Other II-VI materials are easily doped with either *n*- or *p*-types but typically not both.¹⁴⁻¹⁶

Potential candidates for doping CdTe are primarily from elements in groups I, III, V, and VII of the periodic table. Group III and group VII are generally considered to be *n*-type dopants in CdTe. Segregation of group VII elements in CdTe is generally low, which helps with doping during crystal growth. Also, this group's low diffusion coefficient ensures stability, and their energy level makes them act as shallow donors in CdTe.¹⁷ While group I and group V are generally considered as p-type dopants in CdTe, the diffusivity of group I elements limit their use as dopants in II-VI compounds.^{18, 19} Group V elements have a lower diffusivity, which makes them attractive as dopants in CdTe.

Candidates that have been successfully used for n-type doping in CdTe are indium (In), chlorine (Cl), bromine (Br), and iodine (I). Indium has become the standard for n-type doping in CdTe MBE growth.²⁰ Indium has been extensively researched and has been used previously in CdTe devices with high V_{oc} . Also, iodine is a promising alternative for n-type doping. Studies show electron concentration as high as almost 1×10^{19} cm⁻³ can be obtained using I.²¹

The most popular candidates for p-type doping in CdTe are currently arsenic (As), copper (Cu), phosphorus (P), and nitrogen (N). Arsenic seems to be the preferred candidate for *p*-type doping in CdTe due to its thermal stability in CdTe, but it is challenging to achieve high carrier concentration with arsenic doping in CdTe.

7

1.4 N-type doping in CdTe

Indium is typically the *n*-type dopant of choice and appears to be viable for low doping concentrations. CdTe-based solar cells, however, typically rely on the n-side to be heavily doped at levels that have been shown to be problematic for doping with In.²² In addition, In is not an effective dopant in materials like CdMgTe, which may be useful for heterojunction formation. The other n-type dopants that have been used successfully in CdTe are chlorine (Cl), bromine (Br), and iodine (I). Cl and Br appear to be very similar to In in terms of maximum donor concentration (N_D) (2×10¹⁸ cm⁻³) and compensation.^{23, 24} For a comparison of common *n*-type dopants, these elements' maximum dopant density reported and activation energies in CdTe are given below in Tables 2 and 3, respectively.

The literature suggests that iodine is a promising alternative for *n*-type doping.²⁵ I doping of CdTe grown on (100)-oriented CdZnTe resulted in N_D as high as 6×10^{18} cm⁻³ without a Cd overpressure and without apparent compensation. Similar doping using conventional or metal-organic MBE on CdTe grown on (100)-oriented CdTe and (211)B-oriented GaAs substrates resulted in N_D as high as 3×10^{18} cm⁻³. I-doped CdTe samples made with ethyliodide yielded extremely bright excitonic photoluminescence (PL) at 300 K, suggesting that these samples had fewer non-radiative defects.²⁵

Dopan Max N _D		CdTe	Max N _D in CdZnTe			Max N _D in CdMgTe		
L	N _D value (cm ⁻³)	Ref	N _D value (cm ⁻³)	% Zn	Ref	N _D value (cm ⁻³)	% Mg	Ref
Ga	2.5×10^{16}	26	-	-	-	-	-	-
			-	-	-	-	-	-
In	$2 \ge 10^{18}$	27	$1.2 \ge 10^{17}$	0.1	28	-	-	-
			$1.2 \ge 10^{16}$	0.25	28	-	-	-
Cl	$2 \ge 10^{18}$	29	6 x 10 ¹⁶	0.2	30	$7 \ge 10^{15}$	0.14	31, 32
			$4 \ge 10^{15}$	0.28	30	$4 \ge 10^{15}$	0.15	32
Br	$1.8 \ge 10^{18}$	23, 32	-	-	-	8 x 10 ¹⁷	0.1	31, 32
			-	-	-	$3 \ge 10^{15}$	0.3	23, 31
Ι	6.2×10^{18}	28	$1.2 \text{ x } 10^{18}$	0.1	28	$1 \ge 10^{18}$	0.22	32
			$5 \ge 10^{17}$	0.25	28	$1 \ge 10^{17}$	0.37	32

Table 2. Maximum dopant density reported in literature.

 Table 3. Activation energies reported in literature.³³

	Activation Energy (meV)	Ref
Ga	13.88	34
In	14.15	34
	14.5	35
Cl	14.0	36, 37
	14.1	35
	14.48	34
Br	14.0	17
Ι	14	38

Although halogens can form hydrogen-like donors on the Te lattice sites, but elemental halogens are not compatible with the MBE process because of their high vapor pressures, hence the use of compounds like ZnC1₂,²⁹ ZnBr₂,³⁹ and tri-iodine-ethylene,⁴⁰ which have vapor pressures that are compatible with MBE. Although halogen compounds still have relatively high vapor pressures, the use of dual-zone low-temperature effusion cells ensures stable beam flux. Based on a review of the literature, ZnI₂, which possess a vapor pressure comparable to that of Cd and Zn as given below in Figure 3, was chosen due to its ability to attain high doping concentration in CdTe as demonstrated in the literature. A dual-zone low-temperature effusion cell was used as the ZnI₂ source, and it was constantly kept under the flow of chilled water to keep the temperature of the ZnI_2 material below 10 °C when not in use to limit sublimation and background I.



Figure 3. Vapor pressure curves for Cd, ZnI₂, Cd₃As₂, and Zn.

Generally, halogens are good dopants in CdTe,¹⁷ but I in particular has been reported to be a more effective dopant when compared to Br and Cl. I doping achieves a higher free carrier concentration at room temperature than bromine³² and chlorine.⁴¹ Iodine doping with a gas source has yielded doping densities up to mid-10¹⁸ cm⁻³,^{21, 28, 40} while use of the solid dopant source material ZnI₂ has yielded doping density up to $7x10^{18}$ cm⁻³.³² Fischer et al.³² noted that, when doping density exceeds $1x10^{19}$ cm⁻³, compensation does occur. The major issue with iodine doping in CdTe is the natural formation of Cd-related vacancies that can pair with iodine, thereby leading to self-compensation.³³ The compensation mechanism tends to limit free-carrier concentration at this high doping density.³² Our research will focus on the limits and controllability of iodine doping in CdTe.

1.5 P-type Doping in CdTe

Cu, which can be substituted at Cd sites, can be used as a dopant in CdTe but results in low doping densities. Another major drawback of using Cu as a dopant in CdTe is that it can easily diffuse across the device junction, especially in CdS/CdTe, thereby degrading the performance of the solar cell device. Similarly, Ag is thermally unstable in CdTe due to its high diffusion coefficient. Most of group I, which are alkali metals that can also be substituted for Cd sites when used as dopants, have low activation energy but possess high diffusivity in CdTe and the tendency to occupy both Cd atomic sites (*p*type) and interstitial positions (*n*-type), so achieving control of dopants becomes challenging.

Some of the group V elements, like N, P, As, Sb, and Bi, have been studied as potential candidates for *p*-type doping in CdTe via substitutional Te sites.¹⁷ When compared with Cu, most of these group V acceptor dopants have lower activation energies, as shown in Table 4.

Although N and P possess lower activation energies, N is not structurally stable when used as a dopant in CdTe, and P is reported to have fast grain-boundary diffusion,⁴² which will be problematic for production where polycrystalline CdTe is used. Arsenic (As) is generally proposed as the choice acceptor dopant due to its relatively low activation energy and stability in CdTe. In comparing common p-type dopants, the maximum dopant density reported and activation energies in CdTe are illustrated below in Tables 4 and 5, respectively.

Dopant	Max N _A in	CdTe	Max N _A in CdZnTe			Max N _A in CdMgTe		
	N _A value (cm ⁻³)	Ref	N _A value (cm ⁻³)	% Zn	Ref	N _A value (cm ⁻³)	% Mg	Ref
Cu	4 x 10 ¹⁶	43	-	-	-	-	-	-
			-	-	-	-	-	-
As	5 x 10 ¹⁶	44	-	-	-	-	-	-
			-	-	-	-	-	-
Р	5 x 10 ¹⁹	45	-	-	-	-	-	-
			-	-	-	-	-	-
Ν	$1 \ge 10^{16}$	46	$2 \ge 10^{17}$	0.12	47	$1 \ge 10^{17}$	0.1	47
			$2 \ge 10^{18}$	0.5	47	$1 \ge 10^{17}$	0.24	47

Table 4. Maximum dopant density reported in literature.

	Activation Energy (meV)	Ref
Cu	140	37
	146	37, 48, 49
	147	35
As	92	50
Р	60	35
	68.2	48
	50	37
N	56	48, 49, 51
Na	58.1	35
	58.7	48
Ag	92	51
	107.5	49
	108	35
	123	37
Au	263	48

 Table 5. Activation energies reported in literature.³³

Arsenic has shown potential as a p-type dopant because it is a shallow acceptor,⁵⁰ and it has relatively low diffusion and segregation¹⁷ and good stability in the CdTe lattice,^{17, 52} however, it is still challenging to get acceptor concentration (N_A) as high as those seen in the n-type dopants of CdTe due to a low sticking coefficient, low activation at growth temperature,²⁰ and the need for post-growth annealing. Another challenge arises from the low growth temperature, which is required to have high As incorporation.²⁰ This can lead to poor crystal quality, and As can be incorporated into the defect sites.¹³ These issues make it challenging to achieve p-type doping in CdTe with high carrier concentration values without compromising the minority carrier lifetime.

Although post-growth annealing may be required for activation of As dopants in CdTe, this annealing improves crystal quality and activates the dopant,¹³ without degrading the doping profiles since As is stable in the lattice.⁵³

The use of a thermal cracker and an effusion cell has been investigated for incorporating As in MBE.¹⁹ The thermal cracker permits higher temperature growth and can be used to produce As_2 ,⁵³ which has a better sticking coefficient than As_4 , making As_2 more desirable. To date, the use of a thermal cracker technique to achieve As doping mostly produced doping densities of 10^{17} cm⁻³.^{13, 20, 54}

Shibli et al.¹⁹ used molecular-beam epitaxy (MBE) to grow ZnSe doped with As using two different sources—Zn₃As₂ and As cracker cell—as the As source. Shibli et al.¹⁹ studied different growth variations and their influence on As doping. They concluded that the As cracker yielded low dopant incorporation ($< 10^{17}$ atoms/cm³) as compared to the Zn₃As₂ source, which yielded dopant incorporation that ranged from 10^{17} to 10^{21} atoms/cm³. Near band-edge emission dominated by shallow acceptor levels was revealed in many Zn₃As₂ doped samples through low temperature photoluminescence. Cd₃As₂ will be used as the sister material to achieve As doping in CdTe. Cd₃As₂ is also compatible with MBE since its vapor pressure is comparable to the vapor pressures of Cd and Zn as shown in Figure 3. Similar to iodine doping studies, our research will focus on the limits and controllability of As doping in CdTe.

1.6 Technical Approach

The focus of this doping study is to understand how dopants interact in CdTe, including their limitations and how they can be controlled in such a way as to enhance device performance. The open-circuit voltage of most CdTe solar cell devices is currently less than ~860 mV.⁵⁵ This research will focus on achieving open-circuit voltage > 860 mV in CdTe solar cells. The objectives of this research effort will be achieved through high carrier concentration ($N_A > 5 \times 10^{16}$ cm⁻³ and $N_D > 5 \times 10^{17}$ cm⁻³) while maintaining a high carrier lifetime (τ values > 30 ns) in doped epitaxial layers grown by MBE for photovoltaic application. The effect of doping on carrier lifetime and carrier mobility will be studied. Efficient doping in CdTe will increase the *V*_{oc} levels in CdTe solar cells and subsequently increase the efficiency of CdTe solar cells. The thermal stability of these dopants against diffusion in CdTe will examined. The knowledge gained from the doping studies will be a significant step toward better device performance in applications where CdTe doping is important. To achieve these goals, MBE growth of doped CdTe samples will be performed by varying the growth conditions in order to see how this affects dopant incorporation and subsequently determines optimal growth conditions for high N_A and N_D.

Some dopants in CdTe crystals are not electrically active at room temperature as incorporated. Examples of such dopants are As and P. High-temperature processing under cadmium ambient is needed for the dopant activation of As and P, which is being considered for the *p*-type side of a CdTe-based solar cell.⁵⁶ As previously mentioned, P is problematic for production, thereby necessitating that the focus of this research will be on As. The temperature annealing required for this activation will be performed in quartz ampoules. These ampoules will be cleaned with HF etchant before use, and ampoules will be sealed in a vacuum-tight environment. Annealing experiments will be done with and without Cd/Hg overpressure at temperatures above 400 °C to determine optimal conditions. The use of ampoule and tube furnace anneals will assist in shifting stoichiometry, fill vacancies, and activate dopants. Also, rapid thermal process (RTP) will be used for dopant activation. For effective study and analysis, several measurements will be made on the grown and annealed samples, including Hall measurement,

15

photoluminescence intensity measurements (PLI), confocal photoluminescence microscopy (cPL), atomic force microscopy (AFM), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), X-ray diffraction (XRD), X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS), time-resolved photoluminescence (TRPL), capacitance voltage measurements (CV), and secondary-ion mass spectrometry (SIMS). These characterization techniques will ultimately guide us in investigating carrier density and defect density in order to study the limits of doping, lifetime carriers, and mobility.

Due to the complexity and the delivery time of this project, I will perform MBE growth and characterize samples using AFM, confocal PL, XRD, spectral ellipsometry, and Hall measurements while contributing to PLI measurements and anneal experiments. TRPL measurements will be performed in Dr. Holtz's laboratory at Texas State University while SIMS measurements will be performed at EAG Laboratories in Sunnyvale, California, and device fabrication will be done at the National Renewable Energy Laboratory in Golden, Colorado.

2. EXPERIMENTAL EQUIPMENT

To achieve the research objectives and goals, several research tools were needed. Some of these tools included the MBE system itself, which was needed for the growth of the photovoltaic structures, the annealing station, which was needed to activate dopants after growth, and characterization tools, which were needed to evaluate the properties of the grown structures. Semiconductor characterization assists with the understanding and manipulation of the structural, thermal, optical, and electrical properties of thin-film materials and devices. The knowledge gained from the characterization process is essential in determining whether the semiconductor crystal is suitable for a particular device with certain functionalities. In this research endeavor, characterization was needed to determine the suitability of CdTe and CdTe-based alloys for photovoltaic application.

2.1 MBE System

In the early 1970s, MBE was developed to synthesize high-purity and high-quality semiconductor epilayers.⁵⁷ MBE is a technique used to develop thin epitaxial structures through the interaction of a molecular or atomic beam and the substrate surface. The substrate is kept at an elevated temperature during this process, and a high vacuum-evaporation apparatus is used in the system to keep the chamber pressure below approximately 10⁻¹¹ Torr. The equilibrium vapor pressure of the elements and the semiconductor compound govern the MBE process.⁵⁸ Due to the low-pressure environment, the growth temperature is relatively low and minimizes undesired thermal activity. The advanced epitaxial technique also allows for precise control of thickness and dopant concentration, enabling growth of almost all II-VI compounds.⁵⁹ The compositional make-up of the MBE-grown epilayer depends on the arrival rate of the constituent elements
and is contingent upon the evaporation rate of the atomic or molecular sources.

2.1.1 Growth chamber

The stainless steel MBE system at Texas State University, as shown in Figure 4, consists of seven growth chambers, an atomic-hydrogen cleaning chamber, an XPS chamber, a scanning probe microscopy (SPM) chamber, two load-lock chambers, and buffer chambers. The growth chambers of this multi chamber MBE system are made up of a II-VI chamber, IV-VI chamber, As-based chamber, Sb-based chamber, and three oxide chambers.



Figure 4. MBE growth and characterization system at Texas State University showing the II-VI MBE, Sb-based MBE, and hydrogen-cleaning chamber that were used for this project.

Of the seven chambers in this multi-chamber MBE system, the II-VI chamber,

Sb-based chamber, and hydrogen-cleaning chamber were the chambers used for this

project. Two load-lock chambers and buffer chambers were built into this multi-chamber MBE system to load, prepare, transfer, and temporarily hold samples. All the chambers are isolated with gate valves, and all chambers have pumps to keep them under vacuum. The most important aspect of MBE growth takes place in the growth chamber. The II-VI growth chamber grew all the samples used in this project. The Sb-based chamber deposited an InSb buffer layer on InSb substrates before growing CdTe-related structures for specific experiments. The basic components of the II-VI growth chamber at Texas State University are the shutters, substrate manipulator and substrate heater, ion pump, cryo pump, effusion cells, ion guage beam flux monitor (BFM), and reflection highenergy electron diffraction (RHEED), which is further described in section 2.2. A schematic diagram of a typical MBE growth chamber is shown in Figure 5.



Figure 5. Schematic diagram of a typical MBE growth chamber.

Typical base pressure in the growth chamber ranges between 10⁻¹⁰ Torr and 10⁻¹¹ Torr. The growth chamber attains this pressure range with the aid of the pumping system—ion pump and cryo pump—that pumps out residual impurities, and the liquid nitrogen cryopanels, which surround the main chamber wall and the source flange. This liquid nitrogen shroud assists in trapping materials with excess high vapor pressure and thermally isolates material sources.

2.1.2 Sources

A key goal in film deposition using MBE is to control the composition and uniformity of the deposited material in order to achieve quality growth. Effusion cells provide molecular beams, which enable controlled material deposition in the MBE system. Some of the key considerations in the design of such sources are material purity, good flux stability, and uniformity. There were two types of sources used in this project: conventional effusion sources and dissociation effusion sources.

2.1.2.1 Conventional effusion source

Effusion cells used in this project were low-temperature dual filament sources purchased from Veeco Inc. These effusion cells have crucibles that hold source material in condensed forms. These cells were heated through radiation generated from a heatresisting source, which is usually Tantalum (Ta). The temperature of these cells was stabilized with Eurotherm 818 temperature controllers and feedback loops. A properly controlled temperature usually leads to stable and uniform flux from the source material. Compound CdTe was used as the primary source material while Cd was used to provide

20

excess Cd during CdTe layer growth in order to limit defect formation in growing CdTe layers.⁶⁰ These source materials used effusion cells. Other source materials that used effusion cells in this project are Zn, Cd₃As₂, ZnI₂, and Mg.

2.1.2.2 Dissociation (cracker) effusion source

The cracker cell is a modified design of the conventional effusion cell. The molecular beam emanating from the Knudsen-type crucible is guided through a higher temperature (cracker) zone in the source so that tetrameric molecules, as seen in some group V materials–especially As₄ and P₄–dissociate into dimers. Dimers are believed to have a higher sticking ratio than the tetramers. For most of this study, arsenic doping of CdTe was performed using a conventional effusion cell. A custom-made cracker (discussed in section 4.3.1) was introduced in the later part of the research process to increase the As incorporation in CdTe crystals. A cracker was also used to obtain atomic hydrogen from molecular hydrogen, which was then used to prepare sample surfaces before growth.

2.1.3 Ion gauge beam flux monitor

The BFM primarily consists of a moveable ion gauge that can be moved into and out of the position the substrate will occupy during growth. The molecular beam flux of a material is measured when the BFM moves into the substrate position and the shutter of the material is opened for a brief period, which occurred for approximately two minutes for the materials used in this project. The pressure measurement taken when the shutters of the cells are closed is referred to as the base pressure. The beam equivalent pressure (BEP) of the incident molecular flux emanating from the source is determined by

21

subtracting the base pressure from the pressure reading obtained from the BFM when the source shutter is open. Information about the BEP of individual constituents within a compound semiconductor is essential in maintaining the stoichiometry needed for the growth of the compound material, which necessarily has specific, desirable properties. The ion gauges that measure these BEPs are calibrated to measure the partial pressure of nitrogen. The rate at which the molecules in nitrogen will ionize is different from the rate at which the molecules in other materials will ionize when using these ion gauges, thereby making the BEP values obtained for other materials different from the actual partial pressures of these other materials. In order to determine the actual flux measurement, the measured BEP value will have to be adjusted with a sensitivity factor relative to nitrogen. This relative sensitivity is known as ionization efficiency. Flaim et al.⁶¹ provided the experimental ionization efficiencies relative to nitrogen. The mathematical expression for these ionization efficiencies is given as ⁶²

$$n_i = \frac{0.6Z_i}{14} + 0.4 \tag{2.1}$$

where n_i is the ionization efficiency of the molecule relative to nitrogen and Z_i is the number of electrons in the element. The ionization efficiency of Cd, Te, and CdTe are calculated below.

For Cd, $Z_{Cd} = 48$

$$n_{Cd} = \frac{0.6Z_{Cd}}{14} + 0.4 = 2.457 \tag{2.2}$$

For Te, $Z_{Te} = 52$

$$n_{Te} = \frac{0.6Z_{Te}}{14} + 0.4 = 2.629 \tag{2.3}$$

For Te₂, $Z_{Te2} = 104$

$$n_{Te2} = \frac{0.6Z_{Te2}}{14} + 0.4 = 4.857 \tag{2.4}$$

The flux (J) ratio of two substances are related to the cell temperatures (T), molecular weights (M), ionization efficiencies (n), and the beam equivalent pressure (B) of these substances. This relationship is given as ^{62, 63}

$$\frac{J_x}{J_y} = \left(\frac{B_x}{B_y} \times \frac{n_y}{n_x}\right) \times \sqrt{\left(\frac{M_y}{M_x} \times \frac{T_x}{T_y}\right)}.$$
(2.5)

For CdTe, which dissociates as follows

$$CdTe \to Cd + \frac{1}{2}Te_2 \tag{2.6}$$

the flux ratio can be written as

$$\frac{J_{Cd}}{J_{Te2}} = \left(\frac{B_{Cd}}{B_{Te2}} \times \frac{n_{Te2}}{n_{Cd}}\right) \times \sqrt{\left(\frac{M_{Te2}}{M_{Cd}} \times \frac{T_{Cd}}{T_{Te2}}\right)}.$$
(2.7)

Also, from the dissociation, the flux ratio can be derived as

$$\frac{J_{Cd}}{J_{Te2}} = 2$$
 (2.8)

assuming

$$T_{Cd} = T_{Te2} = T_{CdTe}.$$

Molecular weights are given as

$$M_{Cd} = 112.411 \text{ g/mol}$$

$$M_{Te2} = 255.20 \text{ g/mol}$$

 $M_{CdTe} = 240.011 \text{ g/mol}$

The values for flux ratio, temperature, molecular weight, and ionization efficiency can be substituted in equation 2.7.

$$2 = \left[\left(\frac{B_{Cd}}{B_{Te2}} \right) \times \frac{4.857}{2.457} \right] \times \sqrt{\left(\frac{255.20 \ g/mol}{112.411 \ g/mol} \times 1 \right)}$$
(2.10)

$$2 = \left[\left(\frac{B_{Cd}}{B_{Te2}} \right) \times 1.977 \right] \times \sqrt{2.27}$$
(2.11)

$$2 = \left(\frac{B_{Cd}}{B_{Te2}}\right) \times 1.977 \times 1.507 \tag{2.12}$$

$$2 = \left(\frac{B_{Cd}}{B_{Te2}}\right) \times 2.979 \tag{2.13}$$

$$0.67 = \left(\frac{B_{CdTe}}{B_{Te2}}\right) \tag{2.14}$$

$$\frac{B_{Cd}}{B_{Te2}} = 0.67$$
 (2.15)

$$B_{Cd} = 0.67B_{Te2} \tag{2.16}$$

$$B_{Te2} = 1.49 B_{CdTe} \tag{2.17}$$

2.2 Reflection High-Energy Electron Diffraction

RHEED uses a high-energy beam of electrons of about 5 keV – 40 keV focused on a sample surface at a low incidence angle of about $1^{\circ}-3^{\circ}$ in order to obtain structural information by minimally penetrating the few outermost atomic layers of the sample surface. The beam reflection is seen on the RHEED screen.

The basic setup of the RHEED experiment as shown in Figure 6 consisted of the RHEED assembly, the sample, the display screen, and a charge-coupled device (CCD) camera. The display screen used for this work is a phosphor-coated screen. A charge-coupled device (CCD) camera is located behind the display screen right outside of the MBE chamber to view and record the diffracted patterns. In most cases, samples were rotated about their normal axes to align the incident electron beam with specific crystallographic directions on the surface before diffracted patterns were recorded. These patterns give information about crystal pattern and growth quality, which was used as a feedback mechanism to optimize growth conditions during and after growth occured.



Figure 6. Schematic drawing of the RHEED measurement showing the electron gun, the sample, the phosphor screen, and the CCD camera.

RHEED, as a useful analytical technique in MBE growth, helps in real-time monitoring of the crystal structure for the film being grown. RHEED patterns provide information about the texture of the surface, i.e. either smooth or rough. The diffraction process on smooth surfaces is usually characterized by elongated streaks that are a result of true reflection diffraction. The diffraction process on rough surfaces is characterized by spotty features resulting from transmission-reflection diffraction.

In this project, RHEED was used to provide information about the surface topography and the precise growth rate. Atomic-force microscopy (AFM) was used to correlate RHEED surface characterization in this research study.

2.3 Atomic-Force Microscopy

AFM is a type of scanning probe microscope that measures the interaction force between the tip and the sample surface as shown in Figure 7. The tip is located at the free end of a cantilever that is 100 to 200 μ m long. Forces between the tip and the sample surface cause the cantilever to bend or deflect. The movement of the cantilever is influenced by the sample surface, which is detected by selective sensors. The major factors that determine the interaction force are the AFM probe tip, the nature of the sample, and the distance between them.⁶⁴ This technique is useful in studying the surface morphology of a specimen.

26



Figure 7. Schematic of an AFM tip scanning over the surface of a sample.⁶⁴

The Veeco Dimension 3100 AFM at Texas State University used in this research study operates in both contact and non-contact (tapping) modes. The tips used by this AFM are generally less than 100 Å in diameter and a few microns in length. Highresolution topographic images were obtained for this study using the AFM in tapping mode where sample surface scanning is achieved by the tip coming into contact with the surface and lifting off at very small spatial intervals over the scanned area.

2.4 Hall Effect

Hall measurement is a technique that can be used to extract information about electrical properties such as carrier concentration, mobility, and resistivity from a conductor or semiconductor. This technique is based on the application of small transverse voltage across a current-carrying material under an applied magnetic field. The Hall effect is based on generating voltage from the Lorentz force. A magnetic force occurs when a magnetic field is applied to a charge moving along an electric field whose direction is perpendicular to the magnetic field. This Lorentz force F is given as

$$F = -q(E + (v \times B))$$
(2.18)

where q is the elementary charge, E is the electric field, v is the particle velocity, and B is the magnetic field.

As current *I* flows across the conducting material, and a perpendicularly directed magnetic field is applied, electrons tend to drift away from the direction of the current while holes move in the same direction as the electric force, thereby resulting in an excess electric charge building up perpendicular to the direction of the current, hence a potential drop. This transverse voltage, known as Hall voltage, is given as

$$V_{\rm H} = IB/qnd \tag{2.19}$$

where *I* is the current, *B* is the magnetic field, *d* is the sample thickness, *n* is the bulk density of charge carriers in a semiconductor, and *q* is the elementary charge. With $nd = n_s$, equation 2.19 can be written as

$$V_{\rm H} = IB/q \,\,\mathrm{n_s} \tag{2.20}$$

The mobility μ and the sheet density n_s of a material with an arbitrary shape can be determined with the combination of Hall measurement and resistivity using the van der Pauw technique. This technique is convenient in that four small ohmic contacts can be placed at the edges of the arbitrarily shaped sample. A typical example of a van der Pauw configuration for a square-shaped conducting material is shown in Figure 8. *I* is applied across two opposing contacts (3 and 4) of this sample while $V_{\rm H}$ is measured across the remaining two opposing contacts (1 and 2) as a constant magnetic field B is applied in a direction perpendicular to the plane of the material.



Figure 8. Van der Pauw configuration for a arbitrarily shaped conductor.⁶⁵ The Hall coefficient in this van der Pauw configuration is given as

$$R_{H} = \frac{[V_{12}(B) - V_{12}(0)]d}{I_{34}B} = \frac{[V_{12}(B) - V_{12}(-B)]d}{2I_{34}B}$$
(2.21)

where *d* is the thickness of the sample and B is the magnetic field. The resistivity (ρ) of the sample can also be measured through this van der Pauw method by measuring the voltage drop across two contacts and, then, measuring current *I* across the remaining two contacts using different contact configurations. The resulting resistances are given as

$$R_{12,43} = \frac{|V_{12}|}{I_{43}} \tag{2.22}$$

$$R_{23,14} = \frac{|V_{23}|}{I_{14}} \tag{2.23}$$

$$R_{34,21} = \frac{|V_{34}|}{I_{21}} \tag{2.24}$$

$$R_{41,32} = \frac{|V_{41}|}{I_{32}} \tag{2.25}$$

The resistivity is then given as ⁶⁶

$$\rho = \left[\frac{\pi d}{\ln 2} \times \frac{1}{4} \times \left(\frac{V_{12}}{I_{43}} + \frac{V_{23}}{I_{14}} + \frac{V_{34}}{I_{21}} + \frac{V_{41}}{I_{32}}\right)\right] \Omega - \mathrm{cm},$$
(2.26)

and the Hall mobility is given as 66

$$\mu_{\rm H} = \left[\frac{10^8}{B} \times \frac{\ln 2}{\pi} \times \frac{2(V_{1324} + V_{2413})}{(V_{1243} + V_{2314} + V_{3421} + V_{4132})}\right] \frac{\rm cm^2}{\rm V\,s} \tag{2.27}$$

while the charge carrier density is given as ⁶⁶

$$n_{\rm H} = \left[6.25 \times 10^{10} \times \frac{B}{d} \times \frac{1}{2} \times \left(\frac{l_{24}}{V_{13}} + \frac{l_{13}}{V_{24}} \right) \right] {\rm cm}^{-3}$$
(2.28)

Van der Pauw Hall measurements were made using a Physical Property Measurement System (PPMS) at Texas State University. This PPMS, manufactured by Quantum Design, is shown below in Figure 9. Its major components are an EverCool model dewar, probe, model 6000 PPMS controller, electronics cabinet, vacuum pumps, and sample puck.



Figure 9. The PPMS setup at Texas State University.

This PPMS permits a selection of electrical, magnetic, and optical measurements to be performed in variable-temperature and variable-magnetic field environments. These measurements can be done at temperatures varying from 1.9 K to 310 K with magnetic fields varying from -9 to 9 Tesla.

Samples used in the Hall measurements were carefully designed and prepared for this purpose. Uniform thin films with known thicknesses were grown on non-conducting substrates. Ohmic contacts were prepared by melting indium and adding droplets—they were exceptionally small relative to the size of the sample—to the four corners of the sample. Samples were mounted on an AC Transport Puck with rubber cement, and the contacts of the samples were connected to the AC Transport Puck via Au wires to achieve van der Pauw configuration. The use of the PPMS ensured a uniform temperature to avoid thermomagnetic effects on the measurements.

Variable temperature measurements were performed in order to determine the temperature dependence of the carrier concentration in some select samples.

2.5 Capacitance-Voltage Measurements

The C-V measurement method can be used to estimate the carrier concentration of dopants as a function of depth. This method of estimating carrier concentration is based on the depletion approximation where it is assumed that the depletion region (also known as the space-charge region) of the device being measured is void of free carriers. It is also assumed that other regions in the device are neutral while the transition between the depletion and the neutral regions is expected to be abrupt. In a typical, metal-to-n-type semiconductor junction, the n-type carrier concentration, which is assumed to be homogenous and uncompensated, can be obtained from the following relations.⁶⁷

$$N = \frac{-2}{A^2 \varepsilon_o \varepsilon_r q} \left[\frac{d(1/C^2)}{dV} \right]^{-1} = \frac{C^3}{q \varepsilon} \frac{dV}{dC}$$
(2.29)

where *C* is the capacitance, ε_o is the permittivity of a vacuum, ε_r is the dielectric constant of the semiconductor, *A* is the area, *q* is the electron charge, and *V* is voltage.

$$C = \frac{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r}{W_D} A \tag{2.30}$$

where W_D is the depletion width.

The depletion width can be extracted from the capactiance measurement at any voltage value, and the slope of the plot of $1/C^2$ vs. V can be used to extract the carrier concentration. Also, the local derivative of $1/C^2$ vs. V at any given voltage can be used to extract the carrier concentration in the non-uniform doping case. This method is also valid for determining hole concentration.

2.6 Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry

Secondary ion mass spectrometry (SIMS) is an effective tool for measuring the isotopic, molecular, or elemental composition of samples. Its ability to detect all elements, unlike XPS, and its ability to detect small concentration makes SIMS extremely useful in doping studies.

The basic components of SIMS experiments, as shown in Figure 10, compose the primary particle source, which is used to generate secondary ions from the sample surface, the mass spectrometer, and an ion detection system.



Figure 10. A schematic representation of a SIMS instrument.

In SIMS, the surface of the sample analyzed is inundated by high-energy (usually less 50 keV) beam of ions, transferring its energy to the atoms of the solid through multiple collisions and causing atoms near the surface to escape from the sample. Some of these atoms escaping the sample surface, referred to as secondary particles, are ionized in this emission process. Ionized particles present in the secondary particles are collected and analyzed by a mass spectrometer. SIMS has great applications in depth profiling, where the elemental composition of a sample is measured as a function of depth. This technique, known as dynamic SIMS, destroys the sample surface, but it is more accurate than static SIMS where surface destruction is less intensive. Static SIMS uses a rather low primary flux density, so there is no significant sputter etch unlike dynamic SIMS, which uses a higher primary flux density to achieve a sputter crater in the sample over a period of time. Surface damage is minimized in static SIMS, but secondary ions are low, thereby requiring detectors that are more sensitive. In static SIMS, the secondary ions analyzed can provide information about the chemical profile of the surface because each point within the scanned surface is impacted by the primary particle once, on average.

SIMS measurements for this research study were conducted at EAG Laboratories where elements in the CdTe matrix were measured using a PHI Quadrupole SIMS instrument. Standards were created with ion-implanted samples. The detection limits of some elements in CdTe under the depth profiling condition are shown in Table 6, which ranges from 10^{12} atoms/cm³ to 10^{16} atoms/cm³. The depth resolution is approximately 5 Å while the lateral resolution for depth profiling is up to $10 \,\mu$ m.

O ₂ ⁺ Primary Ion Beam Positive Ions		Cs ⁺ Primary Ion Beam Negative Ions		Cs ⁺ Primary Ion Beam Positive Ions (CsM ⁺)	
Element	Detection	Element	Detection	Element	Detection
	Limit		Limit		Limit
	(atoms/cm ³)		(atoms/cm ³)		(atoms/cm ³)
Al	1E12	As	1E15	As	2E14
Mg	3E12	Br	5E13	Zn	2E15
Zn	2E16	С	1E15		
		Cl	1E14		
		F	5E13		
		Ι	5E12		
		0	5E15		
		S	1E14		

Table 6. SIMS detection limits of selected elements in CdTe under normal depth profiling conditions.

SIMS measurements from EAG Laboratories were mainly depth profiles used to determine the concentration of dopants and impurities in CdTe crystal. A scan of some impurities in one of the CdTe samples grown at Texas State University is shown in Figure 11.



Figure 11. A SIMS depth profile showing the concentration of impurities in a CdTe sample.

2.7 Confocal Photoluminescence Microscopy

Confocal photoluminescence microscopy (cPL) is a technique that combines lateral resolution with optical sectioning capability. This tool has been used in the field of biology and engineering, and it is currently being applied to semiconductors in a way that reveals the defect density present in the crystal structure.⁶⁸ The image formation of a typical confocal optical system is compared to a typical image formation optical system in Figure 12. The major difference in these optical systems is the confocal pinhole aperture.



Figure 12. Image formation optical system and confocal optical system for optical microscopes.⁶⁹

The confocal optical system uses a confocal pinhole to allow the passage of light that is in focus at the aperture while filtering out light that is not. In most confocal optical systems, laser lights with a specific wavelength are used to emit light, which is then converged to a point on the sample with the help of an objective lens. The light reaching the sample generates photoluminescence. This photoluminescence travels back through the objective lens and the beam splitter before it converges on the pinhole to form a focused, clear image with sharp contrast. As photoluminescence is being collected, reflected laser light is filtered with the help of beam-path filters. This setup enables the creation of a non-radiative defect map of the sample that is measured.

The confocal PL measurements done at Texas State University were performed using the Olympus FV1000 Laser Scanning Confocal Microscope setup shown in Figure 13.



Figure 13. Confocal PL setup with Olympus FluoView[™] FV1000 Laser Scanning Confocal Microscope at Texas State University.

This confocal PL setup achieves 0.25 µm lateral resolution and 0.25-0.5 µm depth resolution. It has multi-line argon lasers (515, 488, and 458 nm) and diode lasers (405, 559, and 635 nm). The FV1000 Laser Scanning Confocal Microscope has a motorized upright microscope and a light detector that can be used for bright-field or DIC imaging. Confocal PL was used to obtain images that provided information about the types and quantity of defects present in the MBE-grown CdTe based samples.

2.8 Photoluminescence Intensity measurements

The photoluminescence intensity (PLI) measurement is a nondestructive, contactless technique for characterizing electronic properties of a material where the intensity of the emitted light from the band edge is monitored at a particular wavelength corresponding to the band-gap energy. To generate photoluminescence in samples, a monochromatic light is used to provide excitation energy, and then a power meter is used to measure the excitation. The photoluminescence intensity is directly proportional to the radiative recombination rate at a particular depth and it is given as ⁷⁰

$$PLI \propto Re^{-\alpha d} \tag{2.31}$$

where *d* is the depth, α is the absorption coefficient at the excitation wavelength, and *R* is the radiative recombination rate. The PLI measurement setup at Texas State University is shown in Figure 14.





A Coherent INNOVA 90 laser was used to provide excitation light with a wavelength of 514 nm, which was chopped at 400 Hz using a Stanford Research Systems Model SR540 chopper controller. This chopped light passes through a set of neutral density (ND) filters to control the excitation intensity before it goes through a 6.5x objective lens, which focuses the laser light onto the microscope's stage to generate photoluminescence from the sample. The photoluminescence generated passes through this same objective lens while reflected laser light is filtered out. The photoluminescence passing through the objective lens focuses on a ThorLabs Si Amplified photodiode detector, which sends a voltage response to a Stanford Research Systems Model SR830 DSP lock-in amplifier. Calibrated ND filters were used to vary the laser intensity, and the output intensities were recorded.

2.9 Time-Resolved photoluminescence

Time-resolve photoluminescence (TRPL) was used to measure carrier lifetime in this research project, as it is a parameter of interest in photovoltaic devices. TRPL provides useful information about carrier recombination processes that follow charge carrier relaxation in semiconductors like CdTe. The observed lifetime (τ_{ob}) consists of radiative lifetime (τ_r) and non-radiative lifetime (τ_{nr}). The relationship between the lifetimes is given as ^{71, 72}

$$\frac{1}{\tau_{ob}} = \frac{1}{\tau_r} + \frac{1}{\tau_{nr}}$$
(2.32)

TRPL involves using a pulsed- or on/off-modulated light source for excitation at a given wavelength and then measuring and recording the resulting time profile of the PL. Most TRPL setups typically have a pulsed laser source for excitation and a photodiode, streak camera, or photomultiplier tube (PMT) for PL detection. There are several TRPL measurement techniques, but they all share similar a process of gaining excitation through a pulsed- or on/off-modulated light source and recording the PL while the excitation source is off.⁷³ Some of these techniques are time-correlated single photon counting (TCSPC), photoluminescence upconversion (PLU), and streak cameras. TCSPC is a relatively simple and versatile technique, making it one of the most widely used

TRPL techniques, but it can be limited by the resolution of the detector.⁷² The schematic diagram of a typical time-correlated single photon counting (TCSPC) TRPL system is shown in Figure 15. This technique is designed for detecting a single photon during each excitation pulse.



Figure 15. The schematic diagram of a typical TCSPC TRPL system.⁷⁴

For this project, TRPL was measured by time-correlated single photon detection at Dr. Holtz's laboratory at Texas State University as Dr. Sohal used a 640 nm or 430 nm pulsed laser, which focused on a spot size of about 800 μ m to give an injection level of $7x10^9$ photons/cm² for a pulse.

2.10 X-Ray Diffraction

XRD is ideally suited to probe crystal-lattice structures. Wave diffraction occurs when the dimensions of the diffracting object are of the same order of magnitude as the wavelength of the incident wave. A diffractometer consists of an X-ray tube in which an accelerated electron beam (up to 30 keV) impinges on a water-cooled copper target to generate the X-rays. The generated X-rays are filtered and aligned by using a monochromator.

Diffraction depends on the interference of waves originating from the same source but taking different paths to the same point. The difference in phase between waves is dependent only on the effective path length, neglecting the fact that waves arriving at the same point at the same time were emitted by the source at different times. Since the phases are time dependent, waves emitted by the source at times that are too far apart can no longer form a constant interference pattern. The length over which the phases correlate is referred to as coherence length. The path-length difference must be smaller than the coherence length before interference can occur.

Diffracted waves from different atoms can interfere with each other, and the intensity distribution depends on their interaction. Measuring the diffraction pattern provides information about the crystal-lattice structure. Diffracted waves give rise to peaks that correspond to the distribution of atoms in a material. The provision for diffraction to occur is given by Bragg's law

$$2d\sin\theta = n\lambda \tag{2.33}$$

where *d* is the interplanar distance for a given set of lattice planes, θ is the incident angle, λ is the wavelength of the X-ray, and *n* is an integer representing the order of the diffraction peak. This concept is illustrated in Figure 16. XRD measurements can yield useful information regarding II-VI semiconductors, such as crystalline phases, orientations, lattice parameters, strain, and grain size and thickness.



Figure 16. Schematic of diffraction of X-rays by a crystal.⁶⁴

2.11 Scanning Electron Microscopy

For structural characterization via SEM, electrons are emitted from a tungsten cathode and are focused into a narrow beam. The electron beam is deflected over a rectangular area of the specimen surface and transfers energy inelastically to the atomic electrons and to the lattice of the specimen, leading to scattering processes in which some electrons escape to the surface of the specimen. The escaped electrons are collected by a detector and amplified for the output signal. A photomultiplier tube is used to amplify the signal, and the output serves to modulate the intensity of a cathode ray tube. This characterization method is useful for determining surface topography and composition.

2.12 Spectral Ellipsometry

Ellipsometry is an optical technique that measures the output polarization of an elliptically polarized light when a linearly polarized light with known polarization is reflected or transmitted from a sample as shown in Figure 17. The change in this polarization is given as

$$\rho = \tan(\Psi)e^{i\Delta} \tag{2.34}$$

where Ψ is the amplitude ratio and Δ is the phase difference.



Figure 17. Spectral ellipsometry measurement showing the incident light that is linear with both p- and s- components and the reflected light whose p- and s- polarized light has gone through amplitude and phase changes.⁷⁵

This measured response is determined by the optical properties and the thickness of the sample. Ellipsometry can also be used to obtain information about composition, roughness, crystallinity, and other optical-related material properties.

Ellipsometry measurements for this study were performed with a variable angle spectroscopic ellipsometry (VASE) from J.A. Woollam Co., Inc. The measured data amplitude ratio, Ψ , and phase difference, Δ —was analyzed by generating a model that closely matches the measured data as presented in the analysis procedure flowchart in Figure 18. Regression analysis was used to find the best match between the experimental data and the model data. Mean square error was used to determine the magnitude of the difference between model data and experimental data. Material properties were then extracted from this analysis.

Model



Figure 18. Flowchart of VASE data analysis procedure.⁷⁵

2.13 Atom Probe Tomography

Atom Probe Tomography (APT) is a technique that analyzes a material's chemical composition at the atomic scale and presents the results in a three-dimensional (3D) image. Samples used in APT are prepared in needle shapes. In APT, surface atoms at the apex of needle-shaped samples are removed in succession through field evaporation. Either a high voltage pulse or laser pulse is superposed on a DC voltage supplied to the sample to cause ionization of the surface atoms, which is immediately followed by field evaporation. As shown in Figure 19, ions evaporated from this process are accelerated toward the position sensitive detector (PSD). The exact moment that the ion leaves the sample surface may be referred to as "start time" while the moment the ion reaches the detector may be referred to as "stop time." The information extrapolated from the "start time" and "stop time" is useful for determining time of flight, hence the

chemical nature of each atom. The relationship between total voltage applied ($V_{specimen}$) during the evaporation of an atom, the real distance (L) traveled by the ion to get to the detection system–referred to as "flight length"——the time of flight (t) of the atom, and the mass over charge ratio is given as ⁷⁶

$$\frac{m}{n} = 2eV_{specimen} \times \frac{t^2}{L^2}$$
(2.35)

The flight length is deduced from the relative XY position of the atom and the physical distance between the sample and the detector. The known location of an atom on the surface and the time of flight of this atom is used to identify the atom.





APT measurements for this project were carried out at the Colorado School of Mines with the aid of a laser-pulsed APT to make atomic, spatial, and chemical resolution measurements in order to analyze the location, uniformity, and concentration of impurity species in CdTe crystal.

2.14 Annealing Station

The annealing station used in this research consisted of a programmable, threezone tube furnace that can heat up to 1100 °C with a vacuum seal station as shown in Figure 20. Temperature measurements for each zone of the tube furnace were taken using a type K thermocouple to determine the real temperature. A vacuum seal station was set up to vacuum seal quartz ampoules before they were loaded into the furnace for temperature annealing. The vacuum system consists of a turbo-mechanical pump, liquid nitrogen trap, and nitrogen line. Quartz ampoules containing samples are loaded to the vacuum system through the ampoule adaptor and are sealed in vacuum-tight conditions with the use of a welding torch.



H₂-O₂Torch seal

Figure 20. Ampoule seal station setup at Texas State University.

The vacuum system is designed to achieve a pressure of about 5 x 10^6 Torr. Dry nitrogen was incorporated to allow the system to return to atmospheric pressure without becoming contaminated. The vacuum system ensures that the samples are free from

contamination before the annealing process, leading to optimum results in annealing studies. The two annealing studies for this project were dopant activation annealing studies and diffusion annealing studies.

3. MBE GROWTH OF CDTE AND CDTE ALLOYS FOR PHOTOVOLTAIC APPLICATION

3.1 Introduction

CdTe-based solar cells have improved tremendously in device performance in recent years. Efficiency records for polycrystalline CdTe solar cells are frequently broken, recently reaching 21% in 2014.⁷⁷ Yet, there are significant opportunities for improvement of this power conversion efficiency since the current value record remains at more than ten absolute percent below the predicted Shockley–Queisser limit. Power conversion efficiency (η) in solar cells is defined as the ratio of maximum power (P_{max}) compared to the input power (P_{in}) of the solar cell. This efficiency is given as

$$\eta = \frac{P_{max}}{P_{in}} \tag{3.1}$$

The quality of the solar cell is measured by a term called fill factor (*FF*), which can be derived from the current-voltage (I-V) relationship of a typical solar cell as shown in Figure 21. This I-V's characteristics depict short-circuit current (I_{sc}), open-circuit voltage (V_{oc}), P_{max} , current at maximum point (I_{MP}), voltage at maximum (V_{MP}) point, and theoretical power (P_T). I_{sc} is the current when there is no voltage flowing across the cell while V_{oc} is the voltage when there is no current passing through the cell circuit. I_{MP} is the maximum current at P_{max} while V_{MP} is the voltage at P_{max} .



Figure 21. I-V characteristics of a typical solar cell showing the maximum power (P_{max}) and theoretical power (P_T), which are used to determine fill factor (*FF*).⁷⁸

Fill factor is obtained from the ratio of maximum power (P_{max}) compared to the theorectical power (P_T) obtainable at short-circuit currents (I_{sc}) and open-circuit voltage (V_{oc}) as given below

$$FF = \frac{P_{max}}{P_T} = \frac{P_{max}}{I_{sc}V_{oc}}$$
(3.2)

From equation 3.2, an expressin for P_{max} can be derived as given below

$$P_{max} = I_{sc} V_{oc} FF \tag{3.3}$$

This expression for P_{max} can be substituted in equation 3.1 as given below

$$\eta = \frac{I_{sc}V_{oc}FF}{P_{in}} \tag{3.4}$$

Studies suggest that short-circuit current density (J_{sc}) is already close to the theoretical limit and that V_{oc} is the primary factor for why current power conversion efficiency is far below the predicted Shockley–Queisser power conversion efficiency limit. Improving V_{oc} becomes important to improving this efficiency. One basic strategy to raise V_{oc} is to improve the built-in voltage by increasing doping in the absorber layer,

but this strategy can lead to reduction in *FF* when doping exceeds a certain limit thereby affecting overall performance.⁵⁵ The other strategy to improve V_{oc} is through band-gap engineering, which leads to formation of heterostructures that provide carrier confinement in the absorber layer.

The band-gap energy of the material system used to confine the carriers to the photovoltaic absorber must have a band-gap energy that is higher than that of the material used for the photovoltaic absorber. The difference in the band-gap energies of these constituent material systems forming the heterostructure serve as a barrier that blocks thermally excited high-energy carriers. This band-engineered layer can be referred to as an electron reflector if it is designed for limiting electrons.

An electron reflector is a conduction-band energy barrier at the back surface of the solar cell that can reduce the recombination due to the electron flow to the back surface. This is an effective strategy to reduce voltage-limiting recombination at the back surface of the solar cell. A modest back reflector with 0.2 eV will lead to a significant increase of about 25% in the open-circuit voltage even with carrier lifetime as low as 10 ns as shown in Figure 22.⁷⁹



Figure 22. Voltage dependence on lifetime and back-electron barrier.⁷⁹

The major considerations for choosing the barrier layer for the absorber layer are^{80}

- 1. The lattice constant of the barrier layer must be similar to the lattice constant of the absorber layer.
- 2. The band-gap energy of the barrier layer must be different from the band-gap energy of the absorber layer.
- 3. Band alignment and offsets

Alloys with Zn and Mg are potential candidates. MgTe and CdTe appear to be the most reasonable alloy combination to form a barrier for CdTe. Figure 23 shows the relationship between band-gap energy and the lattice constant for some semiconductor elements and compounds.



Figure 23. A diagram of experimentally measured band gaps vs. lattice constants of common semiconductors. Solid and dashed lines represent direct and indirect band-gap alloys, respectively.⁸⁰

MgTe has the closest lattice constant and a reasonable, higher band gap compared with CdTe among these candidates. ZnTe has a lower band-gap energy and a much smaller lattice constant than MgTe when considered for CdTe-based barrier layers. As shown in Figure 24, CdTe/CdMgTe heterojunction forms type-I heterojunction, which will reflect both electrons and holes, while a CdTe/CdZnTe heterojunction is predicted to form type-II heterojunction, which would reflect electrons while assisting in hole transport.⁸¹


Figure 24. Band alignment of CdTe/CdMgTe (Type I) and CdTe/CdZnTe (Type II) heterojunctions.

The lattice mismatch between MgTe and CdTe was found to be as small as 1.0% ,³¹ whereas the lattice mismatch between ZnTe and CdTe is approximately 5.8%, making the CdTe/CdZnTe interface more susceptible to strain-induced electronic defect states, hence, making it have more surface recombination velocity than the CdTe/CdMgTe interface.⁸² Also, CdMgTe provides the largest increase in band gap for the same corresponding change in composition as shown in Figure 25; therefore, CdMgTe was chosen as the barrier material for the design of the structures studied in this research project.



Figure 25. Composition dependence of energy band gap of $Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe^{83}$ and $Cd_{1-x}Zn_xTe^{.84}$

To study how doping and band-gap engineering influence solar cell efficiency, different CdTe-based structures were grown via MBE on InSb, CdTe, and CdZnTe substrates with different crystal orientation, primarily (100) and (211) B orientations, while varying growth conditions, such as growth temperature, flux ratios, layer thickness, and layer structure, to optimize CdTe properties for photovoltaic applications. Properties of undoped CdTe were studied to serve as a baseline so that the impact of doping could be better interpreted in the MBE-grown structures.

3.2 Substrate Preparation

One of the most important ingredient for successful MBE growth is the substrate and its surface. The surface of the substrate has direct influence on the arrangement of the adsorbed atoms during MBE growth. Typical as-received substrates usually have surface contaminants, which can later become nucleation sites for defects during growth, hence there is need to prepare the substrate for MBE growth.

3.2.1 InSb substrate

The challenge of achieving structural perfection with commercially available CdTe substrates has prompted the use of other substrates to grow CdTe layers.^{85, 86} One such substrate is InSb. Several research groups have demonstrated MBE growth of high-quality, (100)-oriented CdTe on InSb substrates.⁸⁷⁻⁸⁹ InSb is an attractive substrate choice for the growth of CdTe structures because the lattice mismatch between CdTe and InSb is small at about 0.05%.

Thermal annealing and InSb buffer growth are the two processes used in this project to prepare InSb substrates for the growth of CdTe structures. Wood et al.⁸⁹ show that inclusion of an InSb buffer enhanced the quality of the CdTe layer. Samples grown on epilayer-ready InSb substrates in this project started with InSb buffer layers of about 500 nm grown in the Sb-based chamber at a growth temperature of about 410 °C. After growth, the buffer-deposited substrate was then transferred in-situ to the II-VI chamber via the buffer chambers.

Once in the II-VI chamber, the InSb buffer-deposited substrate was preheated under Sb flux for about ten minutes at an elevated temperature of 620 °C in order to desorb the oxide that might have bound to the surface during the process of transfer. This thermal annealing yielded a smooth surface that is believed to be characteristic of the stoichiometric condition.⁹⁰ The RHEED reconstructions characteristic of a Sb-stabilized surface—the pseudo- (1×3) pattern—were observed after the heat treatment.

3.2.2 CdTe and CdZnTe substrates

3.2.2.1 Substrate polishing

There is need for substrate-surface preparation in II-VI material prior to MBE growth because II-VI substrates are not truly epilayer ready. As-received CdTe substrates usually have a rough surface with polishing damage within 10 µm in depth from the surface resulting in a need for re-polishing to get rid of polishing damage to achieve good crystal growth, thereby improving device performance. As-received substrates were degreased by soaking them in TCE for five minutes at 70 °C, followed by a five-minute soak in acetone at 70 °C, a five-minute soak in methanol at 70 °C, and then another five-minute soak in methanol at 70 °C. This sample-degrease step was followed by either a chemical etching process or a chemo-mechanical polish, which is a chemical etch coupled with either hand polishing or semi-automated polishing.

The initial phase of this study adopted etching as the sole method of preparing sample substrates. Later, the sample preparation process transitioned to hand polishing and, then, to semi-automated polishing (SAP). The etching procedure was carried out by etching as-received substrates in a bromine-methanol (0.5% bromine) solution for five minutes followed by a methanol rinse for about five to ten seconds, then they were dipped in a methanol solution for one minute followed by a methanol rinse for about five

to ten seconds. The methanol dip step was repeated again, and the sample was blow dried and followed by a deionized (DI) water rinse for five minutes where DI water was allowed to flow from the faucet and impinged on the surface as shown in Figure 26. This step was followed by etching the substrate in a hydrochloric acid (HCl)-DI water (10% HCl) solution for five minutes to remove oxide then exposing it to a DI water impingement again for five minutes. The etched sample was then blown dry to complete the etching process.



Figure 26. Schematic of how deionized water impinges on sample surface to remove surface contaminants.

In a typical hand-polishing process, as-received substrate is degreased and mounted on a 3-inch diameter, 0.25-inch thick quartz disc with a minimal amount of indium to avoid indium exposure around the outer edges of the substrate. A polishing pad made of poromeric base material is mounted on a 6-inch diameter optical flat disc and then saturated with methanol, which is followed by a 0.5% bromine-methanol solution wet. Then, the surface of the degreased substrate is moved over the polishing pad under the flow of a 0.5% bromine-methanol solution for a specific duration so that uniform surface polishing is achieved. The pad is then quenched with a copious amount of methanol, and the substrate is rinsed with methanol to remove bromine remnants. The polishing procedure is followed by a five-minute direct flow of DI water to remove any leftover contaminants at the surface. The sample is then blown dry with filtered nitrogen.

The SAP process, unlike the hand-polishing process, involved using a spinner to carry out the polishing task of the etch-and-polish process. Prior to polishing, as-received substrate was degreased by dipping it into trichloroethylene (TCE), acetone, and methanol for ten minutes each at ~85 °C. Degreased substrate was etched by placing it into a dipping basket, then it was dipped into a bromine-methanol (0.5% vol) solution for five minutes. The bromine-methanol etched substrate is thoroughly rinsed using the squirt bottle then dipped into methanol for two minutes to complete the etching step. To begin the polishing step, the spin speed of the spinner is set to 100 rpm while its acceleration is set to 20 rpm, and methanol is used to wet the polishing pad. Using the spinner to spin the substrates under the flow etchants, substrates underwent a brief chemi-mechanical polish with a 250 ml methanol for one minute. The polished samples were then rinsed in a methanol solution for two minutes followed by a five-minute deionized-water rinse, after which they were blown dry with nitrogen.

3.2.2.2 Atomic Hydrogen cleaning

Atomic hydrogen cleaning has been demonstrated to be efficient in removing oxide from the surface of substrates for the growth of II-VI semiconductors.^{91, 92} An atomic hydrogen cleaning procedure followed the chemo-mechanical polish procedure as described in section 3.2.2.1. Prior to the atomic hydrogen cleaning procedure, polished substrates were mounted on a sample holder (either with indium on a molybdenum block

59

or without indium on a Si wafer using an indium-free mask). Mounted substrates were then placed in the load-lock chamber of the MBE system. The load-lock chamber is baked for about two hours and pumped down with a scroll pump to $\leq 10^{-6}$ Torr before the substrate is transferred to the atomic-hydrogen cleaning chamber. The atomic-hydrogen cleaning chamber is equipped with a molecular hydrogen source and a high-temperature gas cracker. The gas cracker is used to crack molecular hydrogen to atomic hydrogen. Atomic hydrogen cleaning of CdTe and CdZnTe substrates was achieved by exposing substrates to the flow of atomic hydrogen with BEP of about $2x10^{-6}$ Torr for about thirty minutes at a substrate temperature of ~200 °C. The atomic-hydrogen cleaned substrate is then transferred into the molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) growth chamber via an ultrahigh vacuum buffer chamber.

3.3 Growth Process

During the MBE growth process, growth of epitaxial layers occurs through the reaction between constituent atoms arriving at the substrate surface and the heated substrate surface. Many surface processes occur during MBE growth. As shown in Figure 27, some of these surface processes are: (1) adsorption of impinging atoms, (2) surface migration of adsorbed atoms (also known as adatoms), (3) lattice incorporation of atoms, and (4) thermal desorption of species that fail to incorporate into crystal lattice. These processes depend on factors such as the type of atoms, the substrate, and the temperature of the substrate, all of which are ultimately responsible for the growth of thin layers on the substrate and its quality. Hence, just as surface preparation is important, understanding and controlling growth parameters, such as temperature, growth rate, and

60

Cd overpressure, become vital to growing structures with good material properties successfully.



Figure 27. Schematic diagram showing some of the surface processes in MBE epitaxial growth.⁶⁴

3.3.1 Growth rate calibration

Understanding the stoichiometry of the incident beams and substrate temperatures are useful for the control of thickness,⁹³ and defect formation,⁶⁰ in growing CdTe layers. Controlling substrate temperature becomes one of the most important task for the MBE grower.⁹⁴ Substrate temperature has the ability to influence some of the MBE growth process such as the rate at which atoms diffuse at the surface of the substrate and desorb. RHEED technique can be used to probe these surface processes. In this project, RHEED oscillations were used to determine the growth rate of CdTe from MBE growth process. The behavior of the CdTe growth rate as a function of temperature and Cd flux were studied.

For this project, growth rate experiments were performed under similar conditions. By using the same growth conditions, results can be accurately compared over time. To measure the growth rate of CdTe, a layer of at least 500 nm-thick CdTe was first deposited under Cd overpressure condition and fixed substrate growth temperature in order to have a smooth surface before starting the RHEED measurement. After achieving a smooth surface as indicated by a streaky RHEED pattern, the CdTe molecular beam, at a fixed substrate temperature, was interrupted briefly by closing the mechanical shutter for few seconds while the Cd molecular beam was not interrupted. Then, the RHEED oscillation measurement started, and the shutter of the CdTe cell was opened after few seconds of starting the RHEED oscillation measurement. The resulting RHEED intensity measurement, using the specular spot, showed RHEED signal intensity oscillations of the growing layer as a function of time. This signal intensity's oscillations generated over a period of time—usually not more than sixty seconds—typically have more than fifteen periods before damping out as shown in Figure 28. The growth rate in monolayer per second (ML/s) is then determined by simply counting the number of undampened oscillations and averaging the oscillations over time.



Figure 28. Typical RHEED oscillations for CdTe growth on CdTe (100).

The growth temperature and the fluxes of the constituent material were optimized to generate high-intensity oscillations. RHEED oscillations were then used to measure growth rate as a function of Cd flux as shown in Figure 29. In this experiment, the substrate temperature on InSb (100) substrate was fixed at ~290 °C, and CdTe flux was fixed at ~6.6x10⁻⁷ Torr while Cd flux was varied as a fraction of the fixed CdTe flux. Cd flux was monitored to ensure minimal fluctuation during the experiment, and growth rate measurements were taken for different Cd fluxes. As shown in Figure 29, the growth rate increased linearly with Cd flux increase up until a Cd/CdTe ratio of 0.2 but becomes nearly fixed for Cd/CdTe flux ratios between 0.2 and 0.3. No RHEED oscillations were observed when the Cd/CdTe flux ratio was increased to ~0.4. The point where the dependence of growth rate on Cd flux changes from a near-linear-dependent relationship to a near-independent relationship, which is indicated in Figure 29, is considered the

stoichiometric point.⁹⁵ This point, which occur around ~0.2 Cd/CdTe flux ratio in this experiment, characterizes the transition from the (2x1) Te-rich to the c(2x2) Cd-rich surface.



Figure 29. CdTe growth rate as a function of Cd flux at ~290 °C substrate temperature.

Also, growth rate was determined at various substrate temperatures in order to derive the temperature window for CdTe growth processes as shown in Figure 30. These measurements were performed on a regular basis over a period of time using CdTe (100) and InSb (100) substrates. During a typical growth rate versus temperature, CdTe was fixed at ~6x10⁻⁷ Torr and the Cd/CdTe ratio at ~0.2, while the temperature was varied.



Figure 30. Growth rate vs. temperature of CdTe growth on InSb (100) and CdTe (100) substrates.

Three regimes were observed in all the growth rate experiments performed. These regimes are labelled A, B, and C in the growth rate-temperature profile as shown in Figure 30. In regime A, the growth rate was limited by surface reaction such as surface roughening and fast nucleation. Typically, no RHEED oscillations were observed in this regime. For regime B, growth rate was limited by diffusion or mass transfer across the boundary. Here, growth rate depended on the flow of the source materials impinging on the substrate surface and the diffusion coefficient of these source materials. In this regime, growth rate was nearly constant over a wide range of temperature, which is considered the growth temperature window. This is mostly the desired regime for good

quality growth because there is control of growth rate and temperature sensitivity is minimized. For regime C, growth rate was limited by crystal decomposition. In this regime, desorption is approximately the same as deposition, hence no growth occurs.

The growth temperature window from regime B was used to guide the substrate temperature choice throughout this project. When growth temperatures fall in regime A, growth layers will lose their crystallinity, and for growth temperatures that fall within regime C, almost all the deposited atoms will desorb and growth will not occur. Also, point defect formation was enhanced. In this study, for CdTe with Cd overpressure, the observed growth temperature window for regime B was from ~220 °C to ~300 °C, and the growth rate for the growth temperature window was ~0.4 ML/s. The observations made in this project were comparable with studies of other research groups.^{60, 93, 96}

Prior to each growth rate experiment, temperature calibration experiments were performed. Temperature calibrations were used to measure and account for substrate temperature drift, which is a major problem with MBE since the thermocouple that is meant to monitor the substrate temperature is usually not in thermal contact with the substrate holder because of the substrate rotation requirement needed for compositional uniformity of grown layers.⁹⁷ Temperature calibrations were carried out regularly to ensure that experiments were properly controlled. Techniques, such as In melting, InSb melting, Pb melting, and RHEED oscillations with high and low cut-off points, were used for temperature-calibration experiments.

For indium-melting experiments, small pieces of indium were mounted on samples, and indium melting was visually inspected as the II-VI MBE system dial temperature gradually increased. The dial temperature at which the indium piece melted

66

visually was recorded, and the difference between this visually inspected melting point and the actual melting point of indium, which is 156 °C, was determined to be the primary deviation from the actual temperature. The temperature difference was then applied to subsequent dial temperatures to determine the "real" substrate temperatures. In addition to this indium-melting experiment, InSb melting was determined with the same visual method used for the indium-melting experiment, and the visually inspected melting point was compared to the actual melting point of InSb, which is 525 °C. These temperature calibrations were used to determine "real" temperatures for RHEED oscillation cut-off points for CdTe film grown on InSb (100) that was mounted on a molybdenum block. These cut-off points refer to the temperatures where there is no longer RHEED oscillations during RHEED-oscillation measurements at varying temperatures. The lower temperature limit (T_L) refers to a low temperature cut-off point, while the upper temperature limit (T_H) refers to the high cut-off point of the RHEED oscillations. From these calibrations, "real" T_L and T_H were determined to be 229 °C and 395 °C, respectively.

Temperature calibrations were also performed for CdTe film grown on CdTe (100) that was mounted with an In-free mask. Substrate dial temperatures for In-melting, Pb-melting, T_L , and T_H were compared to "real" temperatures as presented in Table 7. As shown in Figure 31, a linear relationship is observed between substrate dial temperature and the "real" substrate temperature.

0	× /	
Method	Real temperature (°C)	Substrate dial temperature (°C)
In melting	156	228
Pb melting	327.5	422
RHEED T _L	229	287
RHEED T _H	395	455

Table 7. Comparison of real temperature to substrate dial temperature for CdTe film grown on CdTe (100) that was mounted with an In-free mask.



Figure 31. Real temperature vs Substrate dial temperature.

The linear equation derived from the relationship between the real temperature and measured dial temperature is given as

$$y = 1.0117x + 67.879 \tag{3.5}$$

Where y is the dial temperature and x is real temperature in degrees Celsius. To have an expression for the real temperature, the linear equation can be rearranged as

$$x = \frac{y - 67.879}{1.0117} \tag{3.6}$$

3.3.2 Migration enhanced epitaxy

Migration enhanced epitaxy (MEE) is a pulse technique consisting of supplying reactant species to the substrate surface in order to smoothen it before growth. In MEE growth, constituent elements are timed and alternated for a specific number of deposition cycle. In MEE growth for this project, the Cd shutter was opened so that the substrate surface was exposed to Cd flux for sixty seconds in order to produce a Cd-stable surface. After this sixty seconds, the CdTe shutter is opened for three seconds for CdTe exposure and closed for sixty seconds before it opens again while the Cd shutter is left open for constant Cd exposure all through the MEE process. The opening of the CdTe shutter and the expiration of the sixty seconds of dead time before the next CdTe exposure is considered a complete cycle. Typically, the MEE process consist of many cycles of CdTe exposure, and it is performed with regular growth conditions. MEE growth experiments results studied with AFM suggest that ~20 to 50 cycles is sufficient to have a smooth starting surface for CdTe MBE growth. The typical MEE layer is ~10 to 20 nm thick.

InSb substrates and atomic-hydrogen cleaned CdTe and CdZnTe substrates were preheated at temperatures above the growth temperature in order to desorb oxide that might be present at the surface prior to this MEE growth. Epitaxial-layer growth followed this MEE growth.

69

3.3.3 MBE growth of CdTe

During MBE growth, atoms are adsorbed onto the surface of the substrate where they can locate a nucleation center, form a nucleation center, or desorb. Information from RHEED in the form of surface reconstruction, which provides information about adsorbtion and desorption activities, is useful for making decisions about adjusting growth conditions to achieve structures of good quality.

MBE growth of CdTe (100) under stoichiometric conditions results in a (2x1) surface reconstruction. Under this condition, it is believed that the surface of the CdTe layer is rich in Te atoms,^{60, 93, 95} which are weakly bound to the surface.⁶⁰ These weakly bound Te atoms can lead to defect formation in growing CdTe layers but can be controlled by the use of Cd overpressure.⁶⁰ Also, the effect of interfacial reaction in the growth of CdTe/InSb heterostructures, which leads to Cd deficiency, may be reduced by overpressure.⁹⁸

Based on the growth rate experiments described in section 3.3.1, the Cd overpressure needed to achieve quality growth is approximately 20% of the CdTe flux. Growth rate for most of the grown structures was maintained at 0.4 ML/s to ensure reproducibility. Based on the observation of growth rate experiments, a range from 240 °C to 270 °C was established as the substrate temperature, which is where optimal growth is achieved. Usually, most growth was planned and performed at 240 °C, but adjustments were made in some cases depending on the feedback from the RHEED pattern.

70

3.3.4 MBE growth of CdTe alloys

Alloying in this project was used to achieve different purposes. CdMgTe, CdSeTe, and CdZnTe alloys were grown to achieve electron confinement, lattice matching, and As doping, respectively.

CdMgTe is expected to be more effective in confining thermally excited highenergy carriers than CdZnTe, thereby serving as a more effective barrier layer in CdTe. Schematic diagrams for a CdTe/MgCdTe single heterostructure and double heterostructure are shown in Figures 32 and 33.



Figure 32. CdTe/MgCdTe single heterostructure.



Figure 33. CdTe/MgCdTe double heterostructure.

The barrier layers are expected to prevent the carriers from leaving the absorber layer; however, carriers confined in the single heterostructure can still escape from the bottom side of the absorber layer since this side is not passivated with the CdMgTe layer. The double heterostucture is more effective in confining these carriers since both the top and the bottom side of the absorber layer are passivated with the CdMgTe surface. The CdTe cap layer is used to protect the Mg in the top barrier from oxidation. The band diagram of this CdTe/MgCdTe DH structure is shown in Figure 34 with the recombination mechanisms involved.



Figure 34. Schematic band-edge diagram for the CdTe/MgCdTe DH structure.⁸⁰

Surface recombination, radiative recombination, Shockley-Read-Hall (SRH) recombination, and interface recombination are all expected to be present in the DHs. The expected lifetime of the carrier in this structure is given as ⁹⁹

$$\frac{1}{\tau_{eff}} = \frac{1}{\tau_{rad}} + \frac{1}{\tau_{SRH}} + \frac{2S}{d}$$
(3.7)

where τ_{eff} is the effective lifetime, τ_{rad} is the lifetime due to the radiative process, τ_{SRH} is the lifetime due to SRH process, *S* is the interface recombination velocity, and *d* is the absorber layer thickness.

The effect of CdTe/CdMgTe lattice mismatch was minimized by carefully designing the Mg composition in CdMgTe. In addition, the thickness of the CdMgTe was carefully designed to ensure that the thickness beyond which misfit dislocations are generated—known as critical layer thickness—was not exceeded for the chosen Mg composition. The thicknesses of the CdMgTe barrier layers was maintained at 30 nm for most of the grown heterostructures based on the critical thickness of the CdTe/ Cd₁. _xMg_xTe layer estimated using x~35%, being the optimal x value used in this project. This critical layer thickness was determined using the Matthews and Blakeslee model,¹⁰⁰ and

was estimated to be around 37 nm for the CdTe/Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te layer, which has about 0.34% mismatch. The thicknesses of the buffers and absorbers were varied in order to study the impact of their thicknesses on the properties of the grown structures.

In order to lattice match CdTe with the InSb buffer layer on InSb substrates, a small composition of selenium was used to alloy the CdTe. CdTe structures grown on InSb began with a buffer layer of InSb grown in a dedicated III-Sb MBE chamber, followed by a buffer of $CdSe_xTe_{1-x}$, which had a small composition of $x\sim1\%$ selenium in order to assume a full lattice match with the InSb.⁶⁸ For the purpose of Arsenic doping enhancement in CdTe, the Zn composition of about 4% in Cd_{1-x}Zn_xTe was used to alloy CdTe. These Cd_{1-x}Zn_xTe structures were grown on Cd_{1-x}Zn_xTe substrates.

3.4 Post-Growth Characterization

After MBE growth, grown CdTe based structures were characterized by various techniques. The results were analyzed for gaining understanding useful in improving the efficiency of CdTe-based photovoltaics while adding to the general knowledge of CdTe for other applications. The structural quality of grown structures was analyzed with cPL to analyze their defect densities. AFM was used as a quick and additional analytical technique to test structural quality, mainly providing information about the surface roughness.

- 3.4.1 Structural characterization cPL and AFM
- 3.4.1.1 Substrate preparation study
- 3.4.1.1.1 InSb substrates

CdTe-based layers grown on (100)-oriented InSb were studied using confocal PL. Twin-related defects were observed in these CdTe layers. The density of these twinrelated defects range from low 10^4 cm⁻² to high 10^6 cm⁻². and the background dislocation defect is usually not more than ~ 10^5 cm⁻². Typical confocal PL results for CdTe layers grown on an InSb substrate are shown in Figure 35. CdTe layers grown on an InSb substrate can show relaxation when the CdTe layer thickness exceeds the critical layer thickness (~2.95 µm for CdTe layers grown on an (100)-oriented InSb)¹⁰¹ due to the lattice-match imperfection between CdTe and InSb.



Figure 35. Confocal PL micrograph of a 2 μ m thick CdTe/CdMgTe DH grown on (100)-oriented InSb substrate.

Relaxation was visibly noticed in a c-PL image of a CdTe/CdMgTe double heterostructure with a total thickness of 3 μ m and a defect density ~1x10⁶ cm⁻² as shown in Figure 36 where the dark-line defects represent misfit dislocations, and the dark-spots defects represent twin-related defects. Generally, misfit dislocations were observed in all CdTe layers grown above the critical layer thickness.



Figure 36. Confocal PL micrograph of a 3 μ m thick CdTe/CdMgTe DH grown on (100)-oriented InSb substrate.

Since CdTe and InSb are not perfectly lattice-matched, Se composition of ~1% in $CdTe_{1-x}Se_x$ alloy was used to achieve a lattice-match condition in growing quality epitaxial CdTe layers, especially in layers where the total thickness exceed 2 μ m. A typical Se-alloyed CdTe grown in the double heterostructure configuration with 5 μ m absorbing layer, shown in figure 37, had a low overall defect density averaging 1×10^4 cm⁻² and did not show evidence of relaxation.



Figure 37. Confocal PL micrograph of a 6.5 µm CdSeTe/CdMgTe double heterostructure grown on (100)-oriented InSb substrate.

3.4.1.1.2 CdTe substrates

As-received CdTe samples usually have rough surfaces due to polishing damage within 10 μ m depth from the surface, hence the need for re-polishing to get rid of this polishing damage in order to able to achieve good crystal growth ultimately improving device performance. The effects of the polishing procedure outlined in section 3.2.2.1 were studied. Epilayers grown on substrates that were not polished but simply etched per vendors' procedure show a defect density at around mid-10⁷ cm⁻² or larger.

Surface preparation techniques, such as atomic-hydrogen cleaning, MEE, and brief flux exposure before growth, were applied to some of these samples, but these techniques were not enough to keep the defect density below 10^7 cm⁻². The effect of migration-enhanced epitaxy (MEE) was studied in these samples. MEE was applied to passivate the surface of z-218 and z-228, but it was not applied to z-219 and z-226. As

shown in Figure 38, the cPL imaging of the defect density suggests that migrationenhanced epitaxy helps growth initiation, but it is not enough to keep the defect density below 10^7 cm⁻². The effect of substrate polishing on defect density was also studied.



Figure 38. cPL images showing defect density $> 3x10^7$ cm⁻². Samples were etched in a bromine-methanol solution and grown at 300°C. Z-218 was etched with 0.5% brmethanol, exposed to tellurium flux before MEE and grown with 10% Cd overpressure. Z-219 was etched with 0.5% Br-methanol, exposed to tellurium flux before growth with no MEE, and grown with 10% Cd overpressure. Z-226 was etched with 1% Br-methanol, exposed to tellurium flux before growth with no MEE, and grown with 10% Cd overpressure. Z-228 was etched with 1% Br-methanol, exposed to tellurium flux before MEE, and grown with 10% Cd overpressure.



Figure 39. (a) Substrate was etched prior CdTe growth. Defect density $> 1x10^7$ cm⁻². (b) Substrate was hand-polished prior CdTe growth. Defect density $- 1x10^6$ cm⁻² to $1x10^7$ cm⁻². (c) Substrate semi-automatically polished prior CdTe growth. Defect density $< 1x10^6$ cm⁻².

Figure 39 shows a comparison of samples that were grown with identical procedures but differ in substrate-preparation technique: standard Br-methanol etching, hand polishing, and semi-automated polish techniques. The cPL micrograh shows lower defect density with samples grown with hand-polished substrates with one order of magnitude. This polishing process was modified by making the hand-polishing process a

semi-automatic one with the use of a spinner in order to improve the uniformity of the surface polish.

The effect of polishing time was studied in CdTe substrates where substrates were polished for different durations of time. The polishing times that were considered in this study are one minute, two minutes, and three minutes. AFM and cPL images of samples z-240 to z-243 as shown in Figures 40 and 41, respectively, show low surface roughness RMS values for both samples and a higher defect density for z-240 as presented in Table 8, suggesting that a polishing time of two minutes is more effective than a one-minute polish.



Figure 40. Sample z-240 has 3×10^6 cm⁻² defect density. Hand polished for 1 minutes.



Figure 41. Sample z-243 has 1.5×10^6 cm⁻² defect density. Hand-polished for two minutes.

Table 8. Comparison of polishing time, RMS values, and defect densities in samples that were polished prior to CdTe growth.

Sample	Polishing	RMS value determined	Defect density determined
number	time	by AFM (nm)	by cPL ($/cm^2$)
Z240	1 minute	0.84	3E6
Z243	2 minute	2.1	1.5E6

An improved polishing technique for the CdTe substrate surface reduced the dislocation content to the mid- 10^5 cm⁻² as shown in Figure 42, and defect density below 10^6 cm⁻² was reproducibly achieved in most CdTe and CdZnTe substrates



Figure 42. Confocal PL micrograph of a CdTe layer grown on (100)-oriented CdTe substrate with a dislocation density of mid- 10^5 cm⁻².

3.4.1.2 Growth initiation study

There are several steps involved in initiating the MBE growth of CdTe. Pre-growth annealing is one of the growth-initiation processes that is necessary for the MBE growth of II-VI compounds in order to remove oxides and carbon contaminants that might have contaminated the surface of the substrate while moving the substrate through the buffer chamber or simply as it existed after the atomic-hydrogen cleaning of the sample surface. Samples were treated with different pre-growth annealing temperatures while other growth parameters were kept unchanged. Sample z-275 was preheated to 300 °C while sample z-274 was pre-heated to 325 °C and z-276 to 400 °C. The AFM and cPL images are shown in Figures 43, 44, and 45 for a comparison of defect densities. This study suggests that a pre-heat temperature of 50 °C above the growth temperature provides reasonable lower defect density when compared to other pre-heating temperatures studied.



Figure 43. AFM and cPL images of sample z-274. Sample was heated at 325 °C for ten minutes prior to growth and was grown at 250 °C.



Figure 44. AFM and cPL images of sample z-275. Sample was heated at 300 °C for ten minutes prior to the growth and grown at 250 °C.



Figure 45. AFM and cPL images of sample z-276. Sample was heated at 400 °C for ten minutes prior to growth and was grown at 250 °C.

The effect of exposing the sample to Cd flux or Te flux during pre-growth annealing was studied and compared to a sample where pre-growth annealing was done without exposing either Cd or Te flux. The pre-growth annealing in all these three samples (z-243, z-246, z-247) was completed at 50 °C above growth temperature but had a different flux (Cd or Te) exposure condition during these pre-growth anneals. All other growth conditions were the same for these three samples. The AFM images and corresponding cPL images of theses samples are presented in Figures 46, 47, and 48 and Table 9.



Figure 46. AFM and cPL images of sample z-243. Sample annealed with neither Cd nor Te flux exposure prior to growth.



Figure 47. AFM and cPL images of sample z-246. Sample annealed with Te flux exposure prior to growth.



Figure 48. AFM and cPL images of sample z-247. Sample annealed with Cd flux exposure prior to growth. There is evidence of twinning defect in cPL image.

Table 9. Comparison of samples with different flux exposure conditions during pregrowth annealing.

Sample	Flux condition	RMS value	Defect density
number	during pre-growth	determined by AFM	determined by cPL
	annealing	(nm)	$(/cm^2)$
Z243	no flux	2.1	1.5E6
Z246	Te flux	1.1	4E6
Z247	Cd flux	1.2	4E9

Pre-growth annealing studies was extended to CdTe/CdMgTe single heterostructures (SH). Z-269 was annealed with Cd flux while z-270 was annealed without any flux. The AFM and cPL images of sample z-269 and z-270 are shown in Figures 49 and 50. The cPL image of sample z-269 shows high twin-like defect density while the cPL image of z-270 shows reasonable defect density that is comparable to samples previously annealed without any flux exposure but with less MEE cycles. Comparison of samples z-243 and z-270 suggest that fifty cycles of MEE is sufficient to meet the MEE requirement of the growth optimization procedure.



Figure 49. AFM and cPL images of sample z-269. Sample annealed with Cd flux exposure prior to growth.



Figure 50. AFM and cPL images of sample z-270. Sample annealed with neither Cd nor Te flux exposure prior to growth.

The sample annealed without Cd or Te flux has lower defect density than the samples annealed under either Cd or Te flux during the pre-growth annealing. This study suggests that group II or VI exposure during pre-growth annealing seems to be ineffective.

3.4.1.3 Growth parameters optimization study

To corroborate the initial RHEED experiment, the study of Cd over pressure during CdTe growth in three CdTe substrates that were hand polished under the same polishing conditions suggests that 20% Cd over pressure in CdTe growth lead to a less defective structure than 10% and 40% Cd over pressures. CdTe layers were deposited on these substrates for four hours with different Cd/CdTe ratios. Figure 51 shows the AFM images for 0%, 10%, 20%, and 40% Cd/CdTe ratios. The root mean square of the surface roughness for these ratios are 3.9 nm, 3.2 nm, 0.84 nm, and 3.9 nm, respectively. Varying Cd backgrounds over pressure while growing CdTe gives smooth sample surfaces, especially with 20% Cd overpressure, which yielded the lowest surface roughness RMS and a low defect density count as reported in Table 10.



Figure 51. AFM images of CdTe samples grown at different Cd overpressure rates.

	<u> </u>		1
Sample	Cd/CdTe ratio	RMS value determined	Defect density determined
number	(%)	by AFM (nm)	by cPL (/cm ²)
Z238	0	3.9	6E6
Z239	10	3.2	-
Z240	20	0.84	3E6
Z249	40	3.9	

Table 10. Comparison of samples with different Cd/CdTe ratios.
3.4.2 Optical characterization – photoluminescence and TRPL

For optical studies, double heterostructures of CdMgTe/CdTe, where CdTe is placed between two CdMgTe barrier layers to passivate the CdTe surface on both sides, and single heterostructures of CdZnTe, CdZnSe and CdMgTe were analyzed. The normalized PL efficiency of undoped CdTe/CdMgTe double heterostructure (DH) is compared to that of single heterostructures (SH) as shown in Figure 52. Normalized PL efficiency was achieved by dividing the PL signal by the excitation intensity. CdMgTe barriers have an order of magnitude higher PL efficiency than CdZnTe and CdSeTe barriers, which is similar to the report of Seyedmohammadi et al.⁸² where CdTe/CdMgTe double heterostructures are shown to have a higher PL intensity than CdTe/CdZnTe double heterostructures. Also, DHs have at least two orders of magnitude higher PL efficiency than the SHs.



Figure 52. The normalized PL efficiency of single-sided barriers (SH), two-sided CdMgTe barriers (DH) on CdTe substrates, and DH growth on InSb substrates. The buffer layer thickness (μ m), the absorber layer thickness (μ m), and the resulting trap density (10^{10} cm⁻²) are indicated for each DH.¹⁰²



Figure 53. PLI for CdTe/CdMgTe DHs and SHs grown on InSb and CdTe substrates with various Mg concentration. ASU AlGaAs/GaAs and Motorola AlGaAs/GaAs are reference samples. Sample z435 is a DH grown on (100)-oriented CdTe substrate while samples z277, z278, z292, z296, and z306 are DHs grown on (211)-oriented CdTe substrate. Samples z274, z275, z276, and z291 are SHs grown on (211)-oriented CdTe substrate. Samples z334, z338, and MBE 384 (grown at First Solar Inc.) are DHs grown on (100)-oriented InSb substrate while sample z335 is a DH grown on (211)-oriented InSb substrate.

For this project, PLI of SH and DH structures were compared for different

substrates (CdTe and InSb) and different orientations (100 and 211) as shown in Figure

53. The PLI of DHs grown on a (100)-oriented CdTe substrate seems to be at least $\sim 2x$

higher in PLI than layers grown on (211)-oriented CdTe substrates while DHs grown on

(100)-oriented InSb substrates produced ~1.1x higher PLI than layers grown on (211)oriented InSb substrates. In general, CdTe/CdMgTe DHs grown on InSb substrates have ~3x higher PLI than DHs of a similar structure grown on CdTe substrates due to the decreased number of dislocation defects in structures grown on InSb as quantified by cPL. Also, PLI of structures with thicker buffer layers show slightly higher PL intensity than samples with a similar structure but with thinner buffer layers because thicker buffer layers are inclined to reduce interfacial trap density.

To examine the influence of Mg content on PLI, Mg content in CdTe/Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe DHs grown on (100)-oriented InSb substrates varied from 0.23 *x* value to 0.46 *x* value, and samples with approximately 0.35 *x* value yielded the highest PL intensity as shown in Figure 54. It is noted that the PL intensity for x~0.28 to x~0.35 is comparable. The critical layer thickness of Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te was estimated based on the Matthews and Blakeslee model to be around 37 nm.¹⁰⁰ Subsequently, CdMgTe/CdTe double heterostructures were designed with bottom and top barrier thicknesses of 30 nm. Growth temperature and growth initiation parameters at this Mg composition were further determined to gain higher PL intensity and less dislocation density in CdTe/CdMgTe structures.



Figure 54. PLI for CdTe/CdMgTe DH grown on (100)-oriented InSb substrates with various Mg concentration.

PLI and TRPL lifetime depend on surface (or bulk) recombination. As shown in Figure 55, lifetime increases with CdMgTe passivation as seen in the case of single heterostructures and double heterostructures. Also, carrier lifetime increases with improving surface interface quality, which tends to affect overall defect density as was the case for double heterostructures grown on InSb substrates as they have higher surface quality than CdTe substrates.



Figure 55. TRPL data representation showing lifetimes increasing with CdMgTe passivation and improving substrate interface quality.

The TRPL measurements were done in the low injection regime to mitigate the complexity of dealing with multiple exponential decay, so reliable lifetime numbers were obtained and used to estimate surface recombination velocity (SRV). In undoped CdTe/CdMgTe D.H, assuming the effect of radiative recombination is negligible, then effective lifetimes is given as

$$\frac{1}{\tau_{eff}} \approx \frac{1}{\tau_{SRH}} + \frac{2S}{d}$$
(3.8)

The equation above can be used to calculate the SRV and SRH lifetime from a given TRPL data if the absorber thicknesses are known.



Figure 56. TRPL of undoped CdTe/CdMgTe and CdSeTe/CdMgTe DHs.

Lifetime measurements were taken in DH samples with varying absorber thicknesses but with similar CdMgTe barriers in order to determine SRH lifetime and SRV. The graph shown in Figure 56 is showing the plot of the reciprocal of TRPL lifetime versus the reciprocal of the absorber thickness. The intercept of the straight line fit at high thickness is used to estimate the bulk lifetime to be ~2150 ns while the recombination velocity, which is estimated from the slope of the graph, is ~160 cm²/s for these undoped DHs.

3.5 Summary

CdTe and CdTe alloys were studied for optimal growth conditions. Growth rate was determined at various substrate temperatures using InSb and CdTe substrates in order to derive the temperature window for the CdTe growth processes. The effect of temperature on the growth rate of CdTe was studied over a temperature range of 210 °C to 400 °C while growth rate and RHEED reconstruction were used to determine the stoichiometric point. It was observed that 20% Cd overpressure is sufficient to achieve stoichiometric conditions.

Based on the results of the studies aimed at optimizing the growth process, the best practices for optimal growth conditions for CdTe and its alloys are summarized in the following steps.

- Polish the surface of CdTe and CdZnTe substrates; surface polishing with Brmethanol etching and DI water rinsing is exceedingly important to remove polishing damage from the surface of as-received samples.
- 2. Perform hydrogen cleaning on polished CdTe and CdZnTe substrates. Hydrogen cleaning is needed for the removal of surface contaminants.^{91, 92, 103}
- 3. Anneal hydrogen-cleaned substrates. Pre-growth annealing (50 °C above growth temperature) for ten minutes is helpful in removing oxides from the surface of the sample that might have occurred while transferring samples from the hydrogen chamber to growth chamber. Studies reveal that a Cd or Te treat during this pre-growth annealing is not helpful.
- Expose the surface of the annealed substrates to Cd flux for one minute before MEE.
- 5. Perform MEE for twenty to fifty cycles.
- Grow CdTe-related structures on the substrates with 20% Cd over pressure.
 Growth rate is 0.4 MLs⁻¹.

These optimized growth conditions were used for the MBE growth of most of the undoped and doped samples. Samples grown on InSb substrates were used to determine properties that can be achieved with MBE-grown CdTe. Semi-automatic polishing is effective in removing mechanical polishing damage in as-received CdTe and CdZnTe substrates. C-PL was used to quantify dislocation content and dislocation and twinrelated defects were observed for the different orientations. Twin-related defects were suppressed in (211)B-orientated substrates. Defect densities varying from 10^4 to 10^7 cm⁻² were observed in structures grown on InSb substrates while defect densities varying from 10^5 to 10^7 cm⁻² were observed in structures grown on CdTe substrates. The removal of polishing damage in CdTe and CdZnTe substrates reduced defect density by almost two orders of magnitude. Generally, very low dislocation density and twin content can be achieved for epitaxial CdTe. Using PLI to evaluate the surface and interface quality of the grown CdTe structures, it was observed that the reduction of dislocation density from 10⁷ cm⁻² in CdTe layers without a CdMgTe barrier layer to block surface recombination yielded only slight improvement in PL intensity.

Double heterostructures were used to study surface and interfacial recombination, which could have negative impact on open-circuit voltage, a key parameter for CdTe solar cells ⁷⁹. In this study, PL intensity variation was recorded as the laser intensity was varied with a series of calibrated neutral-density filters. The PLI efficiency was normalized by dividing the PL intensity by the excitation intensity in order to obtain a dependence of PL on excitation as a horizontal line. Interfacial trap density was extracted by modeling the experimental PLI data and the assumption of $B_{rad} = 10^{10}$ cm³/s worked well in fitting the data.

CPL and PLI results suggest that unpassivated CdTe films with dislocation densities varying from 10⁴ to 10⁷ cm⁻² will likely have nearly identical PLI results, consequently indicating that the unpassivated surface of CdTe could be a significant recombination factor. The use of $Mg_{1-x}Cd_x$ Te barriers with composition x~0.35 in CdMgTe/CdTe double heterostructures resulted in high PL efficiency for CdTe, comparable to the efficiency observed for AlGaAs/GaAs DH, indicating that they are exceptionally effective at reducing recombination at the surfaces and interfaces of CdTe. DHs with varying thicknesses were used to assess the contribution of the interface to recombination. Observation of select DHs revealed that increase in the absorber-layer thickness resulted in improved PLI, but the extracted interfacial trap density for the studied DHs was similar. Buffer layer thickness was also varied to further study the impact of interface on recombination in CdTe, improved PLI results, and reduction of interfacial trap density with increase in buffer thickness, indicating that buffer thickness has more impact on interfacial recombination than absorber thickness. When the buffer layer's thickness was increased from 0.5 µm to 1.0 µm on CdTe substrates and the absorber thickness remain unchanged, the PLI efficiency for the 1.0 µm-thick absorber improved by a factor of two, and the interfacial trap density decreased by a factor of three. Also, a buffer layer thickness increase on InSb substrates resulted in a PLI increase at excitation intensity $\leq 100 \text{ W/cm}^2$ and an interfacial trap density decrease, suggesting an interaction with the substrate/epilayer interface. A 1.5 μ m-thick buffer with a 0.5 μ m absorber layer on an InSb substrate yielded the highest PLI observed so far in any CdTebased structure with interfacial trap density of 1×10^{10} cm⁻², which is comparable to the highest quality AlGaAs-GaAs DHs. InSb substrates used as alternatives to possible

surface preparation issues with bulk CdTe to grown CdTe structures show a higher PLI by a factor of five than the PLI of a similar structure grown on CdTe. Increase in TRPL lifetime tends to track increase in PLI of CdTe films, as would be predictable from a decrease in non-radiative recombination. Bulk carrier lifetimes up to 2150 ns and a surface recombination velocity less than 200 cm²/s in these MBE-grown double heterostructures was achieved.

4. DOPING OF CDTE

4.1 Introduction

Intentional impurities, also known as dopants, can be incorporated into a semiconductor system in order to control conductivity. The desired location of an impurity atom in the crystal lattice of a compound semiconductor is in the substitutional lattice sites, which can either be a cation or anion site. Factors that determine which site the impurity atom resides in are valence electron correlation, size of impurity, and bond strength.

In many semiconductor devices, having good conductivity is highly desirable, which usually calls for incorporating a high concentration of dopants. It is important to note that some characteristics, such as ionization energy, fundamental absorption edge, density of state in the vicinity of band edges, and energy of the fundamental gap of the semiconductor device, can change as a result of the effects high doping concentration generate.⁶⁷

There are several ways of incorporating dopant atoms onto host semiconductors— CdTe and CdMgTe—meaning that there are several ways of inserting dopant atoms into the desirable substitutional site. The most commonly used techniques of doping semiconductors are epitaxial crystal growth, ion implantation, and diffusion.

Some of the commonly used epitaxial growth techniques for incorporating dopants are molecular beam epitaxy, organometallic vapor phase epitaxy, and liquid phase epitaxy. Although the principles governing the growth process might be different, the law of mass action can be applied to analyze the characteristics of the dopant incorporation process, such as temperature and flux ratio.

Another technique for incorporating impurity is by ion implantation. This technique incorporates dopants by accelerating charged dopants in an electric field toward a semiconductor target. Doping can be controlled with lateral selectivity in using this technique.

The process of accelerating dopant atoms can cause structural damage to the semiconductor target, but the effect can be reduced by high temperature annealing to ensure decent electrical properties. The major drawback of this technique is the characteristic width of the doping distribution. The doping concentration is given as

$$N(z) = \frac{N^{2D}}{\sqrt{2\pi} - \Delta R_P} exp\left[-\left(\frac{z - R_P}{\sqrt{2} - \Delta R_P}\right)^2\right]$$
(4.1)

where N^{2D} is the density of implanted ions per cm².⁶⁷

Dopants can also be incorporated using a diffusion technique. This is done by using a surface reservoir to diffuse dopants into the bulk of the host material. It is difficult to determine the shape of the doping profile, making doping incorporation by ion implantation and epitaxial growth more beneficial.⁶⁷ The potential structural damage from ion implantation during incorporation has made epitaxial growth more applicable in this process.

Maximum doping concentration is an important characteristic of dopants, and it is of interest because it can help in determining doping efficiency. The ratio of carrier concentration to dopant concentration is referred to as doping efficiency, which is desired to be close to uniform. Often times, high doping efficiency is hard to achieve due to some limiting factors. The fundamental limits of maximum attainable doping concentration depend on the dopant element, the host semiconductor, and the doping technique. Some of the mechanisms responsible for doping efficiency limits are compensation, solubility limit, elastic strain, and diffusion.⁶⁷

Compensation is the phenomenon where doping gives rise to a generation of opposite carriers, thereby reducing the net-free carriers. This limits the doping efficiency and is undesirable in most cases. The maximum concentration of dopant atoms that can be incorporated into a host semiconductor so that they are distributed homogeneously without clustering is referred to as solubility limit. Beyond this limit, not all dopants will be electrically active. Techniques like TEM and APT can be used to determine the presence of precipitates in a doped semiconductor. It has been suggested that the solubility limit depends on growth conditions, thereby making it difficult to establish a certain limit for a dopant element in a host semiconductor without considering the specific growth conditions. Elastic strain can be a limiting mechanism for dopant concentration if strain increases as doping concentration increases. Compressive or tensile strain can occur when the atomic size of the dopant element is different from the atomic size of the host atom.⁶⁷

In this project, MBE was used to incorporate dopant atoms into CdTe. MBE growths of doped CdTe samples were performed by varying the growth conditions, such as pre-growth annealing, migration enhanced epitaxy (MEE), growth temperature, flux ratios, and growth rate, to determine optimal growth conditions and to understand how these conditions affect dopant incorporation. The main objective here is to optimize dopant incorporation in order to the achieve dopant concentration needed to fabricate efficient solar cells. For efficient solar cells, the p-type absorber layer is expected to have a doping concentration $\geq 10^{16}$ cm⁻³ while an n-type layer is expected to have a doping

concentration that is at least an order of magnitude higher than the doping concentration of the p-type absorber layer.¹⁰⁴

4.2 CdTe:I and CdMgTe:I

Iodine doping was done with the use of ZnI_2 as the solid source since elemental halogens are not compatible with the molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) process due to their high vapor pressures. A dual-zone low-temperature effusion cell was used for this ZnI_2 source, which was constantly kept under the flow of chilled water to keep the temperature of the ZnI_2 below 10 °C when not in use to limit sublimation and background I.

4.2.1 Experimental details

The ZnI₂ oven temperature was calibrated for iodine concentration in order to have better control over the number of atoms incorporated during the doping process. Figure 57 shows a calibration sample (z-396), which was grown with different ZnI₂ oven temperatures for different doped layers that have undoped spacers in between them. Brun-Le-Cunff et al.²⁸ achieved maximum doping of 6.2 X 10¹⁸ cm⁻³ on I-doped CdTe grown on (100) Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te with the ZnI₂ cell temperature set at 120 °C, but they did not examine Iodine incorporation at higher temperature values. This study examined dopant incorporation in I-step-doped CdTe on (100) InSb by varying ZnI₂ cell temperature at 80 °C, 120 °C, 140 °C, and 160 °C as shown in Figure 57. Each step-doped layer is 200 nm thick while each spacer between the step-doped layers is also 200 nm thick. Maximum doping of 2 X 10¹⁹ cm⁻³ was achieved at ZnI₂ cell temperature of 160 °C.



Figure 57. SIMS profile of z396 showing different cell temperature growth for doping concentration calibration.

One relationship between the effusion cell temperature of ZnI_2 and its vapour pressure is given as 105

$$P = 10^{\left[18.397 - \frac{7578}{T} - 2.21(\log T)\right]}$$
(4.2)

Vapour pressures of different temperatures were calculated using equation 4.5, and the result was used to extrapolate concentration of the dopant. The temperature variation SIMS measured concentration coincides well with the values estimated from the calculated vapor pressures at higher temperatures as shown in Figure 58, but it varies at lower temperatures. The SIMS calibration serves as the basis for I doping calibration in the subsequent doping experiment.



Figure 58. Temperature-dependent Iodine concentration for Iodine doping calibration.

I-doped CdTe single and double heterostructure samples were grown on CdTe and InSb substrates at different doping concentrations based on this calibration, and the results were studied. Iodine incorporation was measured at EAG Laboratories with secondary ion mass spectrometry (SIMS). Ion implant standards were fabricated to allow accurate quantification of I in CdTe. SIMs measurement of I-doped layers was consistent with the estimation of the doping concentration calibration that was initially done. Carrier concentration of some of the grown iodine-doped samples were measured with the Hall measurement technique at room temperature and compared to their corresponding I concentration as measured by SIMS in order to measure the doping efficiency.

I-doped CdMgTe films were also grown in order to study iodine doping in CdMgTe layers, which are intended to be used as barrier layers in CdTe/CdMgTe double heterostructures. The wide band gap Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe barriers, which are made to confine photocarriers and prevent parasitic rapid recombination at the CdTe surface, have a thickness of 30 nm and a composition of x~0.35, as measured by spectroscopic ellipsometry.¹⁰⁶ These CdTe/CdMgTe double heterostructures were used for PL studies while CdTe/CdMgTe single heterostructures were grown for Hall measurement studies. For these CdTe/CdMgTe single heterostructures, semi-insulating $Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te$ (100) substrates were used and 100-nm CdTe buffers were grown before depositing 1-µm Cd₁₋ $_xMg_xTe$ films by MBE. Mg composition was varied from $x\sim0$ to $x\sim0.35$. At an Mg composition of x up to ~0.35, the lattice mismatch between $Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe$ films and $Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te$ (100) substrates is much lower than the lattice mismatch between Cd_{1-} $_xMg_xTe$ films and CdTe (100) substrates. For an Mg composition of x~0.35, the lattice mismatch of CdTe/Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te, which is $\sim 0.34\%$, is three times larger than the lattice mismatch of Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te/Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te, which is ~0.11%. Generally, in all these CdMgTe-related structures, the CdMgTe film was shielded against oxidation by growing a 10-nm cap layer of CdTe on the CdMgTe layer. The substrate temperature was maintained at 240 °C.

After growth, iodine-doped films of CdTe and CdMgTe were electrically characterized by the van der Pauw Hall effect technique using soldered indium as contacts. A few samples were measured as a function of temperature, which could vary as

much as 20 to 400 K. Dopant incorporation was compared to carrier concentration in some of the grown samples to determine the doping efficiencies of iodine in CdTe and CdMgTe. Using the data from some of the samples with temperature-dependent carrier concentration measurements and assuming that there was no compensation, activation energy analysis was carried out by fitting the data to the charge balance equation.¹⁰⁷

4.2.2 Results

In this study, heavy doping in CdTe at levels up to 7.4×10^{18} cm⁻³ with iodine was easily and reliably achieved as shown in Figure 59. Also shown in this figure is iodine doping of Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe with x~0.3-0.35. It appears to be a good dopant in Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe with reasonable activation for *n* up to about 2×10^{17} cm⁻³ at an I concentration of about ~ 5×10^{17} cm⁻³. This result suggests that compensation may be occurring at an iodinedopant concentration above ~ 7×10^{18} cm⁻³ in CdTe and ~ 1×10^{18} cm⁻³ in Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te.



Figure 59. Electron carrier concentration at 300K vs. calibrated SIMS iodine concentration for iodine-doped CdTe and $Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe$, illustrating the high level of activation and wide range of electron concentration.

Room temperature Hall measurements show that I-doped CdTe has up to 80% of its carriers active. Consistent with this, temperature-dependent Hall measurements indicated a low activation energy: ~6 meV for heavily doped samples as indicated in Figure 60. The room temperature mobility was 800 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, which is consistent with the highest values reported elsewhere for *n*-CdTe.¹⁰⁸ Carrier mobility increased with decreasing temperatures as shown in Figure 61. Also shown in this figure is the mobility for Cd₁. xMg_xTe , which was observed to decrease with an increasing *x* value decreasing by a factor of 2 for *x*~0.3 and then falling precipitously to a room-temperature value of 38 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ at *x*~0.35.



Figure 60. Temperature dependence of carrier concentration with I concentrations at ~ $1.1\pm0.5 \text{ x}10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ in CdTe and Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe.



Figure 61. Temperature dependence of mobility with I concentrations at ~ $1.1\pm0.5 \times 10^{17}$ cm⁻³ in CdTe and Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe.

Figure 60 further compares the activation energy of $Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe$ as x ranges from 0 to 0.35. The activation energy of iodine in $Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe$ was determined by fitting the data to the charge balance equation (shown as lines in Figure 60), and the resulting values are presented in Table 11. Activation energy increases with increasing x value. The current data suggests a small increase in activation energy with increasing x up to $x \sim 0.3$, roughly 2.3 meV for every 0.05 in x. Above this value of x, the activation energy increased dramatically. The phenomenon underlying the rapid change in electrical properties around $x \sim 0.35$ is not clear and cannot be determined from our limited sample set. Fischer et al.³² postulated the presence of a deep donor state for halogen doping, which is pushed into the band gap with increasing x. Their results indicated that a rapid decrease in activation occurs for Cl at $x \sim 0.15$ and for Br at $x \sim 0.25 - 0.30$. While their data did not indicate a similar feature related to I for their samples with x estimated to be comparable to 0.35, there likely are differences between their x-determination and those in this study, and it is possible that the x-value used allows observation of this phenomenon for I.

Mg composition x in Cd _{1-x} Mg _x Te	$E_a ({\rm meV})$
0	6
0.25	17
0.30	20
0.35	58

Table 11. Activation energies of iodine in $Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe$ at different Mg compositions.

The Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te sample with $n \sim 3 \times 10^{16}$ cm⁻³ had an iodine concentration of 6×10^{16} cm⁻³, which implies that the free-carrier concentration of 3×10^{16} cm⁻³ at room temperature is consistent with the 58 meV activation energy and is not due to compensation. Little temperature dependence was observed for n-type carrier

concentration in CdMgTe at a doping concentration above $5x10^{16}$ cm⁻³. A similar observation was made in I-doped CdTe where little temperature dependence was observed for doping levels above $1x10^{17}$ cm⁻³. The mobility of iodine-doped Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe, as shown in Figure 61, was observed to increase as the x value of Mg decreases.

PLI of the two iodine-doped DH samples, z-401 and z-403, are compared to PLI of undoped samples: z-400, z-371, z-373, and z-374. PLI of z-400 tends to be the lowest due to the high density of twin defects when compared to z-401 as shown in Figure 62. Similarly, z-371 has lower PLI compared to z-373 and 374 because it has more defect density than z-373 and z-374, but it has higher PLI compared to z-400 because it has less defect density than z-400. The cPL images of theses samples, which show defects represented as dark spots, are shown in Figure 63. Generally, the PLI of these samples increases as doping increases, which is expected since higher doping will lead to stronger radiative recombination and eventually results in higher PL intensities. Also, PLI decreases as defect densities increase.

PLI of undoped DHs and I-doped DHs with various concentrations were studied as shown in Figure 64. The absorber-layer thickness of these DHs vary from 0.25 μ m to 2.5 μ m while the Mg *x* composition of the the barrier layers was kept at ~0.35. All the DH samples have 1.5 μ m-thick buffer layer except sample z-360, which had 1 μ m-thick buffer layer. Samples z-360 to z-433 were grown on (100)-oriented InSb substrates, while z-436 and z-437 were grown on (100)-oriented CdTe substrates. As observed in the previous sample set, the PLI increases as doping increases, and samples grown on InSb substrates have higher PLI than samples grown on CdTe substrates. In addition, it was observed that PLI increases with absorber-layer thickness.



Figure 62. PLI of iodine-doped DH samples, z-401 (1.5 um CdTeSe buffer, 2 um absorber CdTeSe:I, I-doping of 1E15) and z-403 (1.5 um CdTeSe buffer, 2 um absorber CdTeSe:I, Idoping of 1E16), and four undoped samples, z-400 (1.5 um CdTeSe buffer, 2 um absorber CdTeSe, high-twin defect), z-371 (1.5 um CdTeSe buffer, 2.5 um absorber CdTeSe), z-373 (1.5 um CdTeSe buffer, 2.5 um absorber CdTeSe), and z-374 (1.5 um CdTeSe buffer, 2.5 um absorber CdTeSe).



Figure 63. cPL images of z-371, z-373, z-374, z-400, z-401, and z-403.



Figure 64. PLI of DH samples with various iodine concentration at various absorber layer thicknesses. Samples z-360 to z-433 were grown on (100)-oriented InSb substrates while z-436 and z-437 were grown on (100)-oriented CdTe substrate.

The impact of doping on carrier lifetime was studied using four DH samples doped with different iodine concentration. These samples have identical structures. The measured carrier lifetime in these samples is presented in Table 12.

	Estimated doping	Measured lifetime
	concentration	
z-402	$1 x 10^{16}$	750
z-404	$1 x 10^{17}$	91
z-406	$1 x 10^{18}$	10

Table 12. Concentration and lifetime of iodine-doped samples.

For these I-doped DH samples, the appropriate low-injection TRPL lifetimes for the grown I-doped double heterostructures is given as

$$\frac{1}{\tau_{eff}} = \frac{1}{\tau_{rad}} + \frac{1}{\tau_{SRH}} + \frac{2S}{d}$$
(4.3)

where S is the surface recombination velocity and d is absorber thickness in the last term, which represents the effect of surface recombination. The radiative lifetime is given by

$$\tau_{rad} = \frac{1}{B_{rad} n \varphi} \tag{4.4}$$

where n is the carrier concentration and B_{rad} is the radiative parameter. The parameter φ is the photon-recycling factor, which recognizes the rate that photons emitted in the radiative recombination process reabsorbs to create another electron hole pair, effectively recycling the original pair in high-quality materials, especially in a thick DH configuration. It is equal to the probability that a given radiative recombination event's photon is not absorbed to form a new pair.

Figure 65 contains a plot of the TRPL lifetimes measured for three iodine-doping levels at various absorber thicknesses in CdTe/Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te DHs. As shown in section 3.4.2, this CdMgTe barrier composition resulted in a SRV of 160 cm/s with nominally undoped material grown. The gray line in the graph illustrates the expected upper limit on TRPL lifetime expected due to surface recombination based on this value. From the results for TRPL shown, it is clear that several values exceed this limit, suggesting that SRV in these doped samples is actually less than 160 cm/s. Assuming that the three highest values

for the n~1x10¹⁶ cm⁻³ DHs are due primarily to surface recombination and radiative recombination with φ ~1, the measured lifetimes indicate a SRV of order 25 cm/s. The radiative lifetimes indicated for a given doping level assuming φ ~1 and B_{rad} = 1×10^{-10} cm³s⁻¹ are shown and color-coded along with the TRPL measured for the associated doping levels. The n~1x10¹⁶ cm⁻³ DHs seem to be reasonably explained without invoking photon recycling. In contrast, the majority of the TRPL lifetimes measured for the n~1x10¹⁷ cm⁻³ and n~1x10¹⁸ cm⁻³ DHs exceed the radiative limit by factors of three to six, suggesting that recycling is a significant factor. This effect is consistent with what was observed for doped GaAs/AlGaAs DHs, emphasizing that, once surface recombination is controlled, the electronic properties of CdTe are comparable to those of GaAs, with the potential benefits of a slightly lower radiative recombination parameter.



DH absorber thickness (µm)

Figure 65. TRPL lifetimes measured for three doping concentrations at various absorber thicknesses in CdTe/Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te DHs. Radiative lifetimes are shown, assuming photon recycling is not present, ($\varphi \sim 1$) and $B_{rad} = 1 \times 10^{-10}$ cm ³s⁻¹.

These iodine-doped samples show long lifetimes with evidence of photonrecycling effects and no evidence of PL degradation with doping as high as $2x10^{18}$ cm⁻³ as shown in Figure 66, which is in contrast to In as it exhibits significant non-radiative recombination at levels above $5x10^{16}$ cm⁻³.²²



Figure 66. PL intensity vs. iodine concentration in iodine-doped CdTe/CdMgTe DHs at various doping concentrations.

4.3 CdTe:As

Group V elements have lower diffusivity as dopants in CdTe than group I elements because the size of group V atoms are larger than the size of group I atoms, hence they are more stable against thermally induced diffusion. This is particularly of interest in doping CdTe because of its low activation energy and stability. Cd₃As₂, whose vapor pressure is suitable for an MBE process, is used to achieve As doping in this project. The use of Zn_3As_2 compound source material to achieve As doping gave enhanced incorporation in ZnSe,¹⁰⁹ and ZnTe.¹¹⁰ A similar result of As-incorporation enhancement is expected to be achieved with the use of Cd₃As₂ as the source material.

4.3.1 Experimental details

For this project, Cd₃As₂ was used as the source material to deliver arsenic flux for the purpose of achieving As doping in CdTe. The initial phase of the As-doping experiments as carried out using a standard effusion cells while the final phase of the Asdoping experiments as performed using a valved corrosive source (VCOR) to crack As₄ to As₂ in order to see if it could resolve the issue of the solubility limit that was observed in the initial phase of the As-doping experiment.

VCOR 110 by Riber is a valved source designed with two heating zones—a reservoir for heating the bulk material and the tip for cracking—to achieve reproducible flux. The tip zone can operate at temperatures up to 900 °C while the reservoir can operate at temperatures up to 500 °C. The filaments used for heating in both zones are made of Ta wire, and the crucibles are made of pyrolytic boron nitride (PBN). The valve of this source is also made of PBN so that the vapor produced does not encounter any metal before the vapor leaves the source. The major external features, including power leads for the two zones, valve thimble, valve stem, thermocouple connectors, and the water cooling enclosure, are shown in Figure 67.



Figure 67. Typical VCOR showing its external features.

Garcia et al.¹¹¹ reported the use of a different catalyst in cracking As and concluded that rhenium has the highest cracking efficiency among these materials with the exception of Pt, which is reactive with As at temperatures above 500 °C. Rhenium achieved conversion efficiencies of 95% and 50% at about 700 °C and 575 °C, respectively, as shown in Figure 68.¹¹¹



Figure 68. As₄ craking efficiency as a function of cracker temperature using Pt (\blacksquare), Re (\square), Ta (\blacktriangle), Mo (\triangle), Graphite (\blacktriangledown), PBN (\diamondsuit), W-Re+C (\triangledown), and W-Re+PBN (\bigcirc) catalysts.¹¹¹

In order to achieve efficient cracking of As₄, a cracker insert was built with PBN rods, Ta foil and rhenium (Re) wire. The rhenium wire used in building the cracker insert has an assay percent range of 99.7% and is 0.5 mm in diameter, and it was purchased from Fisher Scientific. The cracker insert was designed by wrapping the rhenium wire around the inner Ta foil as shown in Figure 69. The insert was then placed in the hot zone of the VCOR 110 used in this project was modified with an insert that was placed in the hot zone of a rhenium (Re) wire to achieve more efficient catalytic cracking in As.



Rhenium wire

Figure 69. VCOR cracker insert built with rhenium wire to achieve high-efficiency cracking of As₄.

CdTe (100), CdZnTe (100), and InSb (100) substrates were used in growing the As-doped samples. As-doped samples grown for the purpose of Hall measurements were limited to semi-insulating CdTe and CdZnTe substrates. The growth of these Hall measured samples usually start with a 100 nm buffer layer and is then followed by the As-doped layers. All As-doped samples were grown under Cd-rich conditions to maintain stoichiometric condition. In addition to the Cd overpressure as a measure for defect control, some samples were grown with Zn incorporation. For these samples, ZnTe and CdTe alloying was used for As-doping incorporation since stronger bonds in CdZnTe than CdTe will lead to less defect formation in CdZnTe,¹¹² hence compensation is expected to be less in CdZnTe than CdTe. Approximately 4% Zn incorporation was used in the CdZnTe:As for the purpose of this As incorporation enhancement in order to lattice match the available Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te substrates used for these samples.

During the initial phase of these As-doped experiments, several As-doped samples were grown for the purpose of dopant incorporation calibration, SIMS analysis, Hall measurement, and diffusion studies. The stepped calibration samples were grown to calibrate dopant concentration as a function of either temperature or flux ratio. These samples were grown with undoped CdTe spacers in between doped layers. These spacers were 200-nm thick in most cases and were intended to differentiate doping incorporation at each given temperature. These CdTe spacers were also used in other samples where one or more growth parameters were varied in a particular sample so as to differentiate between each doping incorporation.

Despite efforts to promote As atoms on Te lattice sites during growth, the majority of the As atoms in as-grown CdTe based samples may not be substituted on Te sites since the As incorporation was not electrically active at room temperature. Atoms that are not occupying lattice sites may require thermal treatment step known as activation anneal to move dopants onto lattice sites. Activation annealing is required to tackle the issue of the low activation of As in as-grown CdTe based samples. After growth, samples were annealed ex-situ from the MBE system in a sealed ampoule under Cd overpressure to keep the surface Cd rich during activation annealing or in a rapid thermal annealing systems without Cd overpressure. These anneals were done from 400 °C and above. After annealing, characterization techniques were used to study the effects of thermal annealing and rapid thermal processing on doping.

Dopant incorporation for the As-doped CdTe-based samples in this project were calibrated with secondary ion mass spectroscopy (SIMS), which was done at EAG Laboratories, while carrier concentration was measured by the C-V technique or the van

der Pauw Hall effect technique using either indium soldered contacts or MBE-grown ptype PbTe contacts. The results from these characterized As-doped samples are discussed in the next section.

4.3.2 Results

4.3.2.1 Arsenic doping using standard effusion cell

Calibration samples were grown on InSb, CdTe, and CdZnTe substrates with various growth conditions, and the effects of the growth parameters—growth temperature, Cd overpressure, a Cd₃As₂/CdTe flux ratio, and Zn incorporation—on As-doping incorporation were studied. The results were analyzed to determine controllability and effectiveness of As doping in CdTe using Cd₃As₂ supplied from a standard effusion cell.

4.3.2.1.1 Growth temperature studies

Calibration samples z-369 and z-370 were grown to investigate control over As incorporation and to give an initial determination of the dependence of As incorporation on a Cd₃As₂/CdTe flux ratio. Sample z-369 was grown at 234 °C, and sample z-370 was grown at 244 °C while varying the Cd₃As₂As/CdTe flux ratio. In both samples, CdTe was about $7.3 \pm 0.5 \times 10^{-7}$ Torr while Cd flux was about 1.5×10^{-7} Torr. For sample z-369, the Cd₃As₂/CdTe flux ratio was varied as 0.1, 0.3, 0.5, 0.7, and 0.9 while for sample, the z370 Cd₃As₂/CdTe flux ratio was varied as 0.25, 0.4, 0.6, 0.9, and 1.2. SIMS measurements gave the As concentration for each doping profile as shown in Figure 70.



Figure 70. SIMS profile of two As-doped CdTe samples grown on InSb (100) at different temperatures with varying $Cd_3As_2/CdTe$ flux, and the linear relationship between incorporated As atoms and the $Cd_3As_2/CdTe$ flux ratio.

A maximum As concentration of approximately 10^{16} atoms/cm³ was achieved in these samples according to the SIMS profile in Figure 70. Also shown in Figure 70 is a linear relationship between incorporated As atoms and the Cd₃As₂/CdTe flux ratio. Assuming that other growth conditions are relatively similar at an Cd₃As₂/CdTe flux ratio of 0.9, with the exception of the substrate temperature, it is clear that z-369 has more atoms incorporated, which suggests higher arsenic incorporation at lower temperatures.

The effect of substrate temperature on As incorporation was further examined in z-389. In this sample, substrate temperature was varied at 234 °C, 215 °C, 195 °C, and 176 °C while the Cd₃As₂/CdTe flux ratio was fixed as 1.0. A CdTe flux of about 6×10^{-7} Torr and a Cd flux of about 1.3×10^{-7} Torr was used for the growth. Observation of the
SIMS profile of sample z-389 grown on InSb (100) as shown in Figure 71(a) and sample z-454 grown on CdTe (100), as shown in Figure 71(b) suggests a strong dependence of As incorporation on temperature. The doping concentration of low 10¹⁶ atoms/cm³ at substrate temperature 234 °C measured in sample z-389 is comparable to the results achieved in sample z-369, indicating this result was reproducible for growth on InSb substrate. The rapid increase in As incorporation observed for the doping profile at low temperature was unexpected and accompanied by significant structural degradation. This rapid and tremendous As incorporation observed at ~175 °C in z-389 and z-454 appears to mark the onset of As segregation, which leads to surface accumulation. One interpretation is that at sufficiently low temperatures, defects are generated due to fast nucleation. These defects can act as nucleation sites, which will likely capture As atoms and lead to precipitation. Alternatively, As precipitation may lead to structural degradation. Afterwards, most structures were grown at temperatures above 200 °C.

The identical As concentration at 234 °C in z-369 and z-389 for similar $Cd_3As_2/CdTe$ BEP ratio validates the temperature calibration experiment used to determine real temperatures for structures grown on InSb substrates. Sample z-454 grown on CdTe was initially designed to have real temperatures that are similar to sample z-389 grown on InSb so that As incorporation using these substrates can be compared. The unexpected rapid increase of As incorporation seen in SIMS results of z-454 grown on CdTe substrate suggested that the temperature calibration used to determine the target temperatures for this sample may be off. The mistake in temperature calibration was later corrected to reflect the real growth as indicated in Figure 71 (b). The rapid increase of about three orders of magnitude from high 10^{17} atoms/cm³ nearly 10^{21} atoms/cm³ in z-

454 indicate that almost all the As atoms are sticking which suggest that the growth temperatures in this sample is lower that the growth temperatures in z-369. Z-454 have similar As incorporation with z-389 at ~175 $^{\circ}$ C.



Figure 71. SIMS profile showing the effect of changing growth temperature in As-doped CdTe structures grown on (a) InSb (100) substrates and (b) CdTe (100) substrates.

4.3.2.1.2 Flux ratio studies - Cd3As2/CdTe BEP ratio and Cd overpressure

The effect of changing the Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio (the ratio varied as 0.5, 1.0, and 1.5) at a fixed substrate temperature of 205 °C was again studied in sample z-399 by growth, and the condition was analyzed using SIMS as shown in Figure 72. The SIMS profile showed a rapid increase in As incorporation for the Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio of 1.0 and 1.5 suggest that structures degrade significantly when a substrate temperature is low and As concentration is high. The doping concentration of ~3x10¹⁷ atoms/cm³ with a substrate temperature of 205 °C and a Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio ~0.5 in sample z-399 is

comparable with the doping concentration of $\sim 1 \times 10^{17}$ atoms/cm³ with a substrate temperature of 215 °C and a Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio ~ 1.0 in sample z-389. Although samples z-389 and z-399 show an As-dopant concentration of 10^{17} atoms/cm³, the structural degradation observed in these samples suggests that the As solubility limit in CdTe can be reached when the growth conditions of a substrate temperature below 200 °C and a Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio above 1.0 are applied together.



Figure 72. SIMS profile showing the effect of varying Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio in Asdoped CdTe structure grown on InSb (100) substrate at 205 °C substrate temperature.

The effect of Cd overpressure was studied in sample z-466 where the CdTe flux was set at $\sim 8 \times 10^{-7}$ Torr and the Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio was fixed at 0.25. Growth

temperature and Cd overpressure were varied in different layers as shown in Figure 73. The target growth appear to be off, based on the other SIMS results. It was hard to correlate this SIMS result with other SIMS results but this result suggests that using 20% to 30% Cd overpressure at higher temperatures during As incorporation will likely not cause the structure to degrade.



Z466

Figure 73. SIMS profile showing the effect of varying Cd/CdTe BEP ratio in As-doped CdTe structure grown on CdTe (100) substrate with Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio of 0.25 at target temperature of 230 °C and 240 °C.

Observation of a rapid and significant increase in As incorporation, as seen in samples like z-389 (Figure 71(a)), z-399 (Figure 72), z-454 (Figure 71 (b)), and z-466 (Figure 73) when As incorporation exceeds mid 10¹⁷ atoms/cm³, suggests that As dopants at this level may start to incorporate as precipitates, and the structure starts to degrade as

result of defect generation. The most significant observation in these As-doped samples is the rapid increase in As concentration accompanied by structure degradation as seen in samples z-399 (Figure 72), z-454 (Figure 71(b)), and z-466 (Figure 73). It is assumed that this rapid increase in incorporation is a result of As incorporating in the form of clusters or nanoscale precipitates rather than incorporating at substitutional sites. The speculation is that As is accumulating on the growing surface of the sample and, at some critical density, nucleates the As precipitation. This rapid increase starting at the onset of structural degradation suggests that the degraded structure captures much more As atoms than the un-degraded structure where As atoms are incorporated in the crystal lattice.

4.3.2.1.3 Solubility limit studies

Techniques like TEM and APT can be used to determine the presence of precipitates in doped semiconductors. Precipitates of dopants can be utilized to predict the solubility limit in the host semiconductor. It has been suggested that the solubility limit depends on growth conditions, making it difficult to establish a certain limit for a dopant element in a host semiconductor without considering the specific growth condition.

The effect of the rapid incorporation observed in some As-doped CdTe structures grown on both InSb (100), like sample z-399 (Figure 72), and CdTe (100), like samples z-454 (Figure 71 (b)) and z-466 (Figure 73), substrates is believed to be related to the As solubility limit in CdTe under the standard growth conditions used during the first part of this project.

APT work done at the Colorado School of Mines by Dr. Gorman's group was used to study the dopant distribution for different As incorporation levels in order to further investigate the As solubility limit in CdTe. The specimen from z-399 was investigated with APT. From the APT reconstruction shown in Figure 74 (a), As clusters were visibly observed in the region of the first 500-nm from the top surface where the sample was observed to be structurally degraded according to the SIMS profile in Figure 72. Whereas clustering of As was less visible in the region of 500-nm to 900-nm from the top surface where SIMS profile did not show significant structural degradation. For this APT specimen in sample z-399, the experimental As' nearest-neighbor distribution was compared to the random As distribution in order to analyze the extent of As enrichment and its preference for its nearest neighbor. This was done for two regions (covering the distance after 350 nm to 450 nm from the top surface and after 450 nm to 900 nm from the top surface) in this APT specimen as shown in Figures 74 (b) and 74 (c), respectively. Visual observation suggests that the region covering the distance after 350 nm to 450 nm from the top surface seems to show some degree of deviation from randomness. This observation is consistent with the visibility of As clusters in the APT image and the structural degradation observed in the SIMS result in Figure 72. The bimodal nature of nearest neighbor distribution of the region covering the distance after 350 nm to 450 nm from the top surface seems to indicate presence of As clusters. The experimental curve peak closer to the graph origin indicate that substantial amount of As atoms are in close vicinity to other As atoms. Whereas the experimental curve for the region covering the distance after 450 nm to 900 nm from the top surface seems to slightly follow the random distribution, indicating that As is fairly dispersed in

CdTe for this region. Again, this observation is consistent with the APT reconstruction and the SIMS result in Figure 72. The analysis of the nearest neighbor-distribution and random distribution suggests that As tends to preferentially segregate.



Figure 74. As concentration profile and nearest-neighbor distribution of an APT specimen prepared from sample z-399 by Colorado School of Mines. (a) APT reconstruction of this specimen with As represented as purple grains and Te represented as green grains, (b) experimental arsenic nearest-neighbor distribution in black and a random distribution in red from a region covering the distance after 350 nm to 450 nm from the top surface, and (c) a region covering the distance after 450 nm to 900 nm from the top surface.

Also, an APT reconstruction (shown in Figure 75 (a)) with the time of flight SIMS (shown in Figure 75 (c)) of As-doped CdTe with As concentration of 5×10^{17} atoms/cm³ was analyzed. Visual observation of the APT reconstruction suggests the absence of significant As clustering but the time of flight SIMS could not detect As

clustering, which detects clusters on the order of a few microns. This results suggest that the As clusters that may exist at this As concentration are on the nanoscale. The comparison of the experimental As' experimental nearest-neighbor distribution to the random distribution for this APT specimen shown in Figure 75 (b) does indicate some degree of deviation from randomness, which is consistent with the APT reconstruction and the time of flight SIMS results, also suggesting that As has preference for itself at this concentration.

For all the growth conditions investigated up to this point, it was observed that As incorporation above $7-8\times10^{17}$ cm⁻³ definitely leads to structural degradation due to second-phase formation. Results from SIMS and APT studies suggest that As clusters will most likely be absent when the As incorporation level does not exceed 5×10^{17} atoms/cm³ but may become present once the As incorporation level exceeds ~ 7.5×10^{17} cm⁻³. These results suggest that the As solubility limit in CdTe is around mid- 10^{17} cm⁻³.



Figure 75. (a) APT reconstruction of a specimen with As concentration of 5×10^{17} atoms/cm³ (As is shown in purple with Te in green). (b) Experimental arsenic nearest-neighbor distribution in black, and a random distribution in red. (c) Time of flight SIMS maps of As and AsTe concentration.

4.3.2.1.4 Zn incorporation studies

A-center formation is possible in As-doped CdTe, but its formation is not likely in As-doped ZnTe,¹¹³ providing a chance that A-centers may be suppressed in CdZnTe. Based on this, the effect of Zn on As incorporation using $Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te$ (100) substrates was studied. Most of the As-doped samples grown to this point were done with CdTe and InSb substrates. For this sample, ~4% Zn was used to achieve a near-lattice-match condition and to investigate if Zn can enhance As incorporation. Growth temperature was fixed at ~240 °C, and Cd overpressure was fixed at 30% while the Cd₃As₂/CdTe ratio was varied. Incorporation of arsenic increases linearly with the Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio as shown in Figure 76. The linear relationship is showing As concentration of $\sim 5 \times 10^{15}$ cm⁻³ when the $Cd_3As_2/CdTe$ BEP ratio is zero suggest that there was background As in the MBE system prior to the sample growth. The SIMS measurement shows a step-like profile throughout the sample, indicating a uniform distribution of As atoms, which has been difficult to achieve in previous As-doped samples. The SIMS profile (shown in Figure 76) shows that the layer doped with a $Cd_3As_2/CdTe$ ratio of 3:1 has the highest As incorporation, but the SIMS profile of the Cd₃As₂/CdTe ratio of 2:1 and 1:1 shows a slightly better step-like profile than the profile of 3:1, which suggests that doping using an Cd₃As₂/CdTe ratio of 2:1 or 1:1 might give slightly better uniform doping than a ratio 3:1. The SIMS profile of Cd₃As₂/CdTe ratio of 1:1 showing As incorporation of ~~ $2x10^{16}$ cm⁻³ is consistent with the SIMS profiles of z-369 (Figure 70) and z-389 (Figure 71(a)) with similar temperatures. It is noted that doping concentration and uniformity depend on other factors, too. The lack of evidence of rapid increase in As incorporation z-496 suggests that the high substrate may be needed in controlling As incorporation. The evidence of near-flat SIMS profile in this sample compared to z-369

and z-389 suggest that Zn incorporation may likely assist uniform As incorporation at high temperature.



Figure. 76. SIMS profile of As-doped $Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}$ Te sample grown on $Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}$ Te (100) substrate with varying Cd_3As_2/Cd Te BEP ratio, and the linear relationship between incorporated As atoms and the Cd_3As_2/Cd Te BEP ratio.

Although As incorporation from Cd_3As_2 using an effusion cell can now be reasonably controlled, SIMS-measured As incorporation is still in the low 10^{16} cm⁻³ despite efforts to achieve 10^{17} cm⁻³ As incorporation without reaching the solubility limits. Although carrier concentration of 10^{16} cm⁻³ was achieved, it was somewhat challenging to reproduce 10^{16} cm⁻³-carrier concentration. It is assumed that reproducible, uniform doping at high As incorporation without reaching the solubility is needed to improve on the carrier concentration and the doping efficiency, hence the need for cracking As₄.

4.3.2.2 Arsenic doping using cracker source

A VCOR cracker source, described in section 4.3.1, was installed to improve on the results achieved during the initial phase of As-doping experiment for this research project. The main goal of the final phase was to combine optimal growth conditions obtained in the initial phase with As₄ cracking, which was meant to improve the sticking rate of As atoms in order to achieve efficient doping.

To study the effect of temperature using this new source, three samples (z-553, z-554, and z-555) were grown on CdTe (100) substrates at 250 °C, 240 °C, and 230 °C, respectively, while other growth parameters, such as a Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio of ~1.0 and a Cd/CdTe BEP ratio ~0.3, were kept constant. The SIMS profile of these samples are presented in Figure 77. These results show a uniform distribution of As atoms. Also, this result show that As can be reproducibly doped at high temperatures since the As

dopant concentration, which is $\sim 4 \times 10^{16}$ atoms/cm³, in these samples did not change significantly within the 230 °C to 250 °C temperature range.



Figure 77. CdTe samples, z-553, z-554, and z-555, were grown at 250 °C, 240 °C, and 230 °C respectively with a Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio of 1.0 using CdTe (100) substrate.

Also, the effect of Zn incorporation on As incorporation was studied in samples grown using the Cd₃As₂ cracker. As-doped Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te samples (z-559, z-560, and z-561) were grown on Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te (100) substrates at 250 °C, 240 °C, and 230 °C, respectively, while other growth parameters, such as a Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio of ~1.0, a Cd/CdTe BEP ratio ~0.3, and a Zn/CdTe ~0.04, were kept constant. The SIMS results of these samples were presented in Figure 78, which shows As incorporation of ~7x10¹⁶ atoms/cm³ with no evidence of structural degradation. Just like the case of doping ordinary CdTe, temperature changes within the 230 °C to 250 °C range did not affect doping incorporation, suggesting that As incorporation is not sensitive to temperature change in the 230 °C to 250 °C range. The most significant results from the use of the cracker cell is that As incorporation higher than the incorporation level attained with the use of the effusion cell can be achieved with good structural quality at higher growth temperatures.



Figure 78. $Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}$ Te samples, z-553, z-554, and z-555, were grown at 250 °C, 240 °C, and 230 °C, respectively, with Cd₃As₂/CdTe BEP ratio of 1 using Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te (100) substrate.

The issue of sample degradation and rapid increase in As incorporation observed in some samples at the initial phase was not observed in the final phase of this project as doping at higher temperatures leads to controllable As incorporation at technologically important levels.

4.3.2.3 As activation

Achieving p-type conduction in doping of HgCdTe with arsenic using MBE has been reported to be challenging due to its ability to reside on metallic and non-metallic sub-lattice sites.¹¹⁴ The desired result of arsenic doping of HgCdTe is for As atom to substitute on the Te site, but the As atoms have been reported to occupy cation or interstitial sites, thereby making them act as donors or neutral complexes.^{53, 115, 116} Hence, a high temperature annealing after MBE growth is required to move As atoms to Te sites.¹¹⁷ Similar ex-situ thermal annealing has been used to activate As dopants in CdTe.^{13, 44}

Following the successful control of As incorporation, activation annealing studies were conducted. Hall measurements and CV measurements were used to study activation in As-doped CdTe. Hall measurements provided somewhat unreliable hole-density measurements, thus CV was mostly used in As-activation studies because depth doping profile is easily obtained along with carrier concentration measurement in CV.

CdTe:As and CdZnTe:As structures were annealed under different conditions using ampoule annealing and rapid thermal process (RTP). All ampoule anneals were performed under Cd overpressure while RTP was done without Cd overpressure. Annealing temperatures ranged from 450 °C to 600 °C, and annealing time ranged from thirty seconds to thirty minutes. Hall measurements were used for structures that only had absorber layers deposited on the substrate and were yet to be used for device integration. Hole concentration of low 10^{15} cm⁻³ to low 10^{16} cm⁻³ was consistently achieved for structures that were annealed prior to being used for device fabrication, and the carrier lifetime measured for most of these samples was ~2 ns.

As activation by RTP was compared to ampoule anneals with a Cd overpressure at varying temperatures as shown in select samples in Table 13. Most of the samples were grown with estimated an carrier concentration $\sim 1 \times 10^{17}$ cm⁻³.

Film	Activation process	N (/cm^3) by Hall measurement
CdTe:As	Ampoule annealing at 500 °C, 10 min	$\sim 8.47 \times 10^{16}$
CdTe:As	Ampoule annealing at 500 °C, 10 min	$\sim 2.84 \text{ x} 10^{16}$
CdTe:As	Ampoule annealing at 500 °C, 10 min	$\sim 1.02 \mathrm{x} 10^{16}$
CdZnTe:As	Ampoule annealing at 500 °C, 10 min	$\sim 6.0 \times 10^{15}$
CdZnTe:As	Ampoule annealing at 500 °C, 10 min	~2.3x10 ¹⁵
CdTe:As	Ampoule annealing at 550 °C, 10 min	~5x10 ¹⁵
CdTe:As	Ampoule annealing at 550 °C, 10 min	$\sim 6 \times 10^{15}$
CdTe:As	RTP at 450 °C, 1 min	$\sim 8 \times 10^{15}$
CdTe:As	RTP at 450 °C, 10 min	$\sim 2x10^{15}$
CdTe:As	RTP at 450 °C, 20 min	~1.5x10 ¹⁵
CdTe:As	RTP at 550 °C, 30 sec	~1x10 ¹⁵
CdTe:As	RTP at 550 °C, 1 min	~6x10 ¹⁵
CdZnTe:As	RTP at 550 °C, 1 min	$\sim 5 \times 10^{15}$
CdZnTe:As	RTP at 600 °C, 30 sec	~8x10 ¹⁵

Table 13. Carrier concentration of As-doped structures measured by Hall effect technique after activation annealing.

Ampoule annealing seems to show higher carrier concentration than RTP, as expected. The slightly lower carrier concentration in RTP may be attributable to Cd desorption at the temperatures required for activation (500 °C-600 °C) since RTP is done without Cd overpressure. This Cd desorption in RTP can create Cd vacancies, which may compensate some of the carriers, but RTP is significantly faster, enabling higher throughput and faster screening.

Although samples annealed with ampoule annealing seem to have a slightly higher carrier concentration, samples annealed with RTP show better results for device parameters when the structures are used to make devices as discussed in section 5.

4.4 Diffusion studies in CdTe

Dopants can move from the site of incorporation during or after growth especially under high temperature conditions. This is an undesirable effect that can destroy structures. The redistribution process can either be anisotropic, which takes place due to energy gradients, or isotropic in nature. Common mechanisms of impurities in redistribution are diffusion, which is isotropic in nature, and segregation, which is anisotropic in nature.⁶⁷

Diffusion of impurities in semiconductors occurs when impurity atoms, which are thermally energized, hop randomly. Vibration of the impurity atom is an attempt for the atom to hop from the lattice site, which gives the attempt rate as a function of time. The diffusion hop is directly proportional to the attempt rate and the probability of a successful hop. The diffusion of the impurity in a host system is measured by a constant called the diffusion coefficient, D, which depends on the rate of successful diffusion hops and the average hop length of the impurity atoms. The diffusion coefficient, D, of dopants can be expressed mathematically as ⁶⁷

$$D = D_o \ e^{-\Delta E/kT} \tag{4.5}$$

where ΔE is the energy barrier that the atom must overcome for diffusion to occur, k is the Boltzman constant, and T is the temperature of the dopants. D_o is the diffusion constant if all hop attempts were successful $\Delta E = 0$.

In order to study the diffusion profile of impurities used in this project, selected MBE-grown layers of interest were annealed at specific temperatures. The annealing experiments for this study were done mostly in a sealed ampoule with a Cd overpressure. SIMS measurements of annealed samples were taken and compared to SIMS measurements of as-grown samples, which were taken from a separate piece of the same epilayer. Diffusion models based on analytical solution methods were used to reconstruct the SIMs data profiles in order to estimate the diffusion coefficients of the dopant materials in the annealed samples. In this project, there were two types of profiles for the initial concertation distribution of the dopant materials that were studied for diffusion. These profiles are of a step-function form. The distribution profile for each of the dopant materials studied was either a one-dimensional step-function distribution form (shown in Figure 79) or in the form of superposition of two displaced step-function distributions (shown in Figure 80) in their initial condition.



Figure 79. One-dimensional step-function initial conditions for one-dimensional diffusion along x.¹¹⁸

This step function in Figure 79 leads to the solution that describes the diffusion in a semi-infinite body where the surface concentration is constant. The initial and boundary conditions for this step-function are given as

$$c(x = 0, t) = c_0 \tag{4.6}$$

$$\frac{\partial c}{\partial x}(x=\infty,t)=0\tag{4.7}$$

$$c(x, t = 0) = 0 \quad for \ 0 \le x < \infty$$
 (4.8)

and the error function solution to this one-dimensional step function initial condition is given as

$$c(x,t) = c_0 \left[1 - erf\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{4Dt}}\right) \right]$$
(4.9)

where c_o is the initial concentration, D is the diffusion coefficient (also referred to as diffusivity), t is the annealing time, and x is distance.



Figure 80. Superposition method for constructing confined source for one-dimensional diffusion along x.¹¹⁸

The superposition of two step-function distributions as shown in Figure 80 leads to the solution that describes the diffusion in a semi-infinite body from a substance that was initially confined in the region of $-h \le x \le +h$, where Δx is the thickness of the source. The initial and boundary conditions for this step-function is given as

$$c(x,t=0) = \begin{cases} c_0 & -h < x < +h \\ 0 & +h \le x < \infty \end{cases}$$
(4.10)

and the error function solution

$$c(x,t) = \frac{c_0}{2} \left[erf\left(\frac{x+h}{\sqrt{4Dt}}\right) - erf\left(\frac{x-h}{\sqrt{4Dt}}\right) \right]$$
(4.11)

Diffusivities were determined from these models by recreating the after-annealing concentration depth profile using these error function solutions. It was assumed that the total number of atoms was constant before and after diffusion.

Impurity redistribution can affect the doping profile of a material system. For example, if the diffusion coefficient increases at high impurity concentrations, the maximum dopant concentration attainable can be limited.⁶⁷ Generally, effects of

excessive dopant diffusion ¹¹⁹ and segregation ⁶⁷ can distort the well-defined impurity distribution, degrading electrical properties of the host material.

4.4.1 Magnesium in CdTe

4.4.1.1 Modeling prediction of Mg diffusion in CdTe

Mg has been reported to be a fairly fast diffusant. Mg has shown a lot of promise as a material for forming CdMgTe barriers in CdTe structures. Excessive diffusion of Mg in CdTe/CdMgTe DH can lead to increased defect density, thereby degrading the overall properties of the device and affecting its operation due to the impact of defects on carrier recombination at a high defect density.¹²⁰ Mg diffusion in CdTe was modeled based the on the activation energy and diffusivities reported by Seweryn et al.¹²¹ The parameters for the modeling are presented in Table 14, and the results of the modeling show the redistribution of Mg atoms into their surroundings as depicted in Figures 81 and 82.

Modeling parameters	
Diffusivity at 300 0C (cm ² /s)	7.79283E-19
Diffusivity at 400 0C (cm ² /s)	1.01649E-16
Diffusivity at 500 0C (cm ² /s)	3.76093E-15
Time (s)	600
Case 1 CdMgTe thickness (nm)	30
Case 2 CdMgTe thickness (nm)	100

Table 14. Modeling parameters for Mg diffusion simulation.



Figure 81. Modeling of Mg diffusion in 30 nm-thick CdMgTe when annealed at 300 °C, 400 °C, and 500 °C for 10 minutes.



Figure 82. Modeling of Mg diffusion in 100 nm-thick CdMgTe when annealed at 300 °C, 400 °C, and 500 °C for 10 minutes.

4.4.1.2 Experimental measurement of Mg diffusion in CdTe

The CdMgTe/CdTe SH structure was annealed at 350 °C for thirty-six hours, 400 °C for three and a half hours, and 500 °C for ten minutes under Cd overpressure. As shown in Figure 83, the concentration-depth profile measured by SIMS at these annealing temperatures was compared to as-grown samples that were pieces from the sample epilayer as the annealed samples. The concentration-depth profile of the 350 °C annealing is nearly identical to the as-grown concentration depth profile, suggesting that there was not significant atom redistribution in the 350 °C annealing; noticeable atom redistribution can be seen in the 400 °C-annealing and more pronounced atom redistribution seen in the 500 °C annealing. An asymmetric fast diffusion was observed on the substrate side of the SH annealed at 500 °C, which is significantly more pronounced than SIMS artifacts due to memory effects observed in the other three profiles. The cause of this asymmetric fast diffusion is not clear at this point.



Figure 83. Comparison of Mg concentration depth profile in CdMgTe/CdTe single heterostructures for an as-grown sample, and samples annealed at 350°C for 36 h, 400°C for 3.5 h, and 500°C for 10 min.

The SIMS profiles measured following diffusion anneals were fit with a model to determine the diffusion coefficients (*D*). Mg diffusion in a typical CdMgTe/CdTe heterostructure was modeled as shown in Figure 84.



Figure 84. Diffusion model fit for determination of diffusion coefficient for a CdMgTe/CdTe single heterostructure annealed at 500 °C for 10 min.

The CdMgTe/CdTe heterostructure consist of a CdMgTe thin-film layer, which was initially bounded by two CdTe layers. This model, given as equation 4.14, is based on the analytical solution of the diffusion equation for a material that was initially confined within two semi-infinite boundaries.¹²²

A modeled diffusion coefficient for the 500 °C annealing is ~4.0 x 10^{-14} cm²s⁻¹, and the 400 °C-annealing is estimated to be around ~7.0 x 10^{-17} cm²s⁻¹ while the assumed upper bound diffusion coefficient for the 350 °C annealing is ~3.5 x 10^{-18} cm²s⁻¹. As shown in Figure 85, diffusion coefficient values for 350 °C and 400 °C are slightly lower than the values reported by Seweryn et al. [42] where CdMgTe structures were grown under Cd-rich and Te-rich conditions. This group annealed MBE-grown samples under dry nitrogen flux. For this study, the measured D at 500 °C was considerably higher.

The effect of lattice strain on interdiffusion was investigated by using a (100)oriented Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te substrate to grow a supposedly 100-nm thick Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te that was capped with 100-nm thick CdTe. The lattice parameters of the $Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te$ film and the $Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te$ are close enough to give near-lattice-match condition. The Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te/Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te structure was annealed at 500 °C for ten minutes under Cdrich conditions in the same ampoule as the above $CdTe/Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe$ SH. The Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te structure-grown Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te substrate has a lower diffusion coefficient at 500 °C when compared to both Seweryn et al., and the results obtained on the Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te/CdTe S.H grown on (100)-oriented CdTe at the same temperature suggest that either the absence of lattice strain or the presence of a small amount of Zn can slow down the rate of interdiffusion. It was noted that this $Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te$ structure grown on Cd_{0.96}Zn_{0.04}Te substrate has two diffusion components on the substrate side—a fast diffusion component and a slower diffusion component—as shown in Figure 86. The slower diffusion component has $D \sim 1.8 \times 10^{-15} \text{ cm}^2 \text{s}^{-1}$ and the fast diffusion component has $D \sim 2.1 \times 10^{-11} \text{ cm}^2 \text{s}^{-1}$. The origin of the fast diffusion coefficient is not clear, but it was well fitted by assuming the diffusion from a constant plane source of Mg with a surface concentration of 1.3×10^{20} cm⁻². A similar diffusion of Zn into the Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe layer was not observed. In addition, Mg was observed to diffuse into the CdTe overlayer at a slower rate than it did in the CdTe/Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te SH with $D \sim 4.0 \times 10^{-15} \text{ cm}^2\text{s}^{-1}$, which is comparable to the results of Seweryn et al. at 500 °C. These results suggest that the combination of Zn alloying and lattice matching can inhibit Mg diffusion CdTe.



Figure 85. Comparison of Mg diffusivity in CdTe for various conditions.



Figure 86. SIMS profile of CdTe/Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te/Cd _{0.96}Zn_{0.4}Te structure after a 500°C annealing for 10 min showing two diffusion components into the CdZnTe.

4.4.2 Iodine-Doped CdTe

4.4.2.1 Iodine in CdTe

High temperature processing is often needed for the p-type side of solar cells, therefore the n-type side has to be able to withstand the temperature demand. Activation annealing was done for arsenic, and its impact on carrier lifetime was studied while thermal anneals were done on iodine to examine them for thermal stability at temperatures higher than the annealing temperature of As.

Thermal anneals were carried out in quartz ampoules containing the samples and a small piece of Cd that were sealed under vacuum. This allowed annealing experiments to be done under isothermal Cd overpressure conditions at temperatures up to 600 °C to determine iodine stability in MBE-grown CdTe crystal.

I-doped CdTe was annealed at 500 °C for twelve hours and at 600 °C for twentyfour hours in sealed ampoules under Cd over pressure to evaluate the process compatibility of iodine as a dopant in MBE-grown CdTe. The results of these thermal anneals, as shown in Figure 87, indicate that there is little change in the concentrationdepth profile of the annealed samples from that of the un-annealed samples, which are pieces from the same epilayer, as characterized by SIMS. Modeling this minimal change in the concentration-depth profile of the 600 °C, twenty-four-hour annealed sample indicates an I diffusion of ~1.4x10⁻¹⁵ cm²s⁻¹. This result suggests that iodine is not a fastdiffusing dopant in epitaxial CdTe. The thermal stability result reported here is consistent with the results obtained in I-doped HgCdTe grown by MOCVD,¹²³ and by MOVPE.^{124,}



Figure 87. SIMS profile of an as-grown and an annealed iodine step-doped CdTe sample.

4.4.2.2 Iodine in As-doped CdTe

Further investigations were carried out to test the thermal stability behavior of iodine in a p-n epitaxial structure by annealing a sample that consist of iodine-doped CdTe steps in a uniformly As-doped CdTe layer at 600 °C for twenty-four hours under Cd overpressure. SIMS profiles from un-annealed and annealed samples, which are pieces from the same epilayer, are shown in Figure 88.



Figure 88. SIMS profile of an as-grown and an annealed iodine step-doped CdTe:As sample.

This sample also suggests that the redistribution of iodine atoms after this annealing is small. The SIMS profile shows that As does not segregate due to the presence of I. Also, it shows that iodine diffusion is minimal for the 600 °C, twenty-fourhour annealing, suggesting doping levels of As do not affect the I diffusion, but surface accumulation during the growth of I-doped CdTe was noticed just as it was noticed in some sample profiles. This surface accumulation was accentuated during As co-doping, as shown by the non step-like I profiles, yet iodine remains stable to diffusion at annealing temperatures up to 600 °C. Modeling the slight differences between as-grown samples and the 600 °C, twenty-four-hour annealed sample indicates an I-diffusion coefficient of ~ $5.2x10^{-15}$ cm²s⁻¹ at 600 °C. This result suggests that iodine will likely not diffuse across p-n junctions in devices, unlike indium, which was reported by Watson et al.¹²⁶ to have a diffusion coefficient of $\sim 3.3 \times 10^{-15} \text{ cm}^2 \text{s}^{-1}$ at 400 °C and $\sim 2.0 \times 10^{-11} \text{ cm}^2 \text{s}^{-1}$ at 600 °C under Cd saturation conditions. Also, this reinforces the suggestion that iodine may be the preferred dopant for highly doped n-type CdTe.

4.5 Summary

4.5.1 Iodine doping

Heavy doping of CdTe can be achieved with iodine without degrading important properties that are useful for photovoltaic application. The n-type doping of CdTe can be accomplished with iodine up to nearly 10^{19} cm⁻³. It might be possible to achieve a slightly higher maximum doping concentration, but the effect of the doping concentration limiting mechanisms becomes apparent at concentrations above $2x10^{19}$ cm⁻³. Doped DHs have a lifetime well in excess of the radiative lifetime due to the photon-recycling effect. This is consistent with what was observed for doped GaAs/AlGaAs DHs, emphasizing that, once surface recombination is controlled, the electronic properties of CdTe are comparable to those of GaAs with the potential benefits of a slightly lower radiative recombination parameter and a higher tolerance to dislocations.

These iodine-doped samples show long lifetimes with evidence of photonrecycling effects and no evidence of PL degradation, which is in contrast to indium doped material as it exhibits significant non-radiative recombination at carrier concentration above 5x10¹⁶cm⁻³.¹²⁷ Thermal annealing studies of some of these samples suggest that iodine is stable against redistribution at temperatures up to 600 °C under Cd over pressure conditions. Iodine will likely not diffuse across a p-n junction in devices, unlike indium, which has been reported to do so more quickly.¹ This result, coupled with the longer

lifetimes observed for I-doping compared to equivalent In-doping concentrations, suggests that iodine may be the preferred dopant when compared with indium.

CdMgTe alloy has been doped with similar success, exhibiting a donor activation energy (E_a) ranging from 17 meV for x~0.25 to approximately 58 meV for x~0.35. Iodine has been shown to have significant advantages as a dopant of choice over In for highly *n*type doped CdTe.

4.5.2 Arsenic doping

Intentional dopants in semiconductors usually range $10^{16} \times 10^{19} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ in atomic density in a host semiconductor, making the host semiconductor to be greater than the dopant by a factor of 10^4 to 10^7 . As-doped CdTe with a dopant concentration above mid- 10^{17} cm^{-3} shows precipitation of either As or As₂Te₃, indicating its solubility limit to be around this value. APT measurements indicate that As is spatially segregated throughout the film and tends to cluster in areas of high concentrations, which degrades the sample structure. Stable and reproducible As incorporation of $\sim 1 \times 10^{17}$ atoms/cm³ was achieved in CdTe without structural degradation with the use of a custom low-flux Cd₃As₂ cracker. High temperature thermal activation annealing was used to consistently produce acceptors $\sim 2 \times 10^{16}$ atoms/cm³ in grown CdTe:As and CdZnTe:As structures. As incorporation and activation levels achieved in this studies should be sufficient for device fabrication.

5. DEVICE FABRICATION

5.1 Device structures

Film structures grown at Texas State University were sent to the National Renewable Energy Laboratory for the purposes of making device structures. These devices were intended to demonstrate that high V_{oc} can be achieved through high net acceptor density and lifetime. The device structure used in these studies is as shown in Figure 89.

ZnO:Al	~120 nm
i-ZnO	100 nm
CdSeTe, CdSeTe:I, CdMgTe CdS:In, Zn-Mg-O, CdTe:In	:l, ~40 nm
p-type CdTe:As <i>or</i> CdZnTe:As	3 μm
CdTe <i>or</i> CdZnTe	substrate
Cu	1-2 nm
Mo 3	50-500 nm

Figure 89. Device structure used in these studies.

The film structures used for these devices are either 3 µm-thick CdTe:As or CdZnTe:As absorbers. These films were annealed to activate the As acceptors prior to device fabrication using either ampoule annealing or RTP. The films were then etched

with 0.1% Br:MeOH solution to remove ~0.2 μ m from the surface. The etch process is needed since the annealing process can lead to surface pitting, which can lead to structural degradation in the emitter growth. Etched films are loaded into the MBE for emitter growth. Cu/Mo was used for the back contact to the substrate, and an emitter, O/ZnO/ZnO:Al front contact stack was used for devices.

The sample set comprising z-498, z-499, z-500, z-501, z-502, z-503, and z-504 was annealed with an ampoule annealing process prior to their use in device fabrication. Samples z-498, z-499, z-500, and z-501 have a CdZnTe:As film while samples z-502, z-503, and z-504 have a CdTe:As film. The J-V characteristics of the devices made from this sample set are presented in Figure 90.



Figure 90. J-V characteristics for devices made with samples z-498, z-499, z-500, z-501, z-502, z-503, and z-504 with different emitters, which were annealed with ampoule annealing process prior to device fabrication.

Another sample set comprising z-611, z-612, z-613, z-614, and z-615 with

CdZnTe:As films was used to fabricate device structures with varying emitters. The J-V

curve for z-611 with a CdSeTe emitter, z-612 with a CdSeTe:I emitter, and z-615 with a CdMgTe:I emitter is shown in Figure 91.



Figure 91. J-V characteristics for devices made with samples z-611(green line), z-612 (red line), and z-615 (blue line) with different emitters, which were annealed with RTP prior to device fabrication.

The curves of diode-like J-V characteristics from Figure 91 show higher V_{oc} compared to the curves shown in Figure 90, which indicates a higher V_{oc} for samples annealed with a RTP process than samples annealed with an ampoule annealing process prior to making devices. These results suggest that an RTP process is better for structures that will be used for making devices.

CV measurements for devices made from CdTe:As and CdZnTe:As films have consistently show a hole density $\geq 10^{15}$ - 10^{16} cm⁻³ and $\geq 10\%$ activation as shown in Figure 92. The highest hole density at As concentration of $2x10^{16}$ cm⁻³ with ~100%
activation suggests that the doping limit for the growth conditions used in this project might be around $2x10^{16}$ cm⁻³.



Figure 92. C-V-measured activated hole concentration vs. calibrated SIMS iodine concentration for arsenic-doped CdTe.

The CV profiles of the device structures made with the sample set comprising z-611, z-612, z-613, z-614, and z-615 are shown in Figure 93. These profiles show a narrow depletion width to indicate a high hole concentration has a flat profile, which suggests less As outdiffusion. Basic solar cell parameters for select device structures were selected from this set to show the best results obtained with different emitters, which is presented in Table 15.



Figure 93. C-V profile of device structures for sample set comprising z-611, z-612, z-613, z-614, and z-615 using different emitters.

Table 15. Basic solar cell parameters for device structures made with samples z-611(CdSeTe emitter), z-612 (CdSeTe:I), and z-615 (CdMgTe:I) with different emitters, which were annealed with RTP prior to device fabrication.

emitter	Jsc (mA/cm ²)	Voc (mV)	FF (%)	η (%)	$N_A - N_D (cm^{-3})$
CdSeTe	18.5	880	59	9.4	10 ¹⁶
CdSeTe:I	17.7	829	56.8	8.2	8x10 ¹⁵
CdMgTe:I	17.5	741	47	5.8	high 10 ¹⁵

The minority carrier lifetimes of ~ 2 ns measured in most of these device

structures is similar to the minority carriers measured in their film structures before they were used to make device structures. The most significant result achieved in the device structure is a V_{oc} of 880 mV.

5.2 Summary

Among ~450 samples that were grown over the course of this project, few samples were designed for device fabrication. These samples were sent to NREL where they were used for fabricating devices. Some of the important properties of these devices were measured in order to demonstrate that surface passivation and increase in doping can increase V_{oc} in CdTe solar cells. A hole-carrier concentration of 10^{16} atoms/cm³ was consistently achieved in CdTe:As and CdZnTe:As films and in device structures made with these films. Carrier lifetimes of ~2 ns were achieved in both films and devices. V_{oc} as high as 880 mV and a fill factor as high as ~60% was achieved in the devices made with the MBE-grown structures.

6. CONCLUSIONS

6.1 Conclusion

Although CdTe has a direct, ideal band gap for solar photoconversion and a high coefficient of light absorption, optimal performance has not yet been obtained in photovoltaic applications due to grain boundaries in polycrystalline CdTe, doping issues, low minority carrier lifetime, energy barriers at contacts, and compensation from impurities ⁶⁻⁹. Even after the improvements of the last several years, the highest efficiency for CdTe, as reported to date, is about 21%,¹²⁸ and the open-circuit voltage of most CdTe solar cell devices is currently less than ~860 mV, ⁵⁵ lagging behind the highest GaAs thin-film solar cell efficiency of about 28.8%.¹²⁸ GaAs, a material that possess a band-gap energy nearly identical to that of CdTe, is fast approaching the maximum theoretical efficiency. The work performed during my dissertation helped to address many of the underlying problem.

At the beginning of this effort, there were serious concerns that intrinsic bulk defects would prevent solar cell improvement beyond the performance of the time. A key feature of the work performed as part of this dissertation is that the minority carrier lifetime measured for CdTe of any type – polycrystalline or single crystal – of less than 1 ns was not due to intrinsic bulk issues but was controlled almost entirely by surface passivation issues. That is, control of the surface and other interfaces is crucial to harness the potential benefits of CdTe for photovoltaic application. Admittedly, much of the initial effort in my dissertation was taken up by resolving issues specific to how we were growing CdTe and related alloy samples. Some of the relevant steps taken to control non-radiative recombination of carriers in CdTe based photovoltaic are: 1) uniform

etch/polish to prepare substrates 2) use of buffer layers that have thickness $\geq 1 \mu m$ in order to limit interface recombination that might exist at the epilayer-substrate interface 3) use of Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe with x at least ~0.3±0.02 as barrier layers to clad the absorber layer in order to confine carriers and passivate the absorber layer on both sides.

After we had overcome the initial issues with our growth procedure, we were able to use CdMgTe to fabricate barrier layers, which mitigated the recombination processes at surfaces and interfaces. Along with parallel efforts by other groups, ¹³¹⁻¹³⁴ we were able to show that the fundamental limitations for bulk CdTe were comparable to GaAs and not a fundamental limitation to CdTe photovoltaic performance. The background minority carrier lifetimes of $> 2 \mu s$ we measured are more than sufficient to allow theoretical efficiency limits to be achieved. We also showed that the use of CdMgTe provided high quality interfaces, with interface state densities comparable to or better than that obtained for GaAs. These two results helped to reinvigorate the research being carried out on CdTe PV devices as it clearly indicated the capacity for significant improvement beyond existing performance. Mg is a useful material in the design of CdMgTe barriers for DH evaluation structures, but its practical effectiveness in real device structures is limited by the thermal diffusion of Mg atoms arising from the high temperature annealing needed to activate the *p*-type doping in *p*-*n* structures when dopants like As are used. It may prove a useful material for some processes, but the limitations must be clearly understood.

This research study provides a better understanding of the thermal processing limits for CdMgTe barriers and concludes that the combination of Zn alloying and lattice matching to reduce strain can decrease the rate of diffusion of Mg atoms in CdTe, expanding this study's technological relevance. Specifically, our result indicate that the

process temperature for using CdMgTe in devices should remain below 500 °C. If this can be achieved, then CdMgTe can be a viable component of a PV device structure.

One potential improvement of CdTe PV structures is to replace the front CdS *n*type layer, which forms a heterojuction with a material with improved interface properties. Two possibilities were a heavily *n*-type CdTe homojunction, or a different II-VI emitter such as CdMgTe.

Iodine was used in this research effort to obtain *n*-type CdTe. Dopant activation of about 80% was observed in most of the iodine-doped CdTe samples and the estimated activation energy of Iodine in CdTe is about 6 meV. Carrier lifetime of ~1 μ s was measured in a sample that has iodine doping concentration of ~1x10¹⁵ cm⁻³. When compared with indium-doped CdTe/CdMgTe DHs, at similar doping concentration, iodine-doped CdTe/CdMgTe DHs have higher carrier lifetime. The PLI comparison show that indium-doped CdTe/CdMgTe DHs at doping concentration above 5x10¹⁶ cm⁻³ start to show photoluminescence degradation, whereas iodine-doped CdTe/CdMgTe DHs does not show photoluminescence degradation at doping concentration as high as 2x10¹⁸ cm⁻³. Iodine was shown to be more thermally stable than indium at temperatures up to 600 °C. Thus, the use of I provides the option for future study of I-doped homojunction devices.

I-doping also allows technologically useful doping of *n*-type CdMgTe. For iodine-doped Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te, dopant activation of about 40% was observed in samples with donor density of up to $2x10^{17}$ cm⁻³ and the activation energy of iodine in Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te is about 58 meV. Activation energy for *x* ~ 0.25 is 17 meV, while it is 20 meV for *x* ~ 0.3. The room temperature mobility was observed to be 800 cm² V⁻¹ s⁻¹ for Idoped CdTe while it was around 38 cm² V⁻¹ s⁻¹ for I-doped Cd_{0.65}Mg_{0.35}Te. Electrical

properties were observed to change abruptly around $x \sim 0.35$ for iodine-doped Cd_{1-x}Mg_xTe; although this phenomenon is not clearly understood, one possible explanation is that a deep-donor state exists and gets pushed into the band gap as x increases. The activation energy of 20 meV of iodine in Cd_{0.7}Mg_{0.3}Te shows that iodine is a shallow donor in Cd₁₋ _xMg_xTe with a Mg composition up to $x \sim 0.3$.

However, preliminary use of *n*-type CdMgTe suggests barrier formation as shown figure 91 (section 5.1), where the J-V characteristics of CdMgTe:I/CdZnTe:As solar cell structure show the dependence of the total current on the voltage. The barrier formation impedes hole transport, which can eventually affect device performance.

In this study, low SRV was demonstrated in undoped and I-doped DHs. I-doped DHs have a lifetime well in excess of the radiative lifetime due to the photon-recycling effect. This is consistent with what was observed for doped GaAs/AlGaAs DHs, emphasizing that, once surface recombination is controlled, the electronic properties of CdTe are comparable to those of GaAs with the potential benefits of a slightly lower radiative recombination parameter and a higher tolerance to dislocations. Iodine shows no evidence of PL degradation with doping as high as $2x10^{18}$ cm⁻³ (the highest in a DH grown to date). This result, coupled with the longer lifetimes observed for I doping and compared to equivalent In-doping levels, is a clear indicator that iodine is an efficient dopant to achieve highly doped n-type CdTe. In addition, iodine doping has low activation energies for technologically important barrier compositions. Iodine doping is also robust for diffusion in CdTe structures, with or without As-doping.

While surface passivation is likely the dominant limitation in CdTe PV, the next remaining issue is doping on the p-side of the device. The current p-type dopant, Cu has

many significant limitations and the consensus of the community is it should be replaced. The research described in my dissertation made two significant contributions in the potential for As to replace Cu. One significant result is that there is a distinct solubility limit for As in CdTe that limits heavy doping. This was easily seen for $[As] > 5x10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ as observed in SIMS measurements where structural degradation is characterized by rapid increase in As incorporation. APT measurements consistent with SIMS measurements show As clustering in the same region where structural degradation was observed with SIMS. A lower value in the range of $5x10^{16} - 1x10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ may be suggested by Hall effect measurements. That is, doping in this range appears compensated which suggesting some segregation or compensation mechanism comes into play limiting *p*-type doping efficacy.

In this research endeavor, an acceptor density of ~ $2x10^{16}$ atoms/cm³ was reproducibly achieved in MBE-grown CdTe:As and CdZnTe:As structures. Growth conditions that lead to the runaway effect are better understood and controlled. A net carrier density of ~ $1x10^{16}$ cm⁻³, and a carrier lifetime ~2ns can be reproducibly achieved in solar cell devices made with these As-doped structures. we note that the 2ns lifetime likely comes from remaining interface and surface recombination issues. This increased dopability which led to net carrier density of ~ 10^{16} atoms/cm³, contributed to the increase in open-circuit voltage. This is demonstrated with a V_{oc} of ~880 mV in the CdTe solar devices fabricated from this project. Although the slightly high carrier density in CdTe resulted in increased open-circuit voltage, the fill factor is slightly low (<60%) due to low carrier lifetime. This was a significant milestone. While this does not represent state of the art performance, it is not that far from state of the art just a few years back. Most

importantly, the device did not involve the use of Cu, and did not undergo a CdCl₂ treatment crucial for Cu-based devices. It does represent the first reasonable quality PV device incorporating As. Thus, this establishes the potential viability for the use of As in future technology improvements for photovoltaics.

The results from this research project suggest that the combination of high carrier density, high lifetime and low SRV is required in solar cell devices in order to achieve highly efficient CdTe solar cells. This work provides guide for theoretical modeling and further research to improve power conversion efficiency in CdTe solar cells.

6.2 Limitations and future Work

Some of the CdTe parameters pertinent to solar cell performance are comparable to GaAs as shown in Table 16 but the CdTe solar cell efficiency still lags the GaAs solar cell efficiency.

Property	CdTe	GaAs	
Bandgap (eV)	1.514	1.42	
Bulk Lifetime (ns)	> 2000	~14000	
n-type doping (cm ⁻³)	~ 10 ¹⁹	10 ¹⁹	
p-type dopants (cm ⁻³)	10 ¹⁶	10 ¹⁹	
SRV (cm/s)	<100	10	
Cladding layers	CdMgTe	AlGaAs, GaInP	
Defect density (cm ⁻²)	104	low	
B_{rad} (cm ³ s ⁻¹)	$1 - 3 \times 10^{-10}$	$2x10^{-10}$	

Table 16. Comparison between CdTe and GaAs parameters.

It is apparent that improving the bulk lifetime and the dopability of CdTe are not sufficient conditions for achieving highly efficient solar cell. As the bulk lifetime improves, interfaces become dominant. It is important to note that interfaces, contacts and processing are critical to achieving high efficiency solar cell.

This dissertation uncovered some of the practical limits that constrain processes and manufacturing of PV devices. These practical limits and suggested future work are discussed below.

1. Valence-band barrier in CdTe/CdMgTe heterostructure.

There are some limitations associated with the use of CdMgTe as a passivation layer in CdTe/CdMgTe heterostructure. CdMgTe which forms type-I heterojuction with CdTe, has barriers in both conduction band and valence band. The barrier formed in the valence band could hamper hole transport. The J-V characteristics of CdMgTe:I/CdZnTe:As solar cell structure as shown in figure 91 (section 5.1) is suggestive of barrier to current flow. The doping of CdMgTe and the bandgap grading of CdMgTe seem to be viable design strategies to alleviate this challenge. Further studies to analyze the effectiveness of the bandgap grading and the doping of the barrier layer will be helpful in order to quantify the impact of these design strategies on the overall performance of the solar cell.

2. Iodine doping in device structures.

Iodine doping has been demonstrated as being useful for devices using evaluation structures, particularly its thermal stability at temperatures up to 600 °C. Iodine doping needs to be incorporated in real device structures and evaluated. It would be useful to evaluate its ability to replicate the success achieved with iodine-doped CdTe/CdMgTe DHs in device structures in order to become industry standard.

3. Arsenic annealing thermal budget

Anneal experiments show that anneal temperature of ≥ 500 °C is required to activate As dopants in CdTe-based structures. Also, device structures fabricated with RTP-annealed absorber layers show better performance that the structures fabricated with ampoule-annealed absorber layers. The RTP which does not use Cd overpressure is susceptible to Cd desorption at this high temperature which can lead to Cd vacancy formation. There is need to understand the mechanism responsible for poor performance of device structures fabricated with ampoule-annealed absorber layers. In addition, there is need to find a way to mitigate Cd vacancy formation in the RTP. Another consideration for the As annealing temperature is the thermal process limit of CdMgTe, which can be used as electron reflector in PV devices.

4. Back interface issues.

Back interface issues are common to polycrystalline CdTe. The hole barrier accompanying the use of CdMgTe as a barrier layer can further complicate the back interface issues thereby necessitating the need to consider other materials such as ZnTe, PbTe, and GaSb as barrier layer. There is an ongoing effort at Texas State University to look into these alternative materials.

5. $CdCl_2$ anneal treatment.

CdCl₂ anneal treatment are standard to increase grain size in polycrystalline CdTe. The study of the effect of CdCl₂ anneal treatment on each of the limit mentioned above will further provide understanding about how CdTe properties change with CdCl₂ treatment, especially grain size and crystalline orientation.

REFERENCES

- S. Kasap and P. Capper, *Springer handbook of electronic and photonic materials*.
 (Springer Science & Business Media, 2007).
- 2. R. H. Bube and R. H. Bube, *Photovoltaic materials*. (Imperial College Press Amsterdam, 1998).
- A. Luque and S. Hegedus, *Handbook of photovoltaic science and engineering*. (John Wiley & Sons, 2011).
- 4. D. S. Albin, presented at the Solar Energy+ Applications, 2008 (unpublished).
- 5. S. G. Kumar and K. K. Rao, Energy & Environmental Science 7 (1), 45-102 (2014).
- 6. A. Kanevce and T. A. Gessert, Photovoltaics, IEEE Journal of **1** (1), 99-103 (2011).
- R. W. Birkmire and B. E. McCandless, Current Opinion in Solid State and Materials Science 14 (6), 139-142 (2010).
- H. Zhao, A. Farah, D. Morel and C. Ferekides, Thin Solid Films 517 (7), 2365-2369 (2009).
- 9. L. Kosyachenko and E. Grushko, Semiconductors 44 (10), 1375-1382 (2010).
- 10. R. A. Sinton and A. Cuevas, Applied Physics Letters **69** (17), 2510-2512 (1996).
- Z. Yu, S. Hofer, N. Giles, T. Myers and C. Summers, Physical Review B 51 (19), 13789 (1995).
- J. Wang and M. Isshiki, in Springer Handbook of Electronic and Photonic Materials (Springer, 2007), pp. 829-842.
- J. Park, S. Farrell, R. Kodama, C. Blissett, X. Wang, E. Colegrove, W. Metzger, T. Gessert and S. Sivananthan, Journal of electronic materials 43 (8), 2998-3003 (2014).

- B. VanMil, R. Tompkins, K. Feng, C. Swartz, N. Giles and T. Myers, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B 23 (4), 1814-1820 (2005).
- T. Baron, K. Saminadayar, S. Tatarenko, H.-J. Lugauer, A. Waag and G. Landwehr, Journal of Crystal Growth 184, 415-418 (1998).
- K. Kishino, I. Nomura, Y. Ochiai and S. B. Che, physica status solidi (b) 229 (2), 991-994 (2002).
- R. Triboulet and P. Siffert, CdTe and Related Compounds; Physics, Defects, Hetero-and Nano-structures, Crystal Growth, Surfaces and Applications: Physics, CdTe-based Nanostructures, CdTe-based Semimagnetic Semiconductors, Defects. (Elsevier, 2009).
- T. Golding, C. Littler and J. Dinan, Journal of electronic materials **31** (7), 705-709 (2002).
- S. Shibli, M. Tamargo, B. Skromme, S. Schwarz, C. Schwartz, R. Nahory and R. Martin, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B 8 (2), 187-191 (1990).
- G. Tsen, R. Sewell, A. Atanacio, K. Prince, C. Musca, J. Dell and L. Faraone, SEMICONDUCTOR SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY 23 (1), 015014 (2008).
- N. Giles, J. Lee, T. Myers, Z. Yu, B. Wagner, R. Benz and C. Summers, Journal of electronic materials 24 (5), 691-696 (1995).
- X.-H. Zhao, S. Liu, Y. Zhao, C. M. Campbell, M. B. Lassise, Y.-S. Kuo and Y.-H. Zhang, presented at the Photovoltaic Specialist Conference (PVSC), 2015 IEEE 42nd, 2015 (unpublished).
- A. Waag, T. Litz, F. Fischer, H. Heinke, S. Scholl, D. Hommel, G. Landwehr andG. Bilger, Journal of crystal growth 138 (1), 437-442 (1994).

- F. Bassani, S. Tatarenko, K. Kheng, P. Jouneau, K. Saminadayar, N. Magnea and R. Cox, Applied physics letters 63 (15), 2106-2108 (1993).
- N. C. Giles, J. Lee, T. H. Myers, Z. Yu, B. K. Wagner, R. G. Benz and C. J. Summers, Journal of Electronic Materials 24 (5), 691-696 (1995).
- 26. M. Ekawa, K. Yasuda, T. Ferid, M. Saji and A. Tanaka, Journal of applied physics
 72 (8), 3406-3409 (1992).
- 27. G. Karczewski and T. Wojtowicz, Acta Physica Polonica-Series A General Physics
 90 (4), 635-644 (1996).
- D. Brun-Le-Cunff, T. Baron, B. Daudin, S. Tatarenko and B. Blanchard, Applied physics letters 67 (7), 965-967 (1995).
- 29. D. Hommel, S. Scholl, T. Kuhn, W. Ossau, A. Waag, G. Landwehr and G. Bilger, Materials Science and Engineering: B 16 (1), 178-181 (1993).
- 30. T. Thio, J. Bennett, D. Chadi, R. Linke and P. Becla, Journal of crystal growth 159 (1), 345-349 (1996).
- A. Waag, F. Fischer, T. Litz, B. Kuhn-Heinrich, U. Zehnder, W. Ossau, W. Spahn,
 H. Heinke and G. Landwehr, Journal of crystal growth 138 (1), 155-160 (1994).
- F. Fischer, A. Waag, G. Bilger, T. Litz, S. Scholl, M. Schmitt and G. Landwehr, Journal of crystal growth 141 (1-2), 93-97 (1994).
- 33. U. Desnica, Progress in crystal growth and characterization of materials 36 (4), 291-357 (1998).
- J. Francou, K. Saminadayar and J. Pautrat, Physical Review B 41 (17), 12035 (1990).
- 35. R. Bhargava, Journal of Crystal Growth **59** (1), 15-26 (1982).

- J. L. Merz, H. Kukimoto, K. Nassau and J. Shiever, Physical Review B 6 (2), 545 (1972).
- W. Stadler, D. Hofmann, H. Alt, T. Muschik, B. Meyer, E. Weigel, G. Müller-Vogt,
 M. Salk, E. Rupp and K. Benz, Physical Review B 51 (16), 10619 (1995).
- N. Giles, J. Lee, D. Rajavel and C. Summers, Journal of applied physics 73 (9),
 4541-4545 (1993).
- A. Waag, S. Scholl, K. von Schierstedt, D. Hommel, G. Landwehr and G. Bilger, Journal of Crystal Growth 129 (1), 243-248 (1993).
- 40. D. Rajavel and C. Summers, APPLIED PHYSICS LETTERS **60** (18), 2231-2233 (1992).
- F. Fischer, T. Litz, A. Waag, H. Heinke, S. Scholl, J. Gerschutz and G. Landwehr, Acta Physica Polonica-Series A General Physics 87 (2), 487-491 (1995).
- 42. E. Colegrove, S. P. Harvey, J.-H. Yang, J. M. Burst, D. S. Albin, S.-H. Wei and W.
 K. Metzger, Physical Review Applied 5 (5), 054014 (2016).
- 43. J. Ma, S.-H. Wei, T. Gessert and K. K. Chin, Physical Review B 83 (24), 245207 (2011).
- S. Farrell, T. Barnes, W. K. Metzger, J. Park, R. Kodama and S. Sivananthan, Journal of Electronic Materials 44 (9), 3202-3206 (2015).
- 45. H. Hwang, K. Y. Hsu and H. Ueng, Journal of crystal growth **161** (1-4), 73-81 (1996).
- 46. Z. Yu, S. Buczkowski, M. Petcu, N. Giles, T. Myers and M. Richards-Babb, Journal of Electronic Materials **25** (8), 1247-1253 (1996).

- 47. T. Baron, K. Saminadayar and N. Magnea, Journal of applied physics **83**, 1354-1370 (1998).
- 48. J. Pautrat, J. Francou, N. Magnea, E. Molva and K. Saminadayar, Journal of Crystal Growth **72** (1), 194-204 (1985).
- 49. E. Molva, K. Saminadayar, J. Pautrat and E. Ligeon, Solid state communications48 (11), 955-960 (1983).
- J. Arias, S. Shin, D. Cooper, M. Zandian, J. Pasko, E. Gertner, R. DeWames and J. Singh, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A 8 (2), 1025-1033 (1990).
- J. Kraus, E. Kurtz, S. Einfeldt, D. Hommel, H. Lugauer and A. Waag, Semiconductor science and technology 11 (9), 1255 (1996).
- 52. T. Sawada, K.-i. Numata, S. Tohdoh, T. Saitoh and H. Hasegawa, Japanese journal of applied physics **32** (1S), 511 (1993).
- D. Edwall, E. Piquette, J. Ellsworth, J. Arias, C. Swartz, L. Bai, R. Tompkins, N. Giles, T. Myers and M. Berding, Journal of electronic materials 33 (6), 752-756 (2004).
- H.-J. Lugauer, A. Waag, L. Worschech, W. Ossau and G. Landwehr, Journal of Crystal Growth 161 (1), 86-89 (1996).
- T. Gessert, S.-H. Wei, J. Ma, D. Albin, R. Dhere, J. Duenow, D. Kuciauskas, A. Kanevce, T. Barnes and J. Burst, Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells 119, 149-155 (2013).
- J. M. Burst, J. N. Duenow, D. S. Albin, E. Colegrove, M. O. Reese, J. A. Aguiar, C.-S. Jiang, M. Patel, M. M. Al-Jassim and D. Kuciauskas, Nature Energy 1, 16015 (2016).

- 57. A. Cho, Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology **8** (5), S31-S38 (1971).
- 58. T. Yao and E. Parker, presented at the Review article by presented at4th Intern. Conf. on Molecular Beam Epitaxy, York, UK (September 1986), 1985 (unpublished).
- 59. Y. Chen, G. Brill and N. Dhar, Journal of Crystal Growth **252** (1), 270-274 (2003).
- 60. L. Carbonell, G. Mula and S. Tatarenko, Journal of crystal growth **203** (1), 61-66 (1999).
- T. Flaim and P. Ownby, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology 8 (5), 661-662 (1971).
- 62. C. Wood and F. Johnson, Journal of applied physics **78** (7), 4444-4448 (1995).
- 63. E. H. Parker, *The technology and physics of molecular beam epitaxy*. (Plenum Press New York, 1985).
- 64. M. Razeghi, *Fundamentals of solid state engineering*. (Springer Science & Business Media, 2009).
- 65. Y. Peter and M. Cardona, *Fundamentals of semiconductors: physics and materials properties*. (Springer Science & Business Media, 2010).
- 66. R. J. Malik, *III-V Semiconductor Materials and devices*. (Elsevier, 2012).
- 67. E. F. Schubert, presented at the MRS Proceedings, 1994 (unpublished).
- C. Swartz, M. Edirisooriya, O. Ogedengbe, B. Hancock, S. Sohal, E. LeBlanc, P. Jayathilaka, O. Noriega, M. Holtz and T. Myers, presented at the Photovoltaic Specialist Conference (PVSC), 2015 IEEE 42nd, 2015 (unpublished).
- G. Burton, D. R. Diercks and B. P. Gorman, presented at the Photovoltaic Specialists Conference (PVSC), 2016 IEEE 43rd, 2016 (unpublished).

- 70. A. G. Baca and C. I. Ashby, Fabrication of GaAs devices. (IET, 2005).
- S. Sohal, M. Edirisooriya, O. Ogedengbe, J. Petersen, C. Swartz, E. LeBlanc, T. Myers, J. Li and M. Holtz, Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics 49 (50), 505104 (2016).
- C. J. Brinker and G. Cao, *Annual Review of Nano Research*. (World Scientific, 2008).
- A. J. Taylor, Optical techniques for solid-state materials characterization. (CRC Press, 2011).
- 74. C. S. Kumar, UV-VIS and photoluminescence spectroscopy for nanomaterials characterization. (Springer, 2013).
- J. A. Woollam, B. D. Johs, C. M. Herzinger, J. N. Hilfiker, R. A. Synowicki and C.L. Bungay, presented at the Optical Metrology, 1999 (unpublished).
- W. Lefebvre, F. Vurpillot and X. Sauvage, *Atom Probe Tomography: Put Theory Into Practice*. (Academic Press, 2016).
- M. A. Green, K. Emery, Y. Hishikawa, W. Warta and E. D. Dunlop, Progress in Photovoltaics: Research and Applications 24 (NREL/JA-5J00-65643) (2016).
- 78. , Vol. 2017.
- 79. J. Sites and J. Pan, Thin Solid Films **515** (15), 6099-6102 (2007).
- 80. M. J. DiNezza, Arizona State University, 2014.
- 81. T. Song, A. Kanevce and J. R. Sites.
- S. Seyedmohammadi, M. J. DiNezza, S. Liu, P. King, E. G. LeBlanc, X.-H. Zhao,
 C. Campbell, T. H. Myers, Y.-H. Zhang and R. J. Malik, Journal of Crystal Growth (2015).

- 83. E. G. LeBlanc, Texas State University, 2016.
- A. Owens and A. Peacock, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 531 (1), 18-37 (2004).
- M. A. Herman and H. Sitter, *Molecular beam epitaxy: fundamentals and current status*. (Springer Science & Business Media, 2012).
- R. Farrow, in *Molecular Beam Epitaxy and Heterostructures* (Springer, 1985), pp. 227-262.
- 87. R. Farrow, G. Jones, G. Williams and I. Young, Applied Physics Letters **39** (12), 954-956 (1981).
- G. Williams, C. Whitehouse, N. Chew, G. Blackmore and A. Cullis, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics Processing and Phenomena 3 (2), 704-708 (1985).
- S. Wood, J. Greggi Jr, R. Farrow, W. Takei, F. Shirland and A. Noreika, Journal of applied physics 55 (12), 4225-4231 (1984).
- W. Liu and M. Santos, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena 14 (2), 647-651 (1996).
- L. Hirsch, Z. Yu, S. Buczkowski, T. Myers and M. Richards-Babb, Journal of Electronic Materials 26 (6), 534-541 (1997).
- K.-K. Lee, K. Doyle, J. Chai, J. H. Dinan and T. H. Myers, Journal of electronic materials 41 (10), 2799-2809 (2012).
- 93. A. Arnoult and J. Cibert, Applied physics letters **66** (18), 2397-2399 (1995).

- 94. M. Herman, A. Kozhukhov and J. Sadowski, Journal of crystal growth 174 (1-4), 768-774 (1997).
- 95. T. Litz, T. Behr, D. Hommel, A. Waag and G. Landwehr, Journal of applied physics
 72 (8), 3492-3496 (1992).
- 96. A. Waag, T. Behr, T. Litz, B. Kuhn-Heinrich, D. Hommel and G. Landwehr, Materials Science and Engineering: B 16 (1-3), 103-107 (1993).
- 97. R. F. Farrow, *Molecular beam epitaxy: applications to key materials*. (Elsevier, 1995).
- 98. D. Zahn, W. Richter, T. Eickhoff, J. Geurts, T. Golding, J. Dinan, K. Mackey and
 R. Williams, Applied surface science 41, 497-503 (1990).
- 99. R. K. Ahrenkiel, Semiconductors and semimetals **39**, 39-150 (1993).
- 100. J. Matthews and A. Blakeslee, Journal of Crystal Growth 27, 118-125 (1974).
- 101. C. Fontaine, J. Gailliard, S. Magli, A. Million and J. Piaguet, Applied physics letters
 50 (14), 903-905 (1987).
- 102. C. Swartz, M. Edirisooriya, E. LeBlanc, O. Noriega, P. Jayathilaka, O. Ogedengbe,
 B. Hancock, M. Holtz, T. Myers and K. Zaunbrecher, Applied Physics Letters 105 (22), 222107 (2014).
- L. Hirsch, K. Ziemer, M. Richards-Babb, C. Stinespring, T. Myers and T. Colin, Journal of electronic materials 27 (6), 651-656 (1998).
- 104. R. Scheer and H.-W. Schock, *Chalcogenide photovoltaics: physics, technologies, and thin film devices.* (John Wiley & Sons, 2011).
- 105. D. W. Rice and N. Gregory, The Journal of Physical Chemistry 72 (10), 3361-3366 (1968).

- 106. C. H. Swartz, M. Edirisooriya, E. G. LeBlanc, O. C. Noriega, P. A. R. D. Jayathilaka, O. S. Ogedengbe, B. L. Hancock, M. Holtz, T. H. Myers and K. N. Zaunbrecher, Appl. Phys. Lett. 105 (22), 222107 (2014).
- 107. D. C. Look, (1989).
- R. N. Bicknell, N. C. Giles and J. F. Schetzina, Appl. Phys. Lett. 49 (17), 1095-1097 (1986).
- 109. S. Shibli, M. Tamargo, B. Skromme, S. Schwarz, C. Schwartz, R. Nahory and R. Martin, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics Processing and Phenomena 8 (2), 187-191 (1990).
- F. Turco-Sandroff, M. Brasil, R. Nahory, R. Martin, Y. Zhang and B. Skromme,Applied physics letters 59 (6), 688-690 (1991).
- J. Garcia, A. Barski, J. Contour and J. Massies, Applied physics letters 51 (8), 593-595 (1987).
- 112. S. A. Awadalla, K. G. Lynn, S.-H. Wei and C. Szeles, Physical Review B 70 (24), 245213 (2004).
- 113. Y. Marfaing, Journal of crystal growth **161** (1-4), 205-213 (1996).
- 114. M. Berding and A. Sher, Applied physics letters **74** (5), 685-687 (1999).
- 115. J. W. Garland and S. Sivananthan, in *Springer Handbook of Crystal Growth* (Springer, 2010), pp. 1069-1132.
- P. Wijewarnasuriya and S. Sivananthan, Applied physics letters 72 (14), 1694-1696 (1998).
- S. Sivananthan, P. Wijewarnasuriya, F. Aqariden, H. Vydyanath, M. Zandian, D.
 Edwall and J. Arias, Journal of Electronic Materials 26 (6), 621-624 (1997).

- R. W. Balluffi, S. Allen and W. C. Carter, *Kinetics of materials*. (John Wiley & Sons, 2005).
- H. Robinson, M. Berding, W. Hamilton, K. Kosai, T. DeLyon, W. Johnson and B. Walker, Journal of Electronic Materials 29 (6), 657-663 (2000).
- 120. K. N. Zaunbrecher, D. Kuciauskas, C. H. Swartz, P. Dippo, M. Edirisooriya, O. S. Ogedengbe, S. Sohal, B. L. Hancock, E. G. LeBlanc and P. A. Jayathilaka, Applied Physics Letters 109 (9), 091904 (2016).
- 121. A. Seweryn, T. Wojtowicz, G. Karczewski, A. Barcz and R. Jakieła, Thin solid films **367** (1), 220-222 (2000).
- 122. J. Crank, The mathematics of diffusion. (Oxford university press, 1979).
- 123. S. Murakami, T. Okamoto, K. Maruyama and H. Takigawa, Applied physics letters63 (7), 899-901 (1993).
- C. Maxey, C. Jones, N. Metcalfe, R. Catchpole, M. Houlton, A. White, N. Gordon and C. Elliott, Journal of Electronic Materials 25 (8), 1276-1285 (1996).
- 125. C. Maxey, J. Camplin, I. Guilfoy, J. Gardner, R. Lockett, C. Jones, P. Capper, M. Houlton and N. Gordon, Journal of Electronic Materials 32 (7), 656-660 (2003).
- 126. E. Watson and D. Shaw, Journal of Physics C: Solid State Physics 16 (3), 515 (1983).
- 127. X.-H. Zhao, S. Liu, Y. Zhao, C. M. Campbell, M. B. Lassise, Y.-S. Kuo and Y.-H.Zhang, IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics 6 (2), 552-556 (2016).
- 128. M. A. Green, K. Emery, Y. Hishikawa, W. Warta and E. D. Dunlop, Progress in photovoltaics: research and applications **23** (1), 1-9 (2015).
- 129. W. Shockley and H. J. Queisser, Journal of applied physics **32** (3), 510-519 (1961).

- 130. C. H. Henry, Journal of applied physics **51** (8), 4494-4500 (1980).
- M. J. DiNezza, X.-H. Zhao, S. Liu, A. P. Kirk and Y.-H. Zhang, Applied Physics Letters **103** (19), 193901 (2013).
- S. Liu, X.-H. Zhao, C. M. Campbell, M. B. Lassise, Y. Zhao and Y.-H. Zhang, Applied Physics Letters 107 (4), 041120 (2015).
- S. Liu, X.-H. Zhao, C. M. Campbell, M. B. Lassise, Y. Zhao and Y.-H. Zhang, presented at the Photovoltaic Specialist Conference (PVSC), 2015 IEEE 42nd, 2015 (unpublished).
- X.-H. Zhao, M. J. DiNezza, S. Liu, C. M. Campbell, Y. Zhao and Y.-H. Zhang, Applied Physics Letters 105 (25), 252101 (2014).